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ABOUT THE GROUP
BRAEE

ABOUT THE GROUP

TIBET WATER RESOURCES CO., LTD. (stock code: 1115) is a Chinese premium
drinking water company that upholds the mission of providing healthy, high-
quality, Tibetan-style products to the world. Since its establishment in 2007,
by virtue of Tibet's high-quality natural drinking water resources and Tibetan
cultural advantages, the Group is mainly engaged in the manufacture,
marketing and brand management of packaged drinking water and was listed
on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on 30 June 2011.
The “5100 £22°" prand under the Group is a well-known premium mineral
water brand in China. The water source located in the Nyaingentanglha
Plateau in Tibet at an altitude of 5,100 meters is the world’s cherished
compound-type mineral water source, not only recognized as China’s high-
quality mineral water source and but also China’s geographical indications
protection product(s), which have an extensive distribution network in
mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau. In the course of development,
the Group has further diversified its product portfolio and acquired the
business of premium Tibetan specialty beer in 2012. At present, a number
of well-received Tibetan specialty brands have been launched, namely
“Zhuoma Spring EIBFR", “Gesang Spring MBER", "Green Barley Beer
¢ and "Tibet Beer Sz ",

By adhering to the most stringent quality control, we provide the healthiest
specialty products with the best quality globally. With our origin in Tibet,
we reach out to the world and are committed to being a world-class
premium drinking water company.
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OUR BUSINESS PRINCIPLES

We are passionate about our customers, our people, our business and our
brands

We honour our commitments, and we value long-term relationships over
short-term gain

We value diversity, and we treat everyone with dignity, respect and equality
of opportunity

We are dedicated to serving the best quality drinking water to the world
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RODUCT PROFILE
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TIBET GLACIER MINERAL WATER CO., LTD.
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=ik || Rk

4 TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2022



-y

PRODUCT PROFI
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TIBET TIANDI GREEN BEVERAGE DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
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PREMIUM TIBET HIGHLAND BARLEY BEER
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“ZHUOMA SPRING”
NATURAL DRINKING WATER
TERR ) RAKAK

“GESANG SPRING”
NATURAL DRINKING WATER
MERR 1 RREKRAK
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NEEFR

THE BOARD OF THE COMPANY
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
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Mr. CHOW Wai Kit

Mr. CHENG Gwan Sing
(appointed on 25 May 2022)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. JIANG Xiaohong
Mr. XIE Kun
Mr. WEI Zheming
(appointed on 25 May 2022)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. ZHANG Chunlong (Chairman)
(appointed on 8 July 2022)
Mr. LO Wai Hung
Ms. LIN Ting
(appointed on 8 July 2022)

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Mr. WANG Dong

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. CHOW Wai Kit

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. CHOW Wai Kit
Mr. YAN Qingjiang

INDEPENDENT EXTERNAL AUDITOR

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

LEGAL ADVISOR - AS TO HONG KONG LAW
Sit, Fung, Kwong & Shum Solicitors
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LEGAL ADVISOR — AS TO CAYMAN ISLANDS LAW

Conyers Dill & Pearman

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONSULTANT

Kredito PR Consultancy Limited

Unit 303, 3/F., New East Ocean Centre,

No.9 Science Museum Road Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Phone: +852 2248 1188

Fax: +852 8148 8400

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF

BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit D, 23" Floor, United Centre
95 Queensway, Admiralty,
Hong Kong

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Union Registrars Limited

Suites 3301-04, 33/F.,

Two Chinachem Exchange Square
338 King's Road,

North Point, Hong Kong

Phone: +852 2849 3399

Fax: +852 2849 3319

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

WEBSITES TO ACCESS COMPANY INFORMATION*

http://www.twr1115.net
http://www.hkexnews.hk

STOCK CODE ON MAIN BOARD OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE
1115

* contents of the websites do not form part of this Annual Report
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Dear Shareholders,

The Board presents this Annual Report of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 for your review.

2022 is full of challenges for us. The on-going COVID-19 pandemic over
the past three years has significantly disrupted business activities and
supply chains across all industries around the world.

China, being the key region for our products, has been deeply affected
by this pandemic as well, with decreased willingness to spend, volatile
incomes and a slowdown in economic activities. The implementations of
the various lockdowns measures, especially those in Tibet region, have
posed a variety of challenges for the Group. For the 2022 annual results,
please refer to the financial information and analysis in this Annual Report.

DESPITE CHALLENGES, OPTIMISTIC ABOUT THE FUTURE BUSINESS

Despite these challenges, the Group remains optimistic about the future of
the business and remains confident in the ability of the Group to navigate
these uncertain times and emerge stronger in the coming years. Since
December 2022, Chinese government has gradually lifted various COVID-19
control restrictions and social and economic activities have been returning
to normal. While we expect it will still take some time for the Group's
business to return to the pre-pandemic levels, we remain positive on the
outlook. The Group is committed to expanding its existing customer base
through business development and cooperation opportunities. The Group
is currently undertaking cooperation discussion with some new potential
distributors of fast consumable goods. Thus, while maintaining its existing
customer base, the Group is exploring new distribution channels to sell our
products and expects to witness an increase in customer orders during the
year 2023. With the easing of the pandemic around the world, and the
adoption of new distribution channels, the Group is likely to record growth
in revenue for the year 2023 as compared with that for the year 2022.

In order to further replenish working capital and improve liquidity of the
Company, the Company has carried 2 fund raising exercises in July and
December 2022 respectively.
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS
BURR R

At the same time, the Company has strengthened the accounting and
analysis of the operating costs of all operating projects and actively sought
appropriate and reasonable room for cost control, so that the increase
of management expenses and operating expenses could be reasonably
controlled.

A NEW JOURNEY AHEAD

In the coming year, we will continue to follow the established strategic
plans and continue to enhance our brands, insist on being product-based
and pursue further opportunities in various markets and distribution
channels enhancement. We will vigorously promote our products and
other aspects to build business capabilities, grasp market opportunities
and propel business recovery. Meanwhile, we will continue to optimize
our organizational structure and strengthen our team capacity building.
We believe that with the solid foundation established in the past together
with an effective implementation of the above measures, we will steadily
enhance the Group's brand influence, increase competitiveness through
product differentiation and continue to provide services to consumers
pursuing high-quality products. We believe that with these continuous
efforts and commitment in striving for the best, we will strengthen our
business and create new breakthroughs in the post-epidemic era, while
maximizing our shareholders’ value.

30 March 2023
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS AND FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
BHRRBERIFUBHRE

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=+t—-HLEE

2022 2021 Change
= —T--F #3)
Revenue (RMB million) BAAREBETL) 312 456 131.6%
Operating (loss)/profit (RMB million) — #£%& (j&518),/FlE (84) 37 N/A
(ANREBET) TEA
Adjusted EBITDA*(RMB million) HEIEBNITE REHEA (35) 109 N/A
FE(AREBET) TEA
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners ADREEAEE(EE),/ (102) 47 N/A
of the Company (RMB million) FEAREBEET) TiE A
(restated)
Farnings per share FRAER (&&51)
— Basic and diluted (RMB cents) — HAR#EE(ARESD) (3.69) 1.87 N/A
TEA
Gross profit margin EME 29.1% 41.9% | 12.8% point
BN
( 4
As at 31 December
W+=A=+-H
2022 2021
—E--F —E-—fF
(RMB million) (RMB million) Change
(AE¥BEBR) (AR¥®BEET) b))
Total assets BEBE 4,140 4,149 10.2%
Equity attributable PAYNSIEZ 2SN L o
to owners of the Company 2,859 2,831 | 1.0%
* Adjusted EBITDA is not accounting measures under IFRSs which should be read in * TR AR BAHTE N 85 BT AR 3 FE IR B 7

WMEERA TR RENE - FHEM T 6(D)
—EHE -

conjunction with Note 6(b).
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS AND FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

PHRERTFHEHE

For the year ended 31 December

BET-A=t-HLEE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E--f %z CZFZ%F  ZE-nf  ZE-)\f
PROFITABILITY DATA (RMB million) BFEB(AREEEL)
Revenue WA 312 456 493 721 881
Gross profit = 91 191 215 404 480
Operating (loss)/profit e (ER)/ M (84) 37 81 133 342
(Loss)/profit for the year EE(BR)/ME (102) 47 17 (745) 318
PROFITABILITY DATA (%) BFIEE (%)
Gross profit margin TR 29.1% 41.9% 43.6% 56.0% 54.5%
Operating profit margin BERNBx N/A TR 8.2% 16.4% 18.4% 38.8%
Net profit margin FREE N/A RER 10.3% 34%  NATER 36.1%
Return on total shareholders' equity R s EREERE N/A TR 1.7% 06%  NATER 9.2%
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES DATA EERBEYE
(RMB million) (\REBET)
Non-current assets ¥nBEE 2,605 2,631 2,115 2,305 3,278
Current assets nBEE 1,535 1,518 2,037 1,958 1,635
Current liabilities nEaE 954 929 1,280 1,376 1177
Non-current liabilities ERBatE 327 389 150 184 276
Equity attributable to owners of AREHEEA
the Company FE{hHE 2,859 2,831 2,722 2,702 3,459
ASSETS AND WORKING EEHEELSHE
CAPITAL DATA
Current assets ratios MBEELE 37.1% 36.6% 49.1% 45.9% 33.3%
Gearing ratios EXBERE 21.1% 21.3% 25.1% 27.1% 25.1%
3T -

note:

The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2022, the Group continued to be committed to the development of
Tibet's water resources industry and beer industry, strived to enhance
customer experience and optimized channel construction so that Tibet's
unique and quality products could reach more consumers and potential
consumers.

In 2022, the third year of the ongoing spread of the COVID-19 pandemic,
the more infectious Omicron virus swept through Mainland China, with the
COVID-19 pandemic showing a trend of spread and frequent outbreaks,
and the Group’s business in key market channels such as airlines, hotels,
cinemas, restaurants and entertainment venues continued to face
challenges. In particular, since the outbreak of the pandemic in Tibet
in August, Lhasa had begun to implement static management and the
production and supply of the Group’s packaged drinking water and beer
products were suspended, which dealt a heavy blow to the Group's sales
business. Although the Group gradually resumed the supply of products
through closed-loop production in late November, the damage caused by
the pandemic to the Group’s production and operations was irreparable
and the Group's businesses in both the packaged drinking water and beer
segments failed to achieve the expected growth targets.

In 2022, the scale of the Group's bank financing in Tibet continued to
remain stable. In the face of the sudden impact of the pandemic, the
Group also actively utilized and leveraged the advantages of its overseas
financing platform as a listed company and successfully completed two
equity financings in 2022 and early 2023, providing strong support to
stabilize the Group’s business operations and effectively alleviating the
financial pressure brought about by the impact of the pandemic and gained
time and space for the Group's post-pandemic development planning.
The shareholders of the Company have demonstrated their recognition of
and confidence in the Group’s future development through their active
participation in financing activities and their actual investment. After three
years of severe testing by the pandemic, the management of the Group has
always believed that, with the return to the products as the cornerstone,
the enhancement of customer experience as the goal, the deep cultivation
of brand value as the guide, and the maximization of return for
shareholders as the core, the Group will be able to gather momentum and
plan for the future. With the release of the “New Ten Rules” in December
and the adjustment of the pandemic prevention and control policy, the
Group will be able to usher in new development opportunities.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

REVENUE ANALYSIS
In 2022, due to the reasons mentioned in the “Business Review” section
above, the total revenue of the Group amounted to RMB312 million,

representing a decrease of 31.6% in comparison with 2021.

The revenue generated from our water business segment was RMB66
million, representing a decrease of 55.6% in comparison with 2021. As
mentioned above, due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the

‘

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENRR AT

Bt Bl B
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RMEZR  AEEMNBUABAARE312
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important sales channels of the water business segment, the sales of water KEmNHEERE TR - ARHE
products have declined significantly, and gross profit has also dropped due ié]&%ﬁf*“ NIBHREN TR
to smaller scale of sales.
For the beer business segment, the year over year change is as follow: EREREBHEH - BB LT -
( 4
2022 2021 % change
—EZCZH —E-—fF % Bt &
Volume (hectoliter) #HE (B7) 364,717 422,217 1 13.6%
Revenue (RMB'000) BA (ARETT) 246,442 308,557 120.1%
Adjusted EBITDA* (RMB'000) HEER BT E R A A
(AR#FT) 93,037 142,420 134.7%
* Adjusted EBITDA is not an accounting measure under IFRSs which should be read * TR 1 BAHTE N 85 A AR 3 JEBIPR B 75

in conjunction with Note 6(b).

In 2022, the overall gross profit margin of the Group was 29.1%, which
decreased by 12.8 percentage points when compared to 2021. The gross
profit margin of the water business segment was 11.2%, which decreased
by 30.3 percentage points when compared to 2021. The gross profit
margin of the beer business segment was 33.9% in 2022, which decreased
by 8.1 percentage points when compared to 2021. The decrease in the
overall gross profit margin was mainly due to a higher fixed cost allocated
based on a smaller sales volume, as well as a decrease in the average

selling price.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBNRR A

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION COSTS AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

In 2022, the selling and distribution costs decreased by 44.3% to RMB30
million from RMB53 million in 2021, mainly due to the decrease in water
sales volumes, leading to lower transportation costs and promotion
fees. The overall decrease was also due to less amortisation expense of
intangible assets as a result of certain acquisition related intangible assets
for the beer segment having been fully amortised. The administrative
expenses increased by 3.6% from RMB72 million in 2021 to RMB75 million
in 2022, mainly due to the increase in headquarters related expenses.

ALLOWANCE FOR ECL ON FINANCIAL ASSETS

Allowance for ECL on financial assets mainly included the allowance for
ECL on trade receivables and other financial assets at amortised cost. The
allowance for ECL on trade receivables was RMB87 million in 2022 (2021:
RMB31 million). The increase was due to the slowdown in the collection of
receivables from customers that have been more affected by the COVID-19.
The allowance for ECL on other financial assets at amortised cost was
RMB2 million in 2022 (2021: RMB23 million).

OTHER GAINS, NET

In 2022, other gains, net was RMB18 million, which decreased by RMB8
million compared to last year. The decrease was mainly due to a decrease
of RMB8 million in government grants.

FINANCE INCOME, NET

In 2022, the Group incurred finance costs of approximately RMB38 million
and gained finance income of RMB35 million. Compared with 2021,
the finance costs increased by RMB2 million. It was mainly because the
Company started to recognise the interest expense of the Convertible
Bonds in March 2021, while in 2022, interest expense for twelve months
was recognised, resulting in an increase of RMB6 million compared to
2021, offset by the decrease in interest cost on bank borrowings and
interest cost on loan from third parties of RMB4 million. Finance income
decreased by RMB21 million, mainly due to the accrual at a higher annual
interest rate on other receivables from loan to third parties in 2021.
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SHARE OF RESULT ON INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD

In 2022, the share of loss on investments accounted for using the equity
RMB8,000). The
increase in share of loss was mainly due to the combined share of loss

method was RMB11 million (share of profit in 2021:

of associated companies, whose losses all increased due to lower sales
volumes for the similar reasons above for our water business segment.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

In 2022, the income tax expense was RMB5 million which decreased by
RMB6 million when compared to RMB11 million in 2021. This was mainly
due to the decrease in profit.

LOSS/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

For the reasons mentioned above, in 2022, the loss for the year was
RMB102 million compared to net profit of RMB47 million in 2021.

OTHER FINANCIAL POSITIONS

As at 31 December 2022, investments accounted for using the equity
method of the Group amounted to RMB1,444 million compared to
RMB1,416 million as at 31 December 2021. The increase was mainly due to
further expand the sales channels of the Group's water business, the Group
further acquired 18% equity interests in Tibet Life Water Marketing, at a
consideration of RMB54 million in December 2022. Prior to the acquisition,
the Group already held 20% equity interests in Tibet Life Water Marketing.
Upon completion of the acquisition, the Group held 38% equity interests
in Tibet Life Water Marketing, this was offset mainly by a share of loss on
investment accounted for using the equity method of RMB11 million.

As at 31 December 2022, inventories of the Group amounted to RMB107
million compared to RMB91 million as at 31 December 2021. The increase
was mainly attributable to an increase in raw materials inventories.
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As at 31 December 2022, net trade receivables of the Group amounted to
RMB190 million compared to RMB255 million as at 31 December 2021.
The decrease was mainly due to the increase in allowance for ECL of trade
receivables. The Group maintained regular contact with our major debtors
through meetings and telephone conversations and paid regular attention
to public information about our major debtors to understand the status of
their operations, their continuing business needs and the ways in which
the Group can improve its services. As at 31 December 2022, allowance for
ECL on trade receivables was RMB94 million.

As at 31 December 2022, prepayments (current portion) of the Group
amounted to RMB199 million compared to RMB130 million as at
31 December 2021.
prepayment for plant upgrade projects and purchasing raw materials.

The increase was mainly due to the increase in

As at 31 December 2022, other financial assets at amortised cost, net of
allowance for ECL of the Group amounted to RMB980 million compared
to RMB987 million as at 31 December 2021. As at 31 December 2022,
other financial assets at amortised cost mainly included the amounts due
from third parties amounting to RMB942 million and other receivables
amounting to RMB67 million. As at 31 December 2022, allowance for ECL
on other financial assets at amortised cost amounted to RMB29 million.

As at 31 December 2022, contract liabilities of the Group amounted to
RMB35 million compared to RMB55 million as at 31 December 2021.
The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in advances received from
customers of the sales of water and beer products.
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As at 31 December 2022, accruals and other payables of the Group
amounted to RMB181 million compared to RMB167 million as at 31
December 2021. As at 31 December 2022, accruals and other payables
mainly included salary payables and welfare payables amounting to RMB24
million, payables for value added tax and other taxes of RMB19 million,
amounts received from a third party amounting to RMB73 million and
other payables amounting to RMB65 million.

As at 31 December 2022, the bank borrowings of the Group decreased by
RMB33 million when compared to 2021, which was mainly because of the
net repayment of principal of bank borrowings in 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, the liability component of the Convertible
Bonds issued by the Company amounted to RMB309 million, compared to
RMB276 million as at 31 December 2021. In March 2021, the Company
issued the Convertible Bonds with principal amount of approximately
HKD380 million (equivalent to RMB318 million) bearing interest at the rate
of 5.0% per annum. Further details of the Convertible Bonds are set out in
Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements of this Annual Report.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2022, the total number of employees of the Group was
347 compared to 349 as at 31 December 2021. Relevant staff cost of the
Group was RMB64 million in 2022 and 2021.

The Group's remuneration policies are formulated according to the duty,
experience, ability and performance of individual employees and are
reviewed annually. In addition to basic salary, employees are entitled to
other benefits including social insurance contribution, employee provident
fund schemes and discretionary incentive. Other fringe benefits, training,
and share options, if applicable, are also considered by the Group to solicit/
retain loyal employees with the aim of forming a professional and united
staff and management team that can bring the Group to higher levels of
achievements.

‘

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENRR AT

T -H+-A=+—H AEEMNTE
ERAREMENRBARB1.81ET
MRZEZ—F+ZA=+—HAIBARK
1.67 TRZEBE-—F+-A=+—H"
BREAKHEMENZEIEBEEMME R
EﬂAE%LMm%ﬁ~ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁm
MEAARE 1,908 - #E=HKEIN
EAE%7%m§ﬁ&ﬁmﬁﬁ ABAR

Mamoaxo

i

iz

mw%m

=
e |\

RZBE-_—F+-_A=+—H ' £5EH
RITERE_E-_—FRLTHRTARE
33008 FERHR-T-__FHER
TEFE -

RZBE-—F+-A=+—H KAREMH%E

THABREESEESO BARE3.09E
T MR=F=—F+=-A=1t—RRBA
R¥%276(8L - BT -—F=F  ARQF

BIRGENAISORBETHENARE
3BT )M A RES  FEEK5.0% e
ARREFNESHRBEHINEERNGE
BB MR AIMIE34 A -

I
RZZE-Z—F+=-A=+—H AEEET
BY AN NZE_—F+_fA=+—
H%M9A E-Z-_—_FR-_T-—%F>
AEEBEBEEREAABARK 64008 -

\mn

AEENHFMBRERRESMLE THMEM
8B BB NAMERBRMBIER - WETFEE
o BRXNEAFTEI BT HZBHME
- BEtgRBER  EEARESFEM
W5 SRR - REBEIE BALMBIMEF -
ZHIRERE(ER)RE,  BREBE
B NEREXREENEIREEER
h REASERSERAS

AREKERARAT | FH 2022 19



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBNRR A

The Group provided diversified on-the-job training in the production
plants based on the needs of the respective positions and talents of the
employees on a timely basis. The Group also encouraged the management
staff to participate in continuous professional development trainings
which are relevant to their professions. Apart from induction training, the
Company provides updates to the Directors and senior management on
the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements from time to time, to ensure their compliance with
and to enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
These include attending in-house training, seminars, reading handouts,
newspapers, journals, the Group’s news, industry news, etc.

The Group provided diversified on-the-job training in the production
plants based on the needs of the respective positions and talents of the
employees on a timely basis. The Group also encouraged the management
staff to participate in continuous professional development trainings
which are relevant to their professions. Apart from induction training,
the Company provides updates to the Directors and senior management
on the latest development regarding the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock (the “Listing Rules”) and other applicable
regulatory requirements from time to time, to ensure their compliance with
and to enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
These include attending in-house training, seminars, reading handouts,
newspapers, journals, the Group's news, industry news, etc.

The Group adopted a share award scheme in 2017. Please refer to the
section headed “Share Award Scheme” on pages 65 to 67 of this Annual
Report for details.

The share option scheme adopted by the Company on 7 September 2012
expired on 7 September 2022. Please refer to the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” on pages 63 to 65 of this Annual Report for details.

20 TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2022

AEEREBEEENBUFTERERNLIEMR
FEBREZ TN ERIE - ARENE
BEBRARZMEREEXRMNFEEE
BREI - BRABLEIISN  ARRTAKAE
ENREREERBRHEAM EMRAREME
MEEERNEH ERIEN - UHERESE
FERBHREHRFEEERERNBE -
ELEREIBELMAEI - g
BIERE WA BT AREHE - 7%
HESF

AEEREBEEENBUZTELRERNLIER
FaEkRES M ERE - XEETE
BEEAE2NERSEXAPNFERE
BRE - BRABLEEISN  ARRTKAE
ELREREERBRHEABEBRAES LHH
BICTETRRA ) R EAMEREE B R
EREN  WRERRFETIRSRFER
HERERERNDE - ELAEBEIIER
SMAREY - e BIEREE - WA
T AEEHHE  TEHES -

AEERZT—EFHEMT —ERH BB
gl FREELHAFRFESE67 B[R
BhEtEl 4o

AARRZE——FNALBRARNERE
HEER-_Z-—FNALBEH - FEE
2HAFRE6IE 65 B BAEE & -



GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio is calculated as borrowings (including bank borrowings,
liability component of convertible bonds and borrowings from third parties)
divided by total capital. The total capital is calculated as “equity” as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position plus borrowings
(including bank borrowings, liability component of convertible bonds and
borrowings from third parties). As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December
2021, the gearing ratios of the Group were 21.12% and 21.29%,

respectively.

MERGER AND ACQUISITION

In 2022, the Group acquired 18% equity interests in Tibet Life Water
Marketing, a company incorporated in the PRC with other limited liability,
at a consideration of RMB54 million. Prior to the acquisition, the Group
already held 20% equity interests in Tibet Life Water Marketing. Upon
completion of the acquisition, the Group held 38% equity interests in Tibet
Life Water Marketing.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

In 2022, the Group acquired PP&E of RMB6 million (2021: RMB6 million).
Regarding the future development and outlook of the Group, please refer
to the section headed "“Outlook” in this “Management Discussion and
Analysis” section.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had committed to purchasing PP&E
of approximately RMB5 million (31 December 2021: RMB45 million), and
RMB16 million). The funding
sources related to these commitments are expected to be disbursed from

no equity investment (31 December 2021:

the Group's own capital.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBNRR A

CHARGES (OR PLEDGES)

As at 31 December 2022, (i) a bank loan with a remaining balance of
RMB100 million and bank acceptance note of RMB60 million of the Group
were secured by the pledge of 35% of equity interest in Tibet Tiandi Green
Beverage Development Co., Ltd. and 7% of equity interest in Highland
Natural Water Limited; (ii) a bank loan with a remaining balance of RMB98
million of the Group was secured by the pledge of 15% of Highland
Natural Water’s equity interests and by land use rights of a third party of
the Group; (i) a bank loan with a remaining balance of RMB82 million of
the Group was secured by land use rights of a third party of the Group;
(iv) a bank loan with a remaining balance of RMB100 million of the Group
was secured by the pledge of 20% of equity interest in Tibet Shannan
Yalaxiangbu Industrial Ltd.; and (v) a bank loan with a remaining balance
of RMB72 million of the Group was secured by the Group's factory plant
with net book value of RMB53 million and land use rights with net book
value of RMB25 million.

As at 31 December 2022, the bank acceptance notes amounting to
RMB179 million were guaranteed by bank deposits of RMB19 million.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group provided financial guarantee net amounted to RMB265 million
to an associate as at 31 December 2022. As at 31 December 2022, the
guarantee was provided for bank borrowings obtained by the associate
in the net amount of RMB135 million and for bank acceptance note in
the net amount of RMB130 million. The period of the guarantee for net
amount of RMB160 million is from 13 October 2022 to 13 October 2023.
The period of the remaining guarantee amounting to RMB105 million is
from 15 July 2021 to 15 July 2024.

22 TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2022

K(E)#

RIZE-—F+-A=+—H" () AEEH
—EHREBAARE .00 ETHIEITERFMA
R # 6,000 8 TR 174 B EDAFRE K i
HBERREREB AT 35%RAERNS
JRRARKT% OERIELR : (D AEEM—
EHRTAARKEI0ETHETETIUR
JRRAKI5% OERRAEEH—EE=F
BT EREELR (i AEEH—E8
BRARKES200B THRITEFNAEE
H—EE=FHTHMERAEEER: (v&
SEMN—Z2HEAARE1.00EBTHIERITE
BRI LEERNENEEAR AR 20% H)
BEEER: RVEAEEN—ZREAAR
#7200 8 THIRITEFIAREBEEFE
BARY5,300 8 TH TR E A K EREF
BEAARE 2,500 8 TR L {E AREIERA o

RZZE-——F+=-A=+—08  AE¥1.79
BTHRITALAEZURTERARKE
1,900 & TTIEHELR o

RAREE

MWZE-—F+-A=+—H AEEmH—
R E AR IRENBERFEARK2.65
Bre-M—E-_—F+=-fA=+—RH ZE
REABMEARMEBHNRITEIFEARE
135 R RBITALERFEARK 13018
TRt o FEARE 160 B TMERDR
B-E-_—F+A+=ZHE-_T-_=F1+A
+=H - FBBHARE1.05ETHERSR
RA-E-—F+A+HEHE-_ZT_NFt
A+AAB-



FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group adopts a conservative approach to cash management and risk
control. The Group mainly operates in the PRC with most of its business
transactions denominated in RMB. However, the Group is exposed to
foreign exchange risk arising from its cash exchange transactions, which
are primarily denominated in HKD. To mitigate the impact of exchange
rate fluctuations, the Group continually assesses and monitors its exposure
to foreign exchange risk. During 2022, management of the Group did not
consider it necessary to enter into any hedging transactions in order to
reduce the exposure to foreign exchange risk because the exposure, after
netting off the assets and liabilities subject to foreign exchange risk, was
not significant.

PRODUCTION CAPACITY

In 2022, the annual water production capacity and annual beer production
capacity are approximately 300,000 tonnes and 2,000,000 hectoliter
respectively, same as in 2021. The Group will assess its production capacity
periodically and consider increasing production capacity to meet the
demands of future development.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has adopted internal control measures to monitor the
continuous compliance with relevant laws and regulations such as the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the SFO, the Listing Rules and other rules
and regulations implemented in relevant jurisdictions. Also, as the Group's
major subsidiaries are located in the PRC, relevant regulatory requirements
on the Group include PRC government policies and regulations towards
the mineral water industry, PRC laws and regulations on environmental
protection, PRC laws on reqgulation of manufacture and sales of general
food products, PRC taxes, regulation of foreign currency exchange and
dividend distribution, and other relevant PRC laws and regulations. During
the financial year ended 31 December 2022, as far as the Board is aware,
the Group has complied in all material respects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and operation
of the Group. The Group continues its commitment to comply with the
relevant laws and regulations.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBNRR A

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

In order to maintain the quality and safety of our products, we have
established a “water protection zone” of 60 square kilometers around
our water source. No human activities are allowed in the most restricted
zone and the spring source has been secured in a fully enclosed facility to
prevent any potential contamination.

Our production facility generates and/or discharges wastes including waste
water, plastics, papers or air pollutants during the production activities.
We consider the protection of the environment to be of utmost importance
and have implemented procedures for waste storage, handling and/or
disposal. The Group aims to minimise the impact of our activities on the
environment and requires our staff to follow the same principle. We adhere
to the principles of low carbon emission, waste and emission reduction,
energy and cost saving and an overall environmentally friendly approach in
the way we operate.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Board believes in being people-oriented. The employees of the Group
are one of the most important assets of the Group and their contribution
and support are highly valued. The Group ensures staff are reasonably
remunerated with regular reviews on compensations and benefits policies
in accordance with the industry benchmark as well as the individual
performance of the employees. Other fringe benefits, training, employee
provident fund and share options, if applicable, are provided by the Group
to solicit/retain loyal employees with the aim of forming a professional and
united staff and management team that can bring the Group to higher
levels of achievements.

The Group seeks to maintain good relationship with its customers. The
Group maintains an after-sales call center to serve the end customers of
our products, and the sales personnel make regular visits and/or phone
calls to the regular distributors and sales outlets in the market. If there is
any complaint from customers, it will be reported to the management and
immediate remedial action will be taken. Thereafter, the cause of such
complaint will be studied, analysed and evaluated, and recommendations
will be made for future improvement.
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The Group also seeks to maintain good relationship with its suppliers.
During the year, there was no dispute in debts or unsettled debts. In
addition, whenever the Group places orders, our suppliers are willing to
accept our orders.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Board is aware that the Group is exposed to various risks, including
some which are specific to the Group or the industry in which the Group
operates as well as others that are common to most businesses. The
Board has established a procedure to ensure that significant risks which
may adversely affect the Group’s performance and ability to deliver on its
strategies, as well as those which may present positive opportunities, are
identified, reported, monitored and managed on a continuous basis.

1. Risks relating to our industry

The Group could be affected by change in consumer preferences,
perception and spending patterns relating to bottled water and beer,
particularly premium bottled water and premium beer. The growth in
demand for bottled water products and beer products in the PRC has
been driven in part by the overall growth in the PRC economy and
disposable income of consumers. Any macroeconomic changes in the
PRC that adversely impact consumer consumption for the beverage
products could have a material adverse effect on our business and a
decline in the market share of our products.

The Group faces increasing competition from domestic and foreign
companies, which may affect our market share and profit margin. The
bottled water and beer industry in China is highly competitive, and
we expect competition to intensify. Our ability to compete is, to a
significant extent, dependent on our ability to distinguish our product
from those of our competitors by providing higher quality products
and services at reasonable prices that appeal to consumers’ tastes
and preferences. Some of our competitors may have longer operating
histories, may have substantially greater financial and other resources
and may be better established in certain markets.
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2. Risks relating to our Business

26

Our reliance on limited water source represents a risk to our business
if the mineral content and quality of the spring water from that
source are adversely affected due to changes in the surrounding
geological environment or contamination of the water source. In
order to maintain the quality and safety of our products, we have
established a “water protection zone” of 60 square kilometers
around our water source and also adhere to a strict quality control
system over all our operations.

As a premium products provider, we rely heavily on the product’s
brand names and our reputation to generate sales. Any event that
generates negative publicity for us could have an adverse effect on
the product’s brand names and our reputation, which in turn would
affect our ability to market and sell our products.

Our water products are bottled at water sources in Tibet, and our
beer products are also manufactured in Tibet. Our business may
be interrupted or otherwise affected if relevant transportation is
affected, and thus resulting in negative impact on our ability to
transport adequate raw materials to our production facilities and the
transportation of our products from Tibet.

Financial risks

The Group's activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including currency risk, cash flow and fair value interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the
Group's financial performance. Details are set out in Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS OF PLACING OF NEW SHARES

On 21 July 2022, the Company completed the placing of new shares
under general mandate. A total of 459,898,000 placing shares have
been successfully placed to not less than six placees at the placing price
of HKDO0.425 per placing share with net proceeds of approximately
HKD194 million for repayment of the external debts of the Group and for
general working capital of the Group. Further details were set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 24 June 2022 and 21 July 2022
respectively. As at 31 December 2022, the net proceeds from the placing
of new shares had been fully utilised.

FINAL DIVIDEND
No dividend has been declared by the Company in respect of 2022 (2021:

nil).

OUTLOOK

Water Business Segment

The Group will adhere to the “5100" high-end mineral water brand
as the core, increase its investment in and construction of the “5100"
brand, leverage on the advantages of the “5100" brand, seize the golden
opportunities of the rebound of the tourism and entertainment industries
and the rebound of consumer demand after the pandemic both at
home and abroad, concentrate its advantageous resources, deepen and
strengthen cooperation with domestic and international hotel brands,
airlines and cinemas, optimize the supply chain, jointly provide consumers
with quality products and services, and continue to enhance the image and
influence of the “5100" brand.

While steadily improving the performance of our e-commerce channels,
the Group will continue to actively seek and establish more strategic
partnerships in the community and household consumer sectors to
strengthen the construction of the private sector channels, so that
consumers can enjoy our products and services more conveniently and
quickly and Good Tibetan Water can reach more consumers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBNRR A

The Group will continue to invest resources to consolidate and strengthen
its strategic position in the Tibetan water industry, join hands with Sinopec
and PetroChina, leverage on the brand influence and strong sales network
of EASY JOY (5%) and uSmile Convenience Store (E® I EEF|E), and
increase its investment in the development of sales channels and marketing
campaigns to jointly enhance the market influence of “Good Tibetan
Water”.

Beer Business Segment

The Group will leverage on the geographical and cultural advantages of
local brands in Tibetan areas to focus on and strengthen the sales and
promotion of beer products in Tibet. While doing a solid job of selling
in the major cities in the Tibetan region, we will also go deeper into the
Tibetan region to establish sales sites and consolidate and enhance the
market share of the Group’s beer products in Tibet.

As the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic subsides, the Group will invest
significant resources to seize the opportunity of the resumption of tourism
growth in Tibet, combine Tibetan specialty culture and product experience,
and make active use of social media and internet resources to enable more
consumers to experience Tibetan specialty products while understanding
Tibetan culture. The Group will also step up its efforts in the research and
development of Tibetan specialty beer products related to and beyond
barley beer to actively adapt to the new consumer trends and demands
in the beer market. While sharing the advantageous channel resources
of the water segment, the Group will also boost the development and
construction of channels around Tibet and join hands with water segment
products to bring consumers a quality experience of Tibetan specialty
products.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Please refer to Note 46 to the consolidated financial statements of this
Annual Report for the events after the Reporting Period.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Mr. YAN Qingjiang, aged 53, is an executive Director and the authorised
representative of the Company and was appointed to the Board on 27
May 2020. He is the chairman of the Risk Management Committee and a
member of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee.
Mr. Yan also serves as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
He was a director of Tibet Galaxy Science & Technology Development Co.,
Ltd.* (FABERATRRERERMHBERAR), a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (stock code:000752.5Z) from March 2002 to September
2017, during which he was the chairman of the board of directors from
March 2002 to June 2017.

Mr. CHOW Wai Kit, aged 55, is an executive Director, the company
secretary and authorised representative of the Company and was appointed
to the Board with effect from 1 January 2022. He joined the Group in
February 2011. Mr. Chow also serves as a director and company secretary
of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Chow accumulated extensive experience in corporate management,
corporate finance, financial management and accounting. Mr. Chow
began his career in the auditing profession and worked at Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu in Hong Kong from 1990 to 2000. After that, Mr. Chow was a
key financial officer of various listed companies for over seven years. From
2000 to 2002, Mr. Chow was registered with the Securities and Futures
Commission as an investment representative. From 2001 to 2002, he was
the qualified accountant and company secretary of International Capital
Network Holdings Limited (stock code: 8004). From 2003 to 2004, he was
the deputy general manager of Oriental Investment Corporation Limited
(stock code: 735, subsequently renamed as China Power New Energy
Development Company Limited). From 2005 to 2007, he was the qualified
accountant of Guangzhou Investment Company Limited (stock code: 123,
subsequently renamed as Yuexiu Property Company Limited). Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Chow was the project manager of Top Ease (H.K.)
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sociedade de Turismo e Diversdes de
Macau, S.A., from 2008 to 2011.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chow is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. He
is also a fellow of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and
The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators). Mr. Chow obtained a master
degree in finance from the Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology
University in 1999 and a professional diploma in company secretaryship
and administration from the Hong Kong Polytechnic in 1990.

Mr. CHENG Gwan Sing (former name: CHENG Henry Ming Chun), aged
46, is an executive Director and was appointed to the Board on 25 May
2022. He is responsible for overseeing the business development and
merger and acquisition affairs, and legal and compliance of the Group.
Mr. CHENG has extensive experience in the areas of e-commerce, real
estate, consumer goods, investments, corporate finance and merger and
acquisition transactions and legal and compliance. Mr. CHENG was a
senior legal counsel in Alibaba Inc responsible for the legal and compliance
aspects of AliExpress, the international e-commerce platform of Alibaba.
He was also a corporate finance partner of two leading international law
firms, Kirkland & Ellis and DLA Piper. He accumulated extensive experience
advising on initial public offerings, corporate restructuring and mergers
and acquisitions to various parties during his time as a corporate finance
partner in these international law firms since 2013. Mr. CHENG holds a
Bachelor of Engineering degree in Mechanical Engineering and a Bachelor
of Commerce degree from The University of Western Australia. He holds a
Postgraduate Diploma in Law from The College of Law, England and Wales
and a Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from The University of Hong Kong.
He was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong.

Non-Executive Directors

Ms. JIANG Xiaohong, aged 65, is a non-executive Director and was
appointed to the Board on 1 March 2011.
representative of our major subsidiary company, Tibet Glacier Mineral
Water Co. Ltd.,
equipment and production site management. She has over 31 years of

Ms. Jiang is also the legal
and is responsible for the operation, quality control,

experience in operational management. She graduated from Xinjiang
Vocational University (3188 T K&) with a diploma in Economic
Management, then from Jiangnan University (TEIAZ) (formerly known as
Wuxi University of Light Industry (% #5&8 T X&) with a diploma of Brewery
Engineering, and from Xinjiang University (¥738A2) with a diploma of
Analytical Chemistry.
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Mr. XIE Kun, aged 44, is a non-executive Director and was appointed
to the Board with effect from 1 January 2022. He obtained a bachelor’s
degree in economics from Chongqing College of Commerce* (EEHE
B%) (currently known as Chongging Technology and Business University) in
2000, and a master's degree in law from East China College of Political
Science and Law* (ZERBUAZR) (currently known as East China University
of Political Science and Law) in 2003.

Mr. Xie has served as the general manager of the legal and risk control
department of Shenwan Hongyuan Group Co., Ltd. (stock code:
6806) since March 2020, and the general manager of the investment
management department of that company since May 2020. He has served
as a director of Xinjiang Tianshan Industrial Investment Fund Management
Co., Ltd.* (HEBERILEXKREESEEBR2AA) (which has an interest
in the shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance), since
June 2020, and a director of Hongyuan Huifu Capital Co., Ltd.* (Z/REE
BRI XX E AR A since July 2020. Prior to this, Mr. Xie worked in the
legal affairs department of the Shanghai management headquarter of
Hengtai Securities Limited* (lEZ#EHFBREMAA) from January 2004
to May 2007. He had served at different positions ranging from senior
manager of the risk management department, senior manager of the
legal and compliance department, assistant to general manager of legal
and compliance headquarter to deputy general manager of the legal and
(EREFRNE
f? 2 |]) from May 2007 to May 2015. He had also served as an employee

compliance department of Hongyuan Securities Co., Ltd.*

representative supervisor of Shenwan Hongyuan Group Co., Ltd. from May
2015 to May 2021, and the general manager of the legal and risk control
department of that company from May 2015 to February 2017. He had
served as the deputy director (headquarter general manager level) of the
compliance and risk management center cum general manager of the legal
and compliance headquarter, and the general manager of the internal
review and appraisal headquarter cum manager of the review and appraisal
department of Shenwan Hongyuan Securities Co., Ltd.* (FEBZRESAR
2 a]) from February 2017 to March 2020.

32 TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2022

AERSA 4458 FFMITEE  N-FZ
F-A—BAMAESEE - TR -_FTZTTHFHE
EERER(AREEIRAR)BRES
S8 YR -_FE=FEERWESMR
(RBERBEAR)BSEEBR LML -

HAEEB T TFE-AEARELREE
k@ﬁ@@?ﬂﬂfﬂ?6%@iﬁﬂ%
BEgR YVE-T-TFRAFREEZD
REBEIHNELE - KR qfqiﬂﬂr
EHERNUEXREECERERAR(Z
”ﬁ%ﬁ$”ﬂ%ﬁ¢%%é~ﬁ%%@é
BEB(EHRBEHEAN)EXVEHARAA
E%@E% TE= T:Eitﬂ%&tﬁ
BRIEREBEBRARES o IbAl - WEAE
“ngjmi AEZT+FRANE
‘=%ﬁﬁ5‘<$& A EBERAIEEER
T -R-EZ+FRAZ-_Z—AFHA
H%ﬁ BEEBETRRESFROHERA
7HREE$ WSIR - ERAERDBRE
B RRA BB ACIENIE RERARE
J@%ﬁo%%iﬁ“m:%—ﬁiﬂﬂi
TR -FRAEERERREERNER
RABIES  IR-_FT—RAFRAE=-Z
—tFZAERZRREBRIE AL o
RZE—+tF-_AE-"ZT-_TF=-AHH"
BELRETRERRESERARARE
RREERLEEE(BHBLBR)FERE
EHBBEEE  RAKTEEPELETR
TP o



‘

PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. WEI Zheming, aged 40, is a non-executive Director and was appointed
to the Board on 25 May 2022. He was a non-executive Director from 31
December 2019 to 30 June 2020. He graduated with a bachelor degree in
law at Xinjiang University (758 X2) in 2005 and obtained a master degree
in business administration at Xinjiang University of Finance & Economics (¥7
JEETAEAE) in 2013. He passed the National Judicial Examination in 2009
in the PRC and was qualified as a secretary of board of directors in May
2009, an independent director in October 2017 and a fund practitioner
in October 2018 in the PRC. Mr. WEI was the deputy general manager
and the secretary of the board of directors of Xinjiang Tianshan Wool
Textile Co., Ltd.* FTEERILEHEBMDERAF]) (now known as Dezhan
Healthcare Company Limited (R AEERMBRAF) (stock code:
000813.52)), a director of Xinjiang Zhilian Qushi Information Technology
Co., Ltd.* FrBEMBLEEREERAF) and a director of Xinjiang
Investment and Construction Group Co., Ltd.* (HEXFHIBRERRE
B AR AR]). Currently, Mr. WEI is the director of Dezhan Healthcare
Company Limited (BEAXEERMHBEMRAF]) (stock code: 000813.52), the
deputy general manager of Xinjiang Financial Investment Co., Ltd.* (375
SR EBRAF]), the deputy general manager and investment director of
Xinjiang Kaidi Investment Co., Ltd.* (¥rsZgl#it EBREE A A)), a director
of Xinjiang Kaidi Mining Investment Co., Ltd.* (Fi@slRBERERMD AR
/X8]), a director of Huarong International Trust Co., Ltd* (ZEREIEF{ETE
BREMZAF]) and the chairman and general manager of Xinjiang Tianshan
Industrial Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd.* (T8 KIULEZKREES
EI2AME A7) (which has an interest in the shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance).

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Dr. ZHANG Chunlong, aged 59, is an independent non-executive Director,
the chairman of the Board, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and a member of each of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee
and was appointed to the Board with effect from 8 July 2022.
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He obtained a bachelor's degree in mechanical engineering from Dalian
University in 1986, a master's degree in business administration from
Hong Kong Baptist University in 2002 and a doctoral degree in enterprise
management from Dalian University of Technology in 2017. Dr. Zhang
successively worked in the Dalian representative office of Standard
Chartered Bank, China Railway Construction Investment Company* (F
BpREERRE DA and CITIC Shenzhen (Group) Company* ({2 /RIII(%E
E)A7R]) and has held various senior management positions, with more
than 35 years of working experience in financial institution and state-
owned enterprise. Dr. Zhang is also a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Bankers and a Certified Credit Risk Management Professional (Credit
Portfolio Management) (CCRP(CPM)) registered with the Hong Kong
Institute of Bankers.

Mr. LO Wai Hung, aged 63, joined the Group and was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 28 September 2021. He
is the chairman of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee
and a member of the Remuneration Committee and Risk Management
Committee. He obtained a bachelor's degree in Commerce from James
Cook University of North Queensland, Australia in 1985. Mr. Lo is a
member of Chartered Accountants in Australia and New Zealand and a
fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Lo has over 25 years of experience in auditing, finance and management.

Mr. Lo is an independent non-executive director of Talent Property Group
Limited (stock code: 760), and China New Town Development Company
Limited (stock code: 1278), a non-executive director of SY Holdings
Group Limited (formerly known as Sheng Ye Capital Limited) (stock code:
6069), and also an independent non-executive director of Shandong
Weigao Group Medical Polymer Company Ltd (stock code: 1066) and C
Cheng Holdings Limited (stock code: 1486) from 10 August 2009 to 6
June 2022 and from 5 December 2013 to 3 April 2023 respectively. All
the aforementioned companies are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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Ms. LIN Ting, aged 53, is an independent non-executive Director and
a member of each of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee,
Remuneration Committee and the Risk Management Committee and was
appointed to the Board with effect from 8 July 2022.

She obtained a bachelor’s degree in industrial enterprise management from
Shanghai University of Engineering Science in 1992 and a master’s degree
in technology management in information technology from The Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology in 2004. Ms. Lin was qualified as a
project management professional by the Project Management Institute in
2014 and was awarded the qualification certificate of board secretary by
the Shanghai Stock Exchange in 2017.

From March 2009 to April 2013, Ms. Lin successively served as the deputy
general manager of the business development department and the general
manager of the information department of China Cargo Airlines Co., Ltd.,
and the general manager of the information department of Eastern Air
Logistics Co., Ltd. (a company now listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 601156.SH)). From April 2013 to January 2015, she was
the general manager of logistics product department of the information
solutions department of China Eastern Airlines Co., Ltd. (whose H shares
(stock code: 670), A shares (stock code: 600115.SH) and American
depositary shares (stock code: CEA) are listed on the Stock Exchange, the
Shanghai Stock Exchange and the New York Stock Exchange respectively).
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Ms. Lin was an independent non-executive director of Hang Tai Yue
Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as China Mobile Games and
Cultural Investment Limited and Interactive Entertainment China Cultural
Technology Investments Limited) (a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8081)) from December 2015 to June 2016 and a
director of Shanghai Changxin Technology Corp., Ltd. (a company whose
shares are quoted on the National Equities Exchange and Quotations (stock
code: 430611)) from March to August 2017. She has been an executive
director of Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited (a company listed
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8018)) since June 2016 and
an independent non-executive director of UJU Holding Limited (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1948)) since
October 2021. Ms. Lin was a director of Shanghai Yuefu Investment
Management Consulting Co., Ltd.* (EBNEKREEEZRABRQF),
a company incorporated in the People’s Republic of China which was
engaged in the provision of investment management consultancy services,
prior to its deregistration on 7 February 2021.

Chief Executive Officer

Mr. WANG Dong, aged 57, was appointed as executive Director on 29 May
2017 and further appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company
on 18 August 2017. He retired as an executive Director on 30 June 2020.
Mr. Wang graduated with a bachelor of laws degree at Xinjiang University.
He obtained a master degree in engineering at Wuhan University and an
EMBA degree at the South China University of Technology.

Mr. Wang is qualified as a lawyer of the PRC since 1989, a senior
economist of the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China since 2001 and
a practitioner of the Asset Management Association of China since 2016.
He also received the "Qualification as an independent director of listed
companies” from the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in 2016.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

From 1987 to 2012, Mr. Wang worked in the provincial branch office as
well as the case management department of the headquarters and the
regional branch office of Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited.
During the aforesaid period, he served as the department head of the case
management department of the headquarters, general manager of the
legal affairs department of the provincial branch office, general manager of
the risk management department of the provincial branch office, general
manager of the regional branch office, as well as the president of the
regional urban finance society and regional banking industry association.
In August 2012, Mr. Wang served as the head of the legal compliance
department at the headquarters of Guangdong Nanyue Bank and a
member of the law committee of the Banking Association of Guangdong.
From September 2016 to August 2018, Mr. Wang was the director and
chief executive officer of Xinjiang Tianshan Industrial Investment Fund
Management Co., Ltd..

So far as the Company is aware, none of the Directors and the chief
executive officer of the Company has any relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship) with each other.

CHANGES OF DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION UNDER RULE 13.51B(1) OF
THE LISTING RULES

The changes of directors’ information required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules since the date of the interim report of
the Company for the six months ended 30 June 2022 are set out below:

(@) Pursuant to a supplemental letter entered into between Mr.
YAN Qingjiang, an executive Director, and the Company, Mr.
Yan's director’s salary has been increased to HK$1,650,000 per
annum (exclusive of the additional fee of the chairman of the Risk
Management Committee of HK$20,000 per annum) with effect from
1 January 2022.

(b) Mr. LO Wai Hung, an independent non-executive Director, resigned
as an independent non-executive director of C Cheng Holdings
Limited (stock code:1468) with effect from 3 April 2023.

Save as disclosed above or elsewhere in this report, there is no other
information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board now presents this Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s
annual report for the year under review.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is firmly committed to achieving and maintaining high standards
of corporate governance practices to enhance shareholders’ value and
safeguard shareholders’ interests. Accordingly, the Board has considered
carefully the requirements of the CG Code and as described below, has
taken actions to further enhance corporate transparency and accountability.

The Board believes good corporate governance is one of the critical factors
for achieving sustainable long-term success. The corporate governance
principles of the Company emphasize on the importance of a quality Board
and its accountability to the Shareholders. The Board regularly reviews the
corporate governance practices to ensure compliance with the principles
and code provisions as set out from time to time in the CG Code and strive
to maintain the long-term healthy development of the Company.

For the year 2022, the Company has complied with the CG Code, save for
following deviations.

Under Code Provision C.1.6 of the CG Code, independent non-executive
directors and other non-executive directors should attend general meetings
to gain and develop a balanced understanding of the views of shareholders.
Mr. TANG Zeping, a then independent non-executive Director, did not
attend the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 25
May 2022 and the annual general meeting of the Company held on 30
June 2022 in light of his retirement as mentioned in the announcements
of the Company dated 23 June 2022 and 24 June 2022 respectively. Mr.
DAl Yang, a then independent non-executive Director, did not attend the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 30 June 2022 in light of
his retirement. Ms. JIANG Xiaohong, a non-executive Director, was unable
to attend the annual general meeting held on 30 June 2022 as she was
obliged to be away for the Group’s other matters.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Board leads and supervises the overall direction and development
of the Group’s business and affairs, with the objective of enhancing
Shareholders’ value including making and approving the Company's
strategic implementation, considering substantial investments, reviewing
the Group’s financial performance and developing and reviewing the
Group's policies and practices on corporate governance. The Directors
are responsible for, and has also delegated to the chief executive officer
the authority and responsibility to oversee the day-to-day management
and operation of the Group. In addition, the Board has established four
Board committees and has delegated to these Board committees various
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of references.

Board Composition and Diversity

The Board currently comprises of nine Directors, comprising three executive
Directors, three non-executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors. The Board is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising the Group’s affairs.
The Board has a balance of appropriate skill, experience and diversity of
perspectives to meet the requirements of the Group’s business.

Executive Directors HITES Non-executive Directors F#ITESE
Mr. YAN Qingjiang BETI%E4E  Ms. JIANG Xiachong — EEII &+
Mr. CHOW Wai Kit FEEELE  Mr. XIE Kun B E

Mr. CHENG Gwan Sing #R5%4%  Mr. WEI Zheming BEOAELE
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There are four Board committees in the Company. The table below provides
the current constituents of each of the committees.

Audit

Committee

ENZEE

Mr. YAN Qingjiang EEILE —
(executive Director) (M1TESR)

Dr. ZHANG Chunlong (independent RERBL Member

non-executive Director) (BUERITER) 28

Mr. LO Wai Hung (independent BEERE Chairman

non-executive Director) (BUFRITES) &

Ms. LIN Ting MELT Member

(independent non-executive Director) (BUFRITES) €8

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERHE

AREEEERIMNMEEES - TREHS
EEgNElREELZE P MEENE
fif °
Risk
Nomination Remuneration  Management
Committee Committee Committee
REZES FHZEEE EREEZES
Member Member Chairman
€8 28 £
Member Chairman =
€8 *E
Chairman Member Member
£ 28 28
Member Member Member
€8 28 25

The list of Directors and their role and function is available at the
Company's and the Stock Exchange's websites. Their profiles are set out in
the section headed “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” which is
on pages 29 to 37 of this Annual Report.

The Company currently has nine Directors, of which three are independent
non-executive Directors, in compliance with the requirements under Rule
3.10A of the Listing Rules.

The Company has in place effective mechanisms that underpin an
independent Board and independent views. The current composition of the
Board comprises one third of the independent non-executive Directors. The
Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee
are chaired by independent non-executive Directors. The remuneration
of independent non-executive Directors are subject to a regular review
to maintain competitiveness and commensurate with, including but not
limited to, their expertise, experience, responsibilities and workload. The
independence of each independent non-executive Director is assessed upon

his/her appointment and annually.
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Following the retirement of Mr. TANG Zeping and Mr. DAl Yang as
independent non-executive Directors upon the conclusion of annual
general meeting held on 30 June 2022, (i) the number of independent
non-executive Directors had fallen below the minimum number required
under Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules and one-third of the Board as
required under Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules; (ii) the number of members
of the Audit Committee had fallen below the minimum number required
under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules; (iii) the office of the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee as required under Rule 3.25 of the Listing
Rules had become vacant; and (iv) the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee no longer comprised a majority of independent
non-executive Directors as required under Rules 3.25 and 3.27A of the
Listing Rules respectively. Following the appointment of Dr. ZHANG
Chunlong and Ms. LIN Ting as independent non-executive Directors and
changes in composition of Board committees on 8 July 2022, the Company
has re-complied with the abovementioned requirements in that: (i) the
Board includes three independent non-executive Directors in compliance
with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules and the independent non-executive
Directors represent one-third of the Board in compliance with Rule 3.10A
of the Listing Rules; (i) the Audit Committee comprises three members
in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules; (iii) the Remuneration
Committee is chaired by an independent non-executive Director in
compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules; and (iv) the Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee comprise a majority of independent
non-executive Directors in compliance with Rules 3.25 and 3.27A of the
Listing Rules respectively.

The Board adopted a Board Diversity Policy in 2013 which sets out the
approach to diversify the Board. Under the said Policy, the Nomination
Committee reviews and assesses Board composition on behalf of the Board
and recommends the appointment of a new Director when necessary. In
suggesting the Board’s composition, the Nomination Committee considers
a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The Nomination Committee will also
consider factors based on the Group's business model and specific needs
from time to time in determining the optimum composition of the Board.
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The profile of our current Board members are as follows: KMMESEKE[N -
Designation Gender
B il
Executive %;e?c:ciog ,i |i\ i' Mag Ii' i‘ 'il Ii 'i' 'i 'il
Non- ive Direct N o o o
on executlngi;Lr%cﬁog II w * Femag *“
Independent Non-executive Directors | & &= =
wusnisEs T 1T
Age Length of Service to the Board
Fie HEEESFE
sstrenne A AR R RR AL

s 11 e

The Board currently has an appropriate mix of skills, experience and
diversity that are relevant to the Company's strategy, governance and
business. The Board targets to maintain at least about the current level of
female representation, with the ultimate goal of increasing gender parity.

As at 31 December 2022, according to the information about the
production plants and facilities of the Group's packaged water and beer in
Tibet of the PRC, the Group’s headquarters, the marketing and sales offices
and our Hong Kong Office, we had 347 full-time employees, of which
197 were male and 150 were female. The gender ratio in the workforce
(including senior management) was approximately 1 males to 0.76 females.
The total gender diversity of the Group is acceptable and the Group will
continue to maintain about such gender diversity in workforce. For further
details of gender ratio and initiatives taken to improve gender diversity
together with the relevant data, please refer to the disclosure in the ESG
report.
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Chairman and Chief Executive

Under the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman
and the chief executive officer should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. On 8 July 2022, Dr. ZHANG Chunlong
has been appointed as independent non-executive Director and chairman
of the Board. The office of Chief Executive of the Company is assumed
by Mr. WANG Dong. The Chairman’s primary responsibilities include
deciding on the meeting schedule and agenda, formulating Board policies,
ensuring Board effectiveness, promoting the Company and upholding
the Company’s corporate governance standards. The Chief Executive has
delegated authority from the Board and is responsible for managing the
Group's business, including the implementation of the strategies and
initiatives adopted by the Board.

Operation of the Board

All the executive Directors are responsible for dealing with the business
of the Group in accordance with all applicable rules and regulations,
including, but not limited to, the Listing Rules. All Directors (including non-
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors) have been
consulted on major and material matters of the Group.

The Board supervises the management of the business and affairs of the
Group, including convening Shareholders’ meetings, reporting their work
in the Shareholders’ meeting, implementing the Shareholders’ resolutions,
determining the Group’s business plans and strategies, formulating the
Group's annual budget and final accounts, formulating proposals for
dividend and bonus distribution, and determining duties as conferred
to it by the Articles of Association of the Company. In discharging its
responsibilities, the Board meets and communicates regularly and acts in
good faith, with due diligence and care.
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The Board meets regularly to review financial information, material
investments in new projects, dividend policy, major financings, treasury
policies and changes in accounting policies, where applicable. All Directors
have access to Board papers and related materials which are provided in a
timely manner. Directors have access to the advice and services provided by
the legal consultants of the Company and/or the Company Secretary with
a view to ensuring that the procedures applicable to Board meetings, and
all applicable rules and regulations, are followed. Draft and final versions
of the minutes of Board meetings and Board committee meetings, drafted
in sufficient detail by the secretary of the meetings, would be circulated
to the Directors for their comments and record. Originals of such minutes,
being kept by the Company Secretary, are open for inspection at any time
upon a reasonable notice period given by any Director.

If a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the
Board which the Board determines to be material, the relevant Director will
abstain from voting on the relevant Board resolution in which he/she or
any of his/her associates have a material interest and that he/she shall not
be counted in the quorum present at the Board meeting.

Under the respective appointment letters, the current non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a
period of three years unless terminated in accordance with the terms of the
appointment letters. Their appointment may be terminated either by the
Company or by the Director by giving three months’ written notice to the
other party. All the current non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
the coming annual general meetings of the Company in accordance with
the Articles of Association of the Company. The Company has received
from each independent non-executive Director an annual confirmation of
his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of its independent non-executive Directors independent.

At each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or if their number is not a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) will retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
general meeting at least once every three years.
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The Board believes that the balance between executive and non-executive
Directors is reasonable and adequate to provide sufficient checks and
balances that safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and the
Group. The non-executive Directors provide the Group with diversified
knowledge, expertise and experience. Their views and participation in
Board bring independent judgement and advice on issues relating to the
Group’s strategies, performance, conflicts of interest and management
process, and ensure that the interests of all Shareholders are taken into
account. One of the independent non-executive Directors possess the
appropriate professional accounting qualifications or related financial
management expertise, which meets the requirements under the Listing
Rules. The opinions raised by the independent non-executive Directors in
Board meetings facilitate the maintenance of good corporate governance
practices.

Directors’ Induction and Continuous Professional Development

On appointment to the Board, each newly appointed Director will receive a
comprehensive induction package and training provided by the Company’s
external legal advisor, covering business operations, policy and procedures
of the Company as well as the general, statutory and regulatory obligations
of being a Director to ensure that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/
her responsibilities under the Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory
requirements.

The Company updates Directors on the latest development regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements from time
to time, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices. The Directors are regularly briefed on the
amendments to or updates on the relevant laws, rules and regulations. In
addition, the Company and the Company Secretary have been encouraging
the Directors and other management to enroll in a wide range of
professional development courses and seminars relating to the Listing
Rules, Companies Ordinance/laws and corporate governance practices
organized by professional bodies, independent auditor and/or chambers in
Hong Kong so that they can continuously update and further improve their
relevant knowledge and skills.
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From time to time, Directors are provided with written materials to
develop and refresh their professional skills. The Company Secretary also
coordinates, organizes and arranges materials/seminars on the latest
development of applicable laws, rules and regulations for the Directors to
assist them in discharging their duties. During the year, seminar materials,
articles and updates relating to the latest development of the Listing
Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements have been provided to
Directors.

In addition, all Directors are provided with monthly updates on the Group's
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole and
each Director to discharge their duties.

According to the information provided by Directors and records
maintained by the Company, the Directors have each received training
with an emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of a director of a
listed company in compliance with the requirement of the CG Code on
continuous professional development during the year:
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Types of training

EHIEER
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. YAN Qingjiang BETIEE A, B
Mr. CHOW Wai Kit BEEERE Ay B €
(appointed with effect from 1 January 2022) (ZEEE-Z_=F—A—BE&ER)
Mr. CHENG Gwan Sing BHKEE A B, C
(appointed on 25 May 2022) (RZE-_FRA-THBEZMHE)
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Ms. JIANG Xiaohong EBET L+ A B
Mr. XIE Kun (appointed with effect AR A B, C
from 1 January 2022) (ZEE-Z-_—F—F—BE4E%)
Mr. WEI Zheming (appointed on 25 May 2022) REALE A B, C
(RZTBZZFRA-THHAEZRT)
Independent Non-executive Directors VHHTES
Dr. ZHANG Chunlong (appointed on 8 July 2022) @E%%‘Eﬁi(b”\_%ﬁiiﬁtﬂ)\EZ%?EE) A B C
Mr. LO Wai Hung EREELE A, B
Ms. LIN Ting (appointed on 8 July 2022) MEXT(RZZE__FLANBEZT) A B C
Mr. TANG Zeping (retired on 30 June 2022) FEEFAE(RZZ_ZFA=THREME) A, B
Mr. DAI Yang (retired on 30 June 2022) BETERZT-_FA=THEM) A, B
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A: attending training and/or seminars and/or conferences and/or forums

B: reading seminar handouts, newspapers, journals, the Group’s news, industry news
and updates relating to the ongoing compliance obligations, corporate governance
and other related topics, etc.

C: a comprehensive induction package and training provided by the Company’s
external legal advisor

Delegation by the Board

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to the
management of the Company. The Board and the management have their
clearly defined authorities and responsibilities under various internal control
and check and balance mechanisms. The Board delegates matters to the
Board committee(s), executive Directors or management to the extent that
the ability of the Board as a whole to perform its functions would not be
significantly hindered or reduced.

There is a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to the Board
for its consideration and delegation. The Board has given clear directions
to management as to matters that must be approved by the Board before
decisions can be made on behalf of the Company.

To assist the Board in the execution of its duties and to facilitate effective
management, certain functions of the Board have been delegated by the
Board to the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee which were established with written terms of references
in compliance with the Listing Rules. The adopted terms of references
comply with the code provisions as set out from time to time in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules. Furthermore, the Board has also set up a Risk
Management Committee for the main purpose of formulating policies and
making recommendations to improve the Company's internal control and
risk management systems.

Each board committee is required to report to the Board on its decisions
and recommendations, where appropriate. Each board committee is also
provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and has access to
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense according to
the Company’s policy, if necessary.
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Audit Committee
The Audit Committee meets at least twice per annum, according to its
terms of reference. Its key responsibilities include:

a) to make a recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor, to approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor, and
where applicable, to handle any questions relating to the resignation
or dismissal of the external auditor;

b) to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standard;

c)  to monitor the integrity of financial statements of the Company and
the Company's annual report, interim report and related financial
results (if prepared for publication), and to review significant financial
reporting judgments contained in them; and

d)  to review the Company's financial control, internal control and risk
management system.

All three Audit Committee members (including the Chairman) are
independent non-executive Directors. The Chairman of the Audit
Committee possesses the relevant financial management expertise and
experience. The committee members, together with our external auditor,
met four times during 2022 and discharged their principal responsibilities
by:

a) reviewing the interim results and final results of the Group and the
relevant financial statements and reports and significant financial
reporting judgments contained in them prior to the approval by
the Board and reviewing the external auditor’s report and findings
relating to the work that has been performed;

b) making a recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment
of the external auditor, approving the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor, and where applicable, handling
any questions relating to the retirement of the external auditor;
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c)  reviewing the external auditor’s audit plan and terms of engagement
for the work performed,;

d)  reviewing the independence and objectivity of the external auditor,
and the service fee payable to the external auditor; and

e) reviewing the effectiveness of the internal control systems of the
Group including financial control, operational control, compliance
control and risk management.

Nomination Committee
Its key responsibilities include:

a)  to review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board
on a regular basis and make recommendations to the Board on any
proposed changes;

b) to recommend to the Board on matters relating to the selection,
appointment or reappointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors;

c)  to ensure sufficient biographical details of the nominated candidates
are provided to the Board and Shareholders (when necessary) for
them to make decisions regarding the selection of Board members;
and

d) to assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors.

All Board appointment will be based on meritocracy and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of
the diversity of the Board. The Board has adopted a board diversity policy
which sets out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board. Accordingly,
selection of candidates to the Board will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience and qualifications, skills,
knowledge and length of service, having due regard to the Company’s own
business model and specific needs from time to time. Taking into account
the Company's corporate strategy and the mix of skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity needed in the future, the Nomination Committee
is comfortable with the existing structure, size, composition and diversity
of the Board.
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The Nomination Committee will ask proposed candidates to submit the

necessary personal information in a prescribed form. The Nomination

Committee may request candidates to provide additional information and

documents, if considered necessary. The appointment of any proposed

candidate to the Board or re-appointment of any existing members of the

Board shall be made in accordance with the Articles of Association of the

Company and other applicable rules and regulations.

One meeting has been held by the Nomination Committee during 2022

and the following work has been satisfactorily concluded:

a)

b)

reviewing the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board;

assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors;

ensuring sufficient biographical details of the nominated candidates
are provided to the Board for them to make decisions regarding the
selection of Board members; and

recommending the Board on matters relating to the selection,
appointment or reappointment of Directors.

Remuneration Committee

Its key responsibilities include:

a)

to make recommendations to the Board on the Company's overall
policy and structure on the remuneration of Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing such remuneration policy;

to review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors
and senior management for any loss of office or appointment to
ensure that such compensation is consistent with the contractual
terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive; and

to review and approve performance-based remuneration by reference
to the corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board from time
to time.
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During 2022, the Remuneration Committee has met two times and
considered, reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration package of all the Directors (including the nominated
candidates) and senior management.

Risk Management Committee
Its key responsibilities include:

a) to review and assess the effectiveness of the Company’s risk
management systems, and propose changes thereto, to identify,
measure, manage and/or control risks;

b)  to discuss the risk management system with management to ensure
that management has performed its duty to maintain an effective risk
management system;

c)  to consider major investigation findings on risk management matters
as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and management'’s
response to these findings; and

d) to formulate policies and make recommendations to improve the
Company'’s internal control and risk management systems.

During 2022,
consider and review the existing internal control system. Management’s

the Risk Management Committee has met once to

recommendations on financial management function were discussed,
considered and adopted to improve the effectiveness of the internal control
and risk management systems.
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The composition of the Board and the Board members’

respective

attendance in Board meetings, general meetings, the Audit Committee

meetings, the Nomination Committee meetings,

the Remuneration

Committee meetings and the Risk Management Committee meetings

during the year ended 31 December 2022 were as follows:
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No. of meetings attended/held

BHE/ BrEH%A
Risk
Management
General Audit ~ Nomination Remuneration  Committee
Board Meeting ~ Committee  Committee  Committee BRER
34 REAE& #HZEE REZEE  HMZEE z8%
Executive Directors UnES
NIr. YAN Qingjiang BRI 99 0 - i 20 i
Mr. CHOW Wai it RlefEE
(appointed on 1 January 2022) (R=B-Z%-R-BEZf) 99 0 - - - -
Mr. CHENG Gwan Sing PRtk
(appointed on 25 May 2022) (RZZZZERA-TRREZE) 6/6 i - - - -
Non-executive Directors FUTES
Ms. JIANG Xiaohong ZEILT 99 10 - - - -
Mr. XIE Kun FEEE
(appointed on 1 January 2022) 9/9 22 = = = =
Mr. WEI Zheming RERARY
(appointed on 5 May 2022) (R=E--FRA-TRREZA) 6/6 i - - - -
Independent Non-executive Directors B EH7EE 5/5 - 10 - 1N -
Dr, ZHANG Chunlong FEEET
(appointed on 8 July 2022) (RZB-Z5+A/\REZf)
Mr. LO Wai Hung ERERY 99 Wl 4/4 i 0N i
Ms. LIN Ting (appointed on 8 July 2022) ~ HEX L
(RZEFLA)\BEE() 5/5 - /1 - " -
Mr. TANG Zeping (retired on 30 June 2022) BT %4
(RZBFRA=TREM) 04 02 04 - - -
Mr. DAI Yang (retired on 30 June 2022) ~ E#%4
(RZEFRA=TREM) 414 12 33 - - "
Average attendance rate ToitRE 94.7% 75% 75% 100% 100% 100%
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During the year under review, the Chairman of the Company has held a
meeting with independent non-executive Directors without the presence of
other Directors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board has undertaken and adopted the responsibility for performing
the corporate governance duties pursuant to the CG Code and is
committed to ensuring that an effective governance structure is in place
to continuously review, monitor and improve the corporate governance
practices within the Group with regard to the prevailing legal and
regulatory requirements.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the policies and practices on the
Group’'s corporate governance, developed a code of conduct applicable
to the Directors and employees, monitored the Company's legal and
regulatory compliance, organized training and continuing professional
development for Directors and management and reviewed the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and the disclosures in this Annual Report.

This corporate governance report has been reviewed by the Board in
discharge of its corporate governance function.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining a sound, adequate
and effective internal control system of the Group. Our internal control
system includes a well-defined management structure with limits of
authority which is designed for the achievement of business objectives,
safeqguarding assets against unauthorized use or disposition, ensuring
proper maintenance of books and records for the provision of reliable and
timely financial information for internal use or publication, and ensuring
compliance with relevant laws and regulations. In addition, the Group has
established risk management procedures to identify and prioritize risks for
the business to be addressed by management.

The systems of internal control are designed to manage, rather than
eliminate, business risk; to help safeguard the Group's assets against
fraud and other irregularities; and to give reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material financial misstatement or loss. In addition, it
should provide a basis for the maintenance of proper and fair accounting
records and assist in the compliance with relevant rules and regulations.
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During the year, no incident of serious fraud or misconduct was reported
from employees that had a material effect on the Company’s financial
position and overall operations.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board has supervised and
engaged an independent professional to carry out an annual review of the
effectiveness of the internal control system and has received a confirmation
from management on the effectiveness and adequacy of the system during
the Reporting Period.

The Company has no internal audit function because the Company
has maintained an internal control system. The Audit Committee, Risk
Management Committee and the Board understood and reviewed the
implementation of the system and considered that it is effective. The Audit
Committee has communicated with external auditor of the Company to
understand if there any material internal control deficiency noted during
the audit process. Nevertheless, the Company will review the need for an
internal audit function on an annual basis.

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information: (i) the Company conducts its affairs
with close regard to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information”
issued by the Securities and Futures Commission; (ii) the Board and
senior management are responsible for identifying and assessing inside
information; (iii) the Board, senior management and any relevant persons
who might have access to inside information must take reasonable due care
for safeqguarding the confidentiality of unpublished inside information; and
(iv) the Board is responsible for ensuring timely, fair and comprehensive
dissemination of inside information and may seek independent professional
advice if and when appropriate to ensure that the Company can timely
comply with the disclosure requirements.

MANAGEMENT FUNCTION

The management team of the Company meets reqularly to review and
discuss with the executive Directors on day-to-day operational matters,
financial and operating performance as well as to monitor and ensure that
the management is properly carrying out the directions and strategies pre-
determined by the Board.
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MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiries to all Directors, all
Directors confirmed that they have complied with the requirements set
out in the Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2022. Specific
employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information of the
Group have been requested to comply with the provisions of the Model
Code. No incident of non-compliance has been noted by the Company.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for keeping proper
accounting books and records and overseeing the preparation of accounts
for each financial year/period which give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Company and the Group as at the end of the financial
year/period and the profit and loss for the year/period. The Directors
have adopted applicable International Financial Reporting Standards in
all material respects, selected appropriate accounting policies and then
applied them consistently, and have made judgments and estimates that
they believe to be fair and reasonable. The Directors use a going concern
basis in preparing the accounts unless it is not applicable.

The Board acknowledges that a clear, balanced and timely presentation
of financial information is crucial in maintaining the confidence of
Shareholders in the Company. Reasonable disclosure of the Company's
financial position and prospects are provided in the reports. Annual and
interim results are published within three and two months after the end of
the relevant financial year/period, respectively.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the
section headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” on pages 85 to 94 of this
Annual Report.
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DIRECTORS' AND OFFICERS' LIABILITY INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY
PROVISION

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and Officers’ Liability
Insurance for its Directors and officers covering the costs, losses, expenses
and liabilities arising from the performance of their duties. The insurance
policy is reviewed on an annual basis ensuring adequate covers on potential
legal action against its Directors and officers arising from the performance
of their duties and to comply with the requirement of the CG Code. During
the year, no claim was made against the Directors and officers of the
Company.

Article 164(1) of the Company’s Articles of Association provides that
the Directors or other officers of the Company shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any
of them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty provided
that the indemnity shall not be extended to any matter in respect of any
fraud or dishonesty which may be attached to the relevant Director or
officer of the Company.

SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for effective
communication with Shareholders. The Chairman of the Board and
the Board Committees, or in his absence, fellow Directors and other
management members will be made available to answer questions at the
general meetings.

Extensive information about the Group's activities is provided in this Annual
Report, the interim report and circulars which are sent to Shareholders in
a timely manner and are made available on the Company’s website (www.
twr1115.net). Our website serves as a communication platform where
company information including corporate profile, corporate governance
materials, announcements, circulars, business news and financial reports
are made available to the public. All Shareholders are encouraged to attend
the annual general meeting of the Company to understand the business
of the Group from the Directors and senior management in the general
meeting.
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The forthcoming AGM is expected to be held in late June 2023. The notice
of the 2023 AGM will be dispatched to all Shareholders not less than
twenty clear business days beforehand. At the 2023 AGM, the chairman of
the meeting will demand for a poll and the Company’s Hong Kong branch
share registrar will be appointed as the scrutineer for the vote-taking.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, an extraordinary general
meeting shall be convened on the written requisition of any one or more
members of the Company deposited at the registered office specifying the
objects of the meeting and signed by such Shareholders, provided that
such Shareholders held at the date of deposit of the written requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company as at the
date of deposit which carries the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company. If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the
date of deposit of the requisition duly proceed to convene the meeting,
the Shareholders themselves may convene the general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as those meetings which may be convened
by the Directors, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the Shareholders
as a result of the failure of the Directors in convening the said meeting
shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the Company
to convene a general meeting following the procedures set out in the
preceding paragraph. As regards the nomination of a person as a Director,
please refer to the procedures available on the website of the Company.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board by mail in writing to the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong at Unit D, 23" Floor, United Centre, 95 Queensway, Admiralty,
Hong Kong.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

To ensure investors have a better understanding of the Group, our
management is pro-active in its investor relations initiatives. Our Directors,
management team and the investor relations officers communicate with
research analysts and institutional investors on an on-going basis after
our results announcements and participate in non-deal roadshows to
communicate the Company's financial performance and business strategy.
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Having considered the multiple channels of communication in place
providing Shareholders and investment community with information about
the latest development of the Group in a timely manner, and that the
Company has established a range of communication channels between
itself and its Shareholders, investors and other stakeholders to allow the
Company to receive feedback effectively, the Board is satisfied that the
shareholders communication policy has been properly implemented during
2022 and is effective.

DIVIDEND POLICY

In recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall consider a
number of conditions and factors and maintain adequate cash reserves for
meeting its working capital requirements and future business development.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year, there had been no change to the Company’s constitutional
documents.

The existing memorandum and articles of association of the Company
is available on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

The Board proposes that certain amendments (the “Proposed
Amendments”) be made to the existing memorandum and articles of
association of the Company (the “Existing M&A") by way of adoption
of amended and restated memorandum and articles of association (the
“New M&A") in substitution for, and to the exclusion of, the Existing
M&A to, among others things, (i) bring the Existing M&A in line with the
relevant requirements of the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands and the
Listing Rules, including but not limited to the Core Shareholder Protection
Standards set out in Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules; (ii) allow the Company
to convene and hold hybrid or electronic general meetings and provide
flexibility to the Company in relation to the conduct of general meetings;
and (iii) make consequential and other housekeeping amendments.

The adoption of the New M&A is subject to the approval of the
Shareholders by way of a special resolution at the 2023 AGM and will take
effect from the conclusion of the 2023 AGM. A circular containing, among
other things, details of the Proposed Amendments will be despatched to
the Shareholders in due course.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chow Wai Kit is a fellow member of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and was appointed on a full-time basis as the
Company Secretary. During the year ended 31 December 2022, Mr. Chow
has taken not less than 15 hours of appropriate professional training to
update his skills and knowledge as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules. Mr. Chow reports to the Chairman/Board on Board governance
matters and is responsible for ensuring that Board policies and procedures
are followed. All Board members have access to the Company’s legal
consultant’s and his advice and services. He arranges the comprehensive
and tailored induction program for new Directors prior to their
appointment and provides timely updates to the Directors on relevant new
legislation or regulatory requirements. Director training has been organized
on a regular basis by the Company Secretary to assist Directors’ continuous
professional development.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

HLB has been re-appointed as the auditor of the Company with effect from
the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company held on 30
June 2022 to hold office until the conclusion of the next annual general
meeting of the Company. The Audit Committee is mandated to review
and monitor the independence of the auditor to ensure objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process of the financial statements in accordance
with applicable standards. Members of the Audit Committee were of the
view that the Company's auditor, HLB, is independent and recommended
to the Board to re-appoint it as the Company’s auditor at the 2023 AGM.
For the year, the fees paid/payable to the Company's auditor in respect of
audit and non-audit services provided to the Group are set out below:
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2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARET T
Audit services EZIRG 1,973 1,707
Non-audit services IEEZ R 172 166
2,145 1,873

Disclaimer RERH

The contents of this section headed “Shareholders’ Rights” are for reference and
disclosure compliance purposes only. The information does not represent and should not
be regarded as legal or other professional advice from the Company to the Shareholders.
Shareholders should seek their own independent legal or other professional advice as
to their rights as Shareholders. The Company disclaims all liabilities and losses incurred
by its Shareholders in reliance on any contents of this section headed “Shareholders’
Rights”.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT

The Directors present their report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements on page 103 of this Annual Report. There were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the financial
year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 is
set out in the sections headed “Letter to Shareholders” and “Management
Discussion & Analysis” on pages 8 to 10 and pages 13 to 28 of this Annual
Report respectively. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties
faced by the Group are set out in the “Management Discussion & Analysis”
section and Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements on page 25 to
26 and pages 183 to 202 of this Annual Report, respectively.

In addition, discussions on the Group's environmental policies and
performance, compliance with relevant laws and regulations which have
a significant impact on the Group and an account of the Group's key
relationships with its employees, customers and suppliers are set out in the
“Management Discussion & Analysis” section on pages 24 to 25 of this
Annual Report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement
of comprehensive income on pages 95 to 96 of this Annual Report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year 2022.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 12 of this Annual Report.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of the movements during the year in the land use rights and PP&E
of the Group are set out in Notes 15 and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively on pages 222 to 226 of this Annual Report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in Note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements on page 269 of this Annual Report.

BANK BORROWINGS

Details of bank borrowings as at 31 December 2022 are set out in Note
33 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 262 to 266 of this
Annual Report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme"”) on 7 September 2012. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme
is to enable the Board, at its discretion, to grant options to selected
eligible participants to motivate them and to optimise their performance
and efficiency for the benefit of the Group.

The Board may, at its discretion, grant options pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme to directors (including independent non-executive directors)
of the Group, employees of the Group and other persons the Board
considers have contributed or will contribute to the Group. In general, the
maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
under the Share Option Scheme must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the adoption date of the Share
Option Scheme, unless otherwise approved by the Shareholders in general
meeting and/or other requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules.
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The Company granted 25,200,000 share options for the subscription of
25,200,000 shares of the Company on 16 December 2015. However, these
share options had lapsed on 31 December 2018.

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the options under the Share Option Scheme to each eligible participant in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company, unless with the prior approval from the Shareholders and with such
participant and his associates abstaining from voting. Options granted to any
Director or substantial Shareholder, or any of their respective associates, shall
be subject to the prior approval of the independent non-executive Directors
(excluding any independent non-executive Director who is the grantee). Where
any option granted to a substantial Shareholder or an independent non-
executive Director, or any of their respective associates, would result in the
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options already granted
and to be granted to such person in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of such grant, (i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the issued
share capital of the Company; and (i) having an aggregate value, based
on the closing price of the shares on the date of each grant, in excess of
HKD5 million, such grant of options shall be subject to prior approval of the
Shareholders in general meeting by way of poll.

An offer of a grant of an option under the Share Option Scheme shall
remain open for acceptance for no more than 14 days from the offer
date. Upon acceptance of the option, the grantee shall pay HKD1 to the
Company as consideration for the grant. Options may be exercised in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time during
a period determined by the Board which shall not exceed 10 years from
the date of grant. Though there is no general requirement on the minimum
period for which an option must be held or the performance targets which
must be achieved before an option can be exercised under the terms of the
Share Option Scheme, the Board may offer to grant any options subject to
such terms and conditions in relation to the minimum period of the options
to be held and/or the performance targets to be achieved before such
option can be exercised and/or any other terms as the Board may determine
in its absolute discretion. The subscription price shall be determined by
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the Board in its absolute discretion, and in any event shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the daily
quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange on the offer date, (ii) the average
closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of the
Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the offer
date, and (iii) the nominal value of a share. No option may be granted
more than ten years after the adoption date of the Share Option Scheme
(i.e. 7 September 2012). Subject to earlier termination by the Company in
general meeting or by the Board, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid
and effective for a period of ten years from the adoption date.

As at the beginning of the financial year ended 31 December 2022,
options to subscribe for 256,889,300 shares were available for grant under
the Share Option Scheme.

The Share Option Scheme has expired on 7 September 2022. As at 31
December 2022, no options may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme.

There was no share option granted, exercised, lapsed, cancelled or
outstanding under the Share Option Scheme during the year. No share was
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme as at the date of this
report.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Group adopted a share award scheme in 2017 (the “Share Award
Scheme”). Up to 31 December 2022, no share has been granted by the
Group to any parties under the Share Award Scheme.

The purposes of the Share Award Scheme are to (i) encourage or facilitate
the holding of shares by the selected participants; (ii) encourage and retain
certain individuals to work with the Group; and (iii) provide incentive for
the selected participants to achieve performance goals.
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The Board may at its absolute discretion select any eligible participant
(including directors (including independent non-executive directors) of the
Group, employees of the Group and other persons the Board considers
have contributed or will contribute to the Group) to be a selected
participant and (a) grant new shares to be issued and allotted by the
Company under its available general mandate to such selected participant
or (b) grant existing shares to be purchased by the Company from the
market to such selected participant.

In any financial year during the scheme period, the maximum number of
shares to be subscribed for and/or purchased by the trustee appointed
for the administration of the Share Award Scheme pursuant to the Share
Award Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the beginning of such relevant financial year.

On each occasion when the Board instructs the trustee to purchase shares
on the Stock Exchange, it shall specify the maximum amount of funds to
be used and the range of prices at which such shares are to be purchased.
The Trustee may not incur more than the maximum amount of funds
or purchase any shares at a price falling outside the range of prices so
specified unless with the prior written consent of the Board. The trustee
shall purchase such maximum board lot of shares at the prevailing market
price according to the Board's instructions.

At the beginning of the financial year ended 31 December 2022, the
Company had 2,599,493,000 shares in issue. No share had been granted
under the Share Award Scheme during such financial year. Therefore,
259,949,300 shares were available for grant under the Share Award
Scheme at the beginning and the end of the financial year ended 31
December 2022.

At the beginning of the financial year ending 31 December 2023, the
Company had 3,059,391,000 shares in issue and no share has been
granted under the Share Award Scheme up to the date of this report.
Therefore, 305,939,100 shares, representing 7.5% of the issued shares of
the Company as at the date of this report, were available for grant under
the Share Award Scheme as at the date of this report.
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Where any award of grant to a selected participant would result in the
aggregate of (a) the number of grant shares underlying all grants (whether
vested or not) and (b) the number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of options (whether exercised or outstanding) under any share
option scheme adopted by the Company from time to time, granted to such
selected participant in the 12-month period up to and including the date
of award of such grant exceeding 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of award of such grant, the grant shall be subject
to approval by the shareholders of the Company in a general meeting.
Where any grant is proposed to be made to a selected participant who is a
director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or any
of their respective associates or any other connected person, such grant
must first be approved by the independent non-executive directors of the
Company (excluding any independent non-executive director to whom the
grant is proposed to be made).

The Board may from time to time while the Share Award Scheme is in force
determine any vesting criteria or periods for the grant shares to be vested
or credited, and such other restrictions or conditions in respect thereof as
the Board may in its discretion determine to be appropriate.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board, the
Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years
commencing on the adoption date being 18 August 2017.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles
of Association or the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company’s
place of incorporation.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, the accumulated deficits of the Company
amounted to RMB235 million (31 December 2021: RMB178 million). As
at 31 December 2022, the share premium of the Company, amounting to
RMB1,407 million (31 December 2021: RMB1,244 million), is distributable
to Shareholders subject to the solvency test and the sanction of an ordinary
resolution.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

During the year ended 31 December 2022, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
shares.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. YAN Qingjiang

Mr. CHOW Wai Kit

Mr. CHENG Gwan Sing
(appointed on 25 May 2022)

Non-executive Directors
Ms. JIANG Xiaohong
Mr. XIE Kun
Mr. WEI Zheming
(appointed on 25 May 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. ZHANG Chunlong (Chairman)
(appointed on 8 July 2022)
Mr. LO Wai Hung
Ms. LIN Ting
(appointed on 8 July 2022)
Mr. TANG Zeping
(retired on 30 June 2022)
Mr. DAI Yang
(retired on 30 June 2022)

Details of the retiring Directors to be re-elected at the 2023 AGM will be
set out in the circular to the Shareholders to be dispatched before the
2023 AGM.

DIRECTORS' PROFILES

The profiles of the Directors are set out on pages 29 to 37 of this Annual
Report.
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DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS BEENERBEEN

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming 2023 AGM has a  BREE-_T-_—FREFFAE L HEH
service contract which is not determinable by the Group within one year  EEHEIEAEEE —FARAIESTE

without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation). BOEEBERINNBATERENRBES
4o
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS IN SHARES EERFETHAERROPIESR

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors RZEBE-—F+-A=+—H EFRAR

and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and  AIEBTH A ERA D E & EARE A B (R
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the — #EHREIEEHIEXVEBNTEE) NG - 48
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which are required to be recorded in B RERBTRBRER S RIE KD
the register maintained by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or  H352(§ETFARAARFE 2 B LMANE
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model — #$kSIRIFZESTREME AN A KRBT Z

Code were as follows: BmMARWT

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the Company: RRABRMD RAEERGONTE -
( 4

No. of Approximate
No. of nil-paid percentage of
Capacity/Nature ordinary rights shares shareholding
Name of Director of interest shares held (Note 1) Total (Note 2)
RABBRRER IR A
P RHEE Bt

BEEps LV 131 EREREE (Mf=E1) st (R¥aE2 )
Mr. CHOW Wai Kit Beneficial owner 1,000 333 1,333 0.00003
JEIELES EREAA

Notes: BT -

(1) On 21 December 2022, the Company issued nil-paid rights shares to qualifying (1) RZIZEZZF+-RA=+—8 KRARE

shareholders pursuant to a rights issue on the basis of 1 rights share for every 3 BERAE-RAERMHEE —REBKRRKRHDH
existing shares. Such nil-paid rights shares were to be accepted by 9 January 2023. HERTHHERAEARRRETRARK

PR - ZRERMBRRERK D AR -F
“=F-ANBSZ AR

(2)  Based on 4,079,188,000 shares (being the aggregate of (a) 3,059,391,000 issued (2)  LA4,079,188,000 & f% 15 (BN (a) 72 5 42 )

shares in the Company immediately before the offer of the rights shares and (b) MR AR E 49 2 BIA 2 7] 3,059,391,000 ik 2 3
1,019,797,000 new shares issued upon the completion of the rights issue on TROEOR-ZZE_=F—A=1TH7TMH
30 January 2023), which is taken to be the number of the issued shares in the % 52577 /9 1,019,797,000 % 31 A% 17 #O 42 F1 )
Company as at 31 December 2022 for the purpose of disclosure of interest by tE o ?ﬁ%?&?ﬁﬁﬂl)\@@ﬁ 55 K
directors and chief executives under the SFO. BRUIBERETE  ZRHEBBEEE AR

RARZE ::¢+_H =t HA®MB#ET
B#E -
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DISCLOSEABLE INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS UNDER THE
SECURITIES AND FUTURES ORDINANCE

As at 31 December 2022, the following persons had an interest or short
position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO:

REFHZRBEROIRRNA T REES

RZE-—F+-A=+—8"  TIALR
REEFRBEEHEIB6 KR TEALD
BB MBS AR AR S AR R i
DRBEERRIKE

(3
Approximate
Number of  percentage of
Long/short shares/ shareholding
Name position Capacity underlying shares (Note 1)
BREBAE L
He/ 4% BE/KE EL) R/ HERANEE (BraE1)
Tianshan Industry Investment Limited Long position Beneficial owner 462,400,740 15.11%
Tianshan Industry Investment Limited 55) ERBEEA 462,400,740 15.11%
Khorgos Tianshan No.1 Industrial Investment Long position Interest of controlled 462,400,740 15.11%
Fund Limited Partnership (Note 2) corporation
ERRGRL—FEEREZSERAE e ZEENER 462,400,740 15.11%
¥ (ME2)
NBRRALEXREESEREBRAR Long position Interest of controlled 462,400,740 15.11%
(Notes 2 & 3) corporation
NBRLEXREESEEARAA e REFERNER 462,400,740 15.11%
(HFE2 &3)
METRMREARLDE (Notes 2, 3 & 4) Long position Interest of controlled 462,400,740 15.11%
corporation
MEEBEEERAR(ME2384) e SEEEMES 462,400,740 15.11%
TEGTHEARARBNAEEELEE Long position Interest of controlled 462,400,740 15.11%
EEZEZ (Notes 2, 3 & 4) corporation
NEATARARARNGERAEELSR iR ZREENER 462,400,740 15.11%
EBZEe (M2 384)
HERREXREEEAREAAA Long position Interest of controlled 462,400,740 15.11%
(Notes 2, 3 & 5) corporation
HELRREEREEBERETAR & ZEERNER 462,400,740 15.11%
(FsE2-38&5)
RELREERNERLDF Long position Interest of controlled 462,400,740 15.11%
(Notes 2, 3,5 & 6) corporation
HERREERHERAA e TEAERNER 462,400,740 15.11%

(fizE2-3°5&6)
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Name

e/ £8

Long/short
position

HE/ KR

Capacity

&t

FRESKEERELAT
(Notes 2, 3,5 & 6)

FRESRERREMTAT
(fz23+586)

Tibet Water Resources Limited (Note 7)

FRKERARAR (HEE7)

Maple Essence Investments Limited (Note 8)

WELEER LR (MES)
True Asset Holdings Limited (Note 9)

True Asset Holdings Limited (Fi#79)

Mr. WANG Peter Jian (also known as
Mr. WANG Jian Peter) (Notes 9 & 10)

TREL(HFE9 & 10)

Wang Zhi (Note 11)

FACESRD

Wholeking Holdings Limited (Note 12)
Wholeking Holdings Limited (Fff512)

Hope Empire Limited (Note 13)

Hope Empire Limited (¥ 13)

Long position

e

Long position

iR

Long position

iR

Long position

iR

Long position

iR

Long position

Long position
)

Long position

iR

HSBC International Trustee Limited (Note 14) Long position

HSBC International Trustee Limited (FffzF 14)

iR

Interest of controlled
corporation

REEENER

Beneficial owner

mit

FEEAA

\

Interest of controlled
corporation

REEE

Interest of controlled
corporation

REEE

Interest of controlled
corporation

REEE

Beneficial owner
and interest of
controlled
corporation

m A AR

RELEN R

i
Bl

=+

Beneficial owner

FEEAA

mit

\

Interest of controlled

corporation

ZEEEE R
Trustee
FFEA

‘
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Number of
shares/
underlying shares

R/ HERGHEE

462,400,740

462,400,740

437,410,960

437,410,960

437,410,960

437,410,960

437,410,960

437,410,960

437,410,960

437,410,960

305,000,000

305,000,000

205,000,000
205,000,000

205,000,000
205,000,000

232,957,000
232,957,000

EXEHS

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
(Note 1)
REGNEIL
GER)

15.11%

15.11%

14.30%

14.30%

14.30%

14.30%

14.30%

14.30%
14.30%
14.30%

9.97%

9.97%

6.70%
6.70%

6.70%

6.70%

7.61%
7.61%
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Approximate
Number of  percentage of
Long/short shares/ shareholding
Name position Capacity underlying shares (Note 1)
RESAEALL
“E/E% HE/ %R E27) B/ HERAHEE (M=)
Cai Kui (Note 14) Long position Founder of a 232,957,000 7.61%
discretionary trust
who can influence
how the trustee
exercises its
discretion
g2 (M 14) HE AR EXTAMM 232,957,000 7.61%
TRAREE
BEETKA
Notes: BT -
(1) Based on 3,059,391,000 shares in issue as at 31 December 2022. (1 BERZZE-_—_F+-A=+—HEB#TK
173,059,391,000 =+
(2)  Khorgos Tianshan No.1 Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership holds 100% 2 ERRHRL-REXREESARSE
equity interest in Tianshan Industry Investment Limited and is therefore deemed to % 1> % ¥ ATianshan Industry Investment
be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the Company held by Tianshan Industry Limited 100% A% - F i #18 A5 Tianshan
Investment Limited. Industry Investment Limited FT#5H KA A &
462,400,740 R AR5 A HEAs ©
(3)  Khorgos Tianshan No.1 Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership is held as (B) ERRFRL-REXRAEZSERAESR
to 0.66% by and is accustomed to act in accordance with the directions of i EHTBRUEXRAESERAERAARN
RUEEREELETEERAAF. Therefore, MERUEEREZSEEERDA F0.66% RERBEFBRILUEERER
is deemed to be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the Company held by CEBBERATANESTE - At ME
Tianshan Industry Investment Limited. AUEEREEGRERARAAHEB AN
Tianshan Industry Investment Limited FT#
MIZRAF) 462,400,740 BRAR AR AB EH
(4)  FELREEAR AR holds 46.36% equity interest in Khorgos Tianshan No.1 (4) HECRREAERARBAEBRRENRL—

Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership. ¥i@& g% & &R 27 also holds
30% equity interest in #TIERIUEZREESEEAR AT, Therefore, #i2 2 Ak
EBMRAF] is deemed to be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the Company
held by Tianshan Industry Investment Limited.
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NERTREARARBNEEEELEEEEZEE wholly owns FTIBSRIREARR
7). Therefore, MBHERECRARBNESEELESERZEE is deemed to
be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the Company held by Tianshan Industry
Investment Limited.

HERBEEREEEARETAT holds 30% equity interest in B RILEERE
ESEEERAF and is deemed to be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the
Company held by Tianshan Industry Investment Limited.

RHERREERHER2AF holds 33.11% equity interest in Khorgos Tianshan No.1
Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership. Further, BEREEERHER QA
wholly owns HERREXREEREMETAR. Therefore, BERREERNE
[ 2] is deemed to be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the Company held
by Tianshan Industry Investment Limited.

HRESHEBREMEAR, directly and indirectly through its subsidiaries, holds
51.17% equity interest in BERRERRNBER AR, Therefore, FRESRER
PREE/AF] is deemed to be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the Company
held by Tianshan Industry Investment Limited.

Tibet Water Resources Limited is held as to 100% by Maple Essence Investments
Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by True Asset Holdings Limited. Tibet
Water Resources Limited holds 437,410,960 shares in the Company. For
200,000,000 shares out of these 437,410,960 shares in the Company, please refer
to the Company’s announcement dated 14 November 2019.

Maple Essence Investments Limited holds 100% equity interest in Tibet Water
Resources Limited and is therefore deemed to be interested in the 437,410,960
shares in the Company in which Tibet Water Resources Limited is interested
in. Maple Essence Investments Limited is wholly-owned by True Asset Holdings
Limited.

True Asset Holdings Limited holds 100% equity interest in Maple Essence
Investments Limited, which in turn wholly-owns Tibet Water Resources Limited.
Therefore, True Asset Holdings Limited is deemed to be interested in 437,410,960
shares in the Company in which Tibet Water Resources Limited is interested in.
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FRETHRAEARARBNEBEEEER
EREZECRERAYREERREARD
Ao Bt MEATEARREARKIGH
BEEEEEEZ B 2R AR Tianshan
Industry Investment Limited P& HI A& A7)
462,400,740 fix i {5 A 2

HERREXRAERERETARBEN
BRLNEXREESEBRERRAAZ0%MK
T R AR Tianshan Industry Investment
Limited BT #5 & 8 45 2 & 462,400,740 f& i 17
FHEAER

HERREERNHBERRATDFEERRSTX
W—REXREESAREHVEE311% R
ot RERREERONDAERAAZE
BERBLREXREAEEBREMALA -
At RERREERMHERAFAHEAR
Tianshan Industry Investment Limited FT45 %5
)R E] 462,400,740 B A1 R A #E2S

FRESKEERETARNEELEBNE
RAMEBE)BRERELREERNER AR
51.17% MHE - At - FRESREBEREME
N AR AR Tianshan Industry Investment
Limited FT#5 A #) A2 7] 462,400,740 f% 1 15
hEEE R

FARKERER A B HEEREERDARF
H100% * BEREFR AR ATrue Asset
Holdings Limited 2 £# A - BHE/KERE
BB A ¥ B AR A 7)437,410,960 8% A% 15 °
BRI S AR R 437,410,960 B it 10 & A &Y
200,000,000 it fn - BLHARRBBHA=Z
T-NE+—ATRAZAE -

MEREERAAFAABKERERRAA
100% R4+ AR AREREKEREED
) FT#E A R 72 W0 R 1 7 437,410,960 AR AR 15
AR  MERABRATHETrue Asset
Holdings Limited 2 & A °

True Asset Holdings Limitedi® & il ER &
ARAFHEEEKERERRF100% K
1% o Ett > True Asset Holdings Limited #48
BREBKERERARMESESHAD
7437,410,960 (&A% 1 R A o
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(10)

(1

(13)

(14)

74

True Asset Holdings Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. WANG Peter Jian. Therefore,
Mr. WANG Peter Jian is deemed to be interested in 437,410,960 shares in the
Company in which Tibet Water Resources Limited is interested. For the purpose of
the SFO, the spouse of Mr. WANG Peter Jian is taken to have a duty of disclosure
in relation to the said 437,410,960 shares in the Company. The interest disclosed
by the spouse of Mr. WANG Peter Jian is that of Mr. WANG Peter Jian which
is deemed to be attributed to her pursuant to the SFO for disclosure purposes.
Nevertheless, she has no interest, legal or beneficial, in those shares in the
Company.

Wang Zhi holds 200,000,000 shares in the Company and wholly owns Advance
Mining Limited, which in turn holds 105,000,000 shares in the Company.
Therefore, Wang Zhi is interested or deemed to be interested in an aggregate of
305,000,000 shares in the Company.

Wholeking Holdings Limited is interested in 205,000,000 underlying shares in the
Company through holding convertible bonds issued by the Company which are
convertible into 205,000,000 shares in the Company upon full conversion at the
initial conversion price.

Hope Empire Limited wholly owns Wholeking Holdings Limited and is therefore
deemed to be interested in the 205,000,000 underlying shares in the Company in
which Wholeking Holdings Limited is interested.

HSBC International Trustee Limited as trustee of a discretionary trust of which Cai
Kui is the founder wholly owns Silverland Assets Limited, which in turn wholly
owns (a) Hope Empire Limited, which is deemed to be interested in 205,000,000
underlying shares in the Company and (b) Junson Development International
Limited, which is interested in 27,957,000 shares in the Company. Therefore, both
HSBC International Trustee Limited and Cai Kui are deemed to be interested in an
aggregate of 232,957,000 shares/underlying shares in the Company.
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(10)

(1

(13)

(14)

True Asset Holdings Limited i T B 424
A Al TREEHRARARKER
BIRARFTHEA &M A F 437,410,960
BRD P ER R - BT EHFRBEEIN
BR TBREENEBEETHZAAR
437,410,960 % A% 3 /F H IR 58 - T ER S48
REMEENESEmIRAEMBEEMN
MATEBENER REZEHRBEEH -
ZERGHERARTIRLENRE - A
- AR BEHZERARBRODES E[E

NP

R E R -

T EHAART 200,000,000 0D REEHE
BB ARRT] 105,000,000 B % 17 #) Advance
Mining Limited « Bt - TEEELHE RBHE
BADTEA 305,000,000 A B ©

Wholeking Holdings Limited & #7842 A
BITH AR EF (RBRRETEESR
A8 #% A KX 8] 205,000,000 D) - BB
7827 205,000,000 FRAE R AR 7 # 2

Hope Empire Limited% & # & Wholeking
Holdings Limited + [t #24% % Wholeking
Holdings Limited 7 # & # @& ) & 2 A
205,000,000 AR R 10 #E A 4 o

HSBC International Trustee Limited{f
BREERKIANBBEEIEOZTEA
2 & # 7ASilverland Assets Limited * 1
Silverland Assets Limited 24 ## (a) Hope
Empire Limited (32 2 71118 B B N2 &)
205,000,000 fR 18 #3 AR 7 A9 2 ) K (b) Junson
Development International Limited (FZ 2 7)1
BNAR 27,957,000 &AL B9 AR ) o Bt -
HSBC International Trustee Limited Jz££%15
WARAEAARARE 232,957,000 B (7
BRI R A o



The issue of the nil-paid rights shares to qualifying shareholders on 21
December 2022 pursuant to a rights issue was not taken into account in
the table above.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company were not aware of any other person
(other than the Directors and the chief executive of the Company) who
had, or was deemed to have, interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director
or an entity connected with a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

No contracts of significance between the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries, and a controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

No contracts of significance for the provision of services to the Company or
any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder of the Company or any
of its subsidiaries subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.
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DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the financial year or at the end of the financial year
has the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries been a party to any arrangement whose objects are, or one of
whose objects is, to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate, except for the Share Option Scheme and the Share Award
Scheme. No share options or share awards were granted to any Director
under the Share Option Scheme and the Share Award Scheme respectively.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Other than operating a Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and
participating in the state managed retirement benefit scheme in the PRC,
the Group has not operated any other retirement benefits schemes for the
Group's employees.

Details of the defined contribution pension scheme are set out in Note 12
of the consolidated financial statements on page 217 to 219 of this Annual
Report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set up by the
Board on the basis of their merit, qualification and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Group's operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

During the financial year and up to the date of this report, no Director is
considered to have interests in a business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, as
defined in the Listing Rules.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company existed during the
year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the financial year, sales to the Group's five largest customers and
purchases from the five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 71%
and 100% of the total sales and total purchases for the year, respectively.
The Group’s largest customer and supplier accounted for approximately
27% and 90% of the total sales and total purchases for the financial year,
respectively. Starting from 2021, the Group has centralized procurement
through its associate Fudi Packaging, in order to enhance the procurement
efficiency and reduce costs.

During the financial year, none of (i) the Directors or any of their close
associates, or (ii) any Shareholders (who, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, owned more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital),
had any interest in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any rights
in relation to, the shares of the Company, they are advised to consult their
professional advisors.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent of the Company pursuant to the
Listing Rules.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY'S INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

For the utilisation status of the net proceeds from the Company’s initial
public offering, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 12
August 2022.

ISSUANCE OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND USE OF PROCEEDS

On 2 February 2021, the Company entered into subscription agreements
(as amended by the supplemental agreements dated 23 February 2021)
with six corporate and individual investors, whereby the investors agreed
to subscribe for and the Company agreed to issue the Convertible Bonds
at a total cash consideration of HKD379,620,000. Assuming full conversion
of the Convertible Bonds at the initial conversion price of HKDOQ.74, the
Convertible Bonds will be convertible into 513,000,000 shares of the
Company, representing approximately 19.97% of the then issued share
capital of the Company and approximately 16.65% of the then issued
share capital of the Company as enlarged by the issue of the conversion
shares. The initial conversion price of HKDO0.74 per conversion share
represents the closing price of the shares of the Company of HKD0.74 per
share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 2 February 2021, being the
date of the subscription agreements. The Convertible Bonds were issued by
the Company to the investors in March 2021. The gross and net proceeds
(after deducting expenses) from the issue of the Convertible Bonds were
approximately HKD379,620,000 and HKD377,620,000, respectively and
were used for the repayment of the Group’ s borrowings according to
the intentions previously disclosed in the Company’ s announcement
dated 2 February 2021. For further details, please refer to the Company’ s
announcements dated 2 February 2021, 23 February 2021 and 29 March
2021.
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The Company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the production
and sales of premium bottled mineral water products and beer products
in the PRC. The Company sought to capitalize on the then market
environment for convertible bond issues to raise capital for the repayment
of the Group’ s borrowings. The Board had considered other alternative
fund-raising methods such as bank loan, rights issue or open offer. The
Board considered that bank loan may incur security pledging on the Group’
s assets and may be subject to lengthy due diligence and negotiations
with the banks with reference to the Group’ s financial position and the
then financial market condition and it may be relatively uncertain and
time-consuming. On the other hand, rights issue or open offer would
involve the issue of prospectus with other application and administrative
procedures (such as arrangements for nil-paid rights shares) which may
lead to relatively longer time and additional administrative cost to complete
as compared to the issue of Convertible Bonds.

As at 31 December 2022 and the date of this Annual Report, Convertible
Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of HKD22,644,000 had been
converted into a total of 30,600,000 shares of the Company and principal
amount of HK$356,976,000 was outstanding and convertible into
482,400,000 shares of the Company at the conversion price of HK$0.74
per conversion share. No Convertible Bonds have been redeemed,
purchased or cancelled.
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PLACING OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL MANDATE

On 24 June 2022, the Company entered into a placing agreement with SBI
China Capital Financial Services Limited, the placing agent, pursuant to
which the placing agent conditionally agreed to place up to 516,898,000
placing shares at the placing price of HK$0.425 per placing share to not
less than six institutional, corporate or independent individual investors
on a best effort basis. The placing price of HK$0.425 per placing share
represents: (i) a discount of approximately 9.57% to the closing price of
HK$0.47 per share of the Company as quoted on the Stock Exchange on
the date of the placing agreement; and (ii) a discount of approximately
9.38% to the average closing price of HK$0.469 per share of the Company
as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the last five consecutive trading
days immediately prior to the date of the placing agreement. Completion
took place on 21 July 2022. A total of 459,898,000 placing shares
were successfully placed to not less than six placees at the placing price
of HK$0.425 per placing share. The placing shares were issued under
the general mandate granted to the Directors by a resolution of the
Shareholders passed at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company
held on 11 August 2021. The placing shares have an aggregate nominal
value of HK$5,168,980 and represent (i) approximately 17.69% of the
issued share capital of the Company immediately before completion; and
(i) approximately 15.03% of the issued share capital of the Company as
enlarged by the allotment and issue of the placing shares immediately upon
completion. The gross proceeds from the Placing were HK$195,456,650
and the net proceeds, after deduction of the placing commission and other
related expenses of the placing, were approximately HK$193,500,000.
The net placing price is approximately HK$0.421 per placing share. The
net proceeds were used as to (i) 69% (approximately HK$133,500,000)
for repayment of the external debts of the Group; and (ii) the remaining
31% (approximately HK$60,000,000) for general working capital of the
Group according to the intentions previously disclosed in the Company's
announcement dated 21 July 2022. For details, please refer to the
Company's announcements dated 24 June 2022 and 21 July 2022.

The Board considered equity fundraising to be a suitable financing option
as compared with other means of financing as it enabled the Group to
raise capital in an efficient manner without increasing the interest burden
on the Group, strengthen its financial position and reduce the liquidity risk.
It also represented a good opportunity to broaden the capital base of the
Company.
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RIGHTS ISSUE

On 2 December 2022, the Company announced a rights issue of up to
1,019,797,000 rights shares at a price of HK$0.385 per rights share on
the basis of one rights share for every three existing shares held by the
qualifying shareholders on the record date, 20 December 2022, on a non-
underwritten basis. The subscription price represents, among other things,
a discount of 12.5% to the closing price of HK$0.44 per share of the
Company as quoted on Stock Exchange on the date of the announcement
of the rights issue. On the same day, the Company entered into a placing
agreement with SBI China Capital Financial Services Limited, the placing
agent, in relation to the placing of the unsubscribed rights shares to
independent placees on a best effort basis to dispose of the unsubscribed
rights shares.

The Board considered that it was essential, prudent and in the interests
of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole to raise additional fund
for working capital and repayment of external debts of the Group, so that
the Group would have sufficient financial resources to meet the financial
obligations when they fall due in the then following 18 months. The Board
had considered other debt/equity fund raising alternatives and considered
that the rights issue would allow the Group to strengthen its capital
structure without incurring additional debt financing cost. Furthermore,
the proceeds from the rights issue would enhance the cash position of the
Group and that the rights issue would allow all the qualifying shareholders
the equal opportunity to subscribe for their respective pro rata provisional
entitlement of the rights shares and hence avoiding dilution in their
shareholding interests in the Company. Therefore, the Board was of the
view that the Rights Issue was in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole.
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The rights issue and the placing were completed on 30 January 2023. An
aggregate of 1,019,797,000 rights shares (representing 100% of the total
number of 1,019,797,000 rights shares available for subscription under the
rights issue) were allotted and issued, out of which (i) 557,798,129 rights
shares were allotted and issued under valid acceptances of provisional
allotments of the rights shares; and (i) 461,998,871 rights shares were
allotted and issued to placees under the placing. The rights shares
represent (i) approximately 33.33% of the total number of issued shares
of the Company immediately before completion of the rights issue; and (ii)
25.00% of the total number of issued shares of the Company as enlarged
by the allotment and issue of the rights shares, and have an aggregate
nominal value of HK$10,197,970. The rights shares rank pari passu in all
respects with the other shares of the Company in issue. The net proceeds
from the placing received by the Company, after deducting all related
costs, fees, expenses and commission, were approximately HK$173.7
million, representing a net issue price of approximately HK$0.376 per
placing share. The aggregate net proceeds raised from the rights issue
(including the placing), after deducting all related costs, fees, expenses and
commission, were approximately HK$388 million.

For further details, please refer to the prospectus of the Company dated 21
December 2022 and the announcements of the Company dated 11 January
2023 and 27 January 2023.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Company had applied 70% of the
net proceeds from the rights issue (representing approximately HK$271.6
million) for the repayment of the external debts of the Group payable in
2023 and the remaining net proceeds of approximately HK$116.4 million
for the general working capital of the Group according to the intentions
previously disclosed by the Company.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the reasonable knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of its shares in the hands of
the public in accordance with the Listing Rules as at the Latest Practicable
Date.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations amounting to
approximately RMB98,000 (2021: RMB160,000).

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had reviewed the Group’s annual results for the year
ended 31 December 2022 and provided advice and comments thereon.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers resigned as the auditor of the Company whereas
HLB was appointed as the new auditor of the Company, both with effect
from 21 December 2020.

HLB has been re-appointed as the auditor of the Company with effect from
the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company held on 30
June 2022 to hold office until the conclusion of the next annual general
meeting of the Company. The consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2022 were audited by HLB, who will retire at the
conclusion of the forthcoming 2023 AGM and, being eligible, will offer
itself for re-appointment as external auditor of the Company.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions summarized in Note 45 to the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 did not
constitute connected transactions or continuing connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules except for the key management
compensation referred to in note 45(c) to the consolidated financial
statements (which were fully exempt pursuant to either Rule 14A.95 of
the Listing Rules or the de minimis exemption under Rule 14A.76(1) of the
Listing Rules.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2023 AGM is expected to be held in late June 2023. The Board would
advise further information in due course.

By order of the Board

Dr. ZHANG Chunlong
Chairman and Independent Non-Executive Director

30 March 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

31/F, Gloucester Tower
The Landmark
11 Pedder Street

HLB B M7 &<t F 5 A RN A
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

Central
Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tibet Water
Resources Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 95 to 290, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2022 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Boards (“IASB") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Impairment assessment of goodwill and investments accounted for using

the equity method

Refer to Notes 19 and 20 in the consolidated financial statements

( 4

The key audit matter
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill
arising on acquisition of businesses through acquisition
of subsidiaries and investments accounted for using
the equity method as a key audit matter due to the
significance of the balance to the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, combined with the significant
degree of judgments made by the management of
the Group associated with the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been
allocated and investments accounted for using the equity
method.

Management concluded that there is no impairment on
goodwill and investments accounted for using the equity
method. This conclusion was based on a value-in-use
model that required significant management judgement
with respect to the discount rate and the underlying
cash flows, in particular future revenue growth. An
independent external valuation was obtained in respect of
the impairment assessment on goodwill and investments
accounted for using the equity method in order to support
management'’s estimates.

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment of goodwill and investments accounted for
using the equity method included:

e Evaluating the independent external valuers’
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

®  Assessing the appropriateness of the valuation
methodology, key assumptions and estimates used
base on our knowledge of the relevant industry and
using our valuation experts;

e Challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions
based on our knowledge of business and industry;
and

e  Checking, on a sampling basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used.

We found that the management judgment and estimates
used to assess the recoverable amount of cash-generating
units and investments accounted for using the equity
method and determine the impairment provision were
supportable by available evidence.
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Allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables and other

financial assets at amortised cost

Refer to Notes 23 and 25 in the consolidated financial statements

(3

Key audit matter

BUREZRKABSGEATTENEREER
HEEBRRE
B2 A MBRRME 23 %25

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

As at 31 December 2022, the Group recorded the trade
receivables and other financial assets at amortised cost of
approximately RMB284,598,000 and RMB1,009,620,000
respectively before the loss allowance amounting to
approximately RMB94,099,000 and RMB29,392,000 has
been made on trade receivables and other financial assets
at amortised cost respectively.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and other financial
assets at amortised cost are based on management’s
estimate of the lifetime or 12-month expected credit
losses to be incurred, which is estimated by taking into
account the credit loss experience, ageing of overdue
trade receivables, customers’ and debtors’ repayment
history, collaterals and financial position and the
assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions, all of which involve significant
degree of management judgement and estimation.

We focused on this area due to the use of significant
management judgements and estimates included in the
allowance for expected credit losses assessment of trade
receivables and other financial assets at amortised cost
under the expected credit losses model involved.

Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment
on provision for allowance for expected credit losses of
trade receivables and other financial assets at amortised
cost included:

e Assessing whether items in the trade receivables
ageing report were classified within the appropriate
ageing bracket by comparing, on a sample basis,
individual items in the report with the relevant sales
invoices and credit terms;

*  Assessing the reasonableness of management’s loss
allowance estimates on trade receivables and other
financial assets at amortised cost by examining the
information used by management to form such
judgements, including on a sample basis, testing the
accuracy of the historical default data, evaluating
whether the historical loss rates are appropriately
adjusted based on current conditions and forward-
looking information and examining the actual
losses recorded during the current financial year
and assessing whether there was an indication of
management bias when recognising loss allowances;
and

e Assessing the reasonableness of recoverability
of trade receivables and other financial assets at
amortised cost with reference to historical utilisation
pattern and credit history of trade debtors including
default or delay in payments, settlement records,
subsequent settlements and ageing analysis

We found that the management judgment and estimates
used to assess the recoverability of the trade receivables
and other financial assets at amortised cost and determine
the allowance for expected credit losses provision were
supportable by available evidence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
BUBRRENRE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon (the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
Other Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.

AUDITORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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BYLHMRE

ERBEBETEIETETNBRIED &K
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We @B TEIE Ll - RIS TRERREE -
also: AR

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional

92

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
BUBRRENRE

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent

auditors’ report is Shek Lui.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Shek Lui
Practising Certificate Number: P05895

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BZE=T-—F+-A=1T—BILFE

(3
Notes 2022
B EE —E-CF
RMB'000
ARET T
Revenue WA 7 311,947
Cost of sales SHEMAK (221,063)
Gross profit EF 90,884
Selling and distribution costs HERNHER (29,765)
Administrative expenses T E R (74,947)
Allowance for expected credit CREEEHEEBERE
loss on financial assets (88,617)
Other gains, net Hinlzs - F 5 8 18,461
Operating (loss)/profit T (BRI (83,984)
Finance (cost)/income, net B (BA) /WA - T8 9 (2,439)
Share of result on investments FEL{E D EARKNEE
accounted for using the (&#8),/FIE
equity method 20 (10,694)
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETS A (EE) B (97,117)
Income tax expense St ER 10 (5,349)
(Loss)/profit for the year FEE(SE) /B 11 (102,466)
(Loss)/profit for the year EAREEABEEE
attributable to owners (B518),/ 778
of the Company (102,466)
(Loss)/earnings per share FAREEABEER
attributable to owners (F8]),/ BA
of the Company
- basic and diluted (RMB cents) - EXREE(ARESD) 13 (3.69)

2021
—E-—F
RMB’'000

ARETT

456,128
(265,175)

190,953
(53,476)
(72,366)

(54,236)
26,491

37,366
20,499

57,873
(10,919)

46,954

46,954

(restated)
(L E5))
1.84

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.

iR A B R BB BE NI P o —F B -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
ﬁv’?AEﬂﬂéEH&“i

( 4
Notes 2022 2021
U —B-CF i
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBETT
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(ER), /78 11 (102,466) 46,954

Other comprehensive (loss)/income:  Hfb2mE (&), WA :
Item that will not be reclassified BT AR R EF AR
subsequently to profit or loss: BmaEE -

Exchange differences on translation B EBRE B2 EBMHIEN =58
from functional currency

to presentation currency (36,512) 9,211
Fair value change on financial NAREESEAEEEHFTA

assets at fair value Hit 2 HB RN EMEE

through other comprehensive NABEZE

income 22 — 16,216
Other comprehensive (loss)/ FEEMBZEER) KA > NRHE

income for the year, net of tax (36,512) 25,427
Total comprehensive (loss)/ FRE2E(FR) WALHE

income for the year (138,978) 72,381
Total comprehensive (loss)/ ERREEAEGERZEER)

income attributable to owners LNt

of the Company (138,978) 72,381

The above consolidated statement of other comprehensive income should — _F il 474 H fth 2 [E U 25 2% 8 E2. 08 B B o — 6
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. BIE -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

meEMBERRE
As at 31 December 2022
RZBZZH+-A=+—-H

(3
Note 2022 2021
B aE —B-Cf —E_F
RMB'000 RMB’'000
AR®T R AREFT
Non-current assets *RBEE
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 27,126 27,077
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERRE 16 372,543 422,544
Intangible assets BREE 18 27,890 31,120
Goodwill Bk 19 721,139 721,139
Investments accounted for using FRESEARNEE
the equity method 20 1,443,916 1,416,403
Deferred tax assets RIEFTAEE 21 4,570 5,000
Prepayments SEENE /O] 24 8,057 8,130
Total non-current assets FRBEELRE 2,605,241 2,631,413
Current assets REBEE
Inventories & 26 106,538 90,591
Trade receivables U E 55K 23 190,499 254,657
Prepayments BRIA 24 199,480 129,580
Other financial assets at amortised cost VABE SRR ARGt E R E A
CREE 25 980,228 986,887
Financial assets at fair value through URAnBEEEHEE
profit or loss ERfeEE 27 — 2,000
Cash and cash equivalents BeRReEEY 28 58,147 53,818
Total current assets REEEMAE 1,534,892 1,517,533
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and notes payables ENE SRR ENEE 29 246,918 277,923
Deferred revenue EERA 30 2,374 2,374
Contract liabilities EREE 31 34,784 54,955
Tax payable FEfRiIR 36,258 32,382
Accruals and other payables BIRERNEHMEMNR 32 180,532 150,889
Bank borrowings RITHER 33 452,000 410,000
Lease liabilities HEBE 15 730 —
Total current liabilities REEEAE 953,596 928,523
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2022
RZEZZE+-A=+—H

(3
Note 2022 2021
B &k —E-CF —T--F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBETT
Net current assets REEETEHE 581,296 589,010
Total assets less current liabilities HEERARBEE 3,186,537 3,220,423
Non-current liabilities ¥ RBEE
Bank borrowings RITIER 33 — 75,000
Other payables HAth R 3K 32 — 16,000
Deferred revenue M A 30 11,394 13,768
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFTEEE 21 6,929 8,539
Lease liabilities HEBE 15 58 —
Convertible bonds - liability component BEEs-aEds 34 308,696 275,684
Total non-current liabilities ERBEEHEE 327,077 388,991
Net assets FEE 2,859,460 2,831,432
Capital and reserves BEXR#E
Share capital AR 35 25,580 21,618
Reserves A 2,833,880 2,809,814
Total equity attributable to owners KAREEANELEREE
of the Company 2,859,460 2,831,432
The consolidated financial statements on pages 95 to 290 are approved  $£95% 290 MG AMBHRREN T =

and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2023 and

are signed on its behalf by:

CHOW Wai Kit E &£

Director %

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to the owners of the Company

e

RERBEHR
For the year ended 31 December 2022
FTZA=T-HIEE

KRARE AR
Shares held Other
Share Share for share reserves Retained
capital premium  award scheme (Note 37) earnings Total equity
RROER Eftfte
& ROEE  FERSENRG (W3E37) Bl bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARBTR ARETR
Balance at 1 January 2021 WZE--5-5-B04H 21,363 1,225,214 (173,037) 162,096 1,486,472 2,722,108
Profit for the year FRH - - - - 46,954 46,954
Other comprehensive income/(loss): ~ Et2ERA/(FE
Fair value change on financial /&ﬁfﬁfﬁ‘fiﬂﬁxiﬂuﬁ\
assets at FVTOCI E2ENENERAE
MEE% - - - 16,216 - 16,216
Exchange differences on translation Pl ERRE AZF|EHA
from functional currency to EREE
presentation currency — — — 9,211 - 9,211
Total comprehensive income FREERALE
for the year — — — 25,427 46,954 72,381
Release upon derecognition of KIFBRAR BB EEE
financial assets at FVTOC| SO AR ENRSR
BERRE - — — (16,817) 16,817 —
Convertible bonds - equity component AR % —E 5 - - — 22,848 - 22,848
Deferred tax arising from nEREREENETHE
the Convertible Bonds — — — (3,770) - (3,770)
Shares issued upon conversion of RATRRESRERTHRN
the Convertible Bonds 255 18,771 — (1,161) - 17,865
Balance at 31 December 2021 and ~ WZB=-%+-A=1+-HR
1 January 2022 “ECCE-B-BHER 21,618 1,243,985 (173,037) 188,623 1,550,243 2,831,432
Loss for the year ERER = - - - (102,466) (102,466)
Other comprehensive loss: Eft2EEE
Exchange differences on translation ~ FIIEERRE AZF|EHA
from functional currency to EREE
presentation currency = = = (36,512) = (36,512)
Total comprehensive loss for ER2EFRAT
the year = - - (36,512) (102,466) (138,978)
Placing of new shares (Note 35) REMRG (i 35) 3,962 164,405 - - - 168,367
Transaction costs attributable to REHRHEEHRZHA
placing of new shares — (1,361) - — — (1,361)
Balance at 31 December 2022 WZB-Zf+-B=1-AHK
g 25,580 1,407,029 (173,037) 152,111 1,447,777 2,859,460
AR & R o B B 5k 8 B R B PN 5T — 61 BE

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= = EBE
MERETMER
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z__S+_A=t—HLHE

( 4
Note
B s
Cash flow from operating activities RETBRER
(Loss)/profit before income tax BrETSRAT(E1E),/FIE
Adjustments for: HE
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRESENE 1
Depreciation of PP&E ME - BERRENE 1
Amortisation of intangible assets BREESH 1
Amortisation of deferred income RPN §i]
Finance income BT IA
Finance cost HM%ER
Share of result of investments FEAG 5 AR E A BRAY
accounted for using the equity method REN 20
Loss on disposal of PP&E HEME - BELEEER 11
Gain on disposal of financial HENRAEEHNE
assets at FVTPL BHEEHH A AER
ERMAEEMN RS 8
Fair value changes of financial UWRnEBEEARE
assets at FVTPL SPABRNERERE
DREEED 8
Allowance for ECL on financial assets TRHAERBEEERER 1"
Loss on deregistration of an associate — I HSE & A RIS A A
B 20
Gain on disposal of an associate & — e A Al e M e 20
Write-down of inventories FEMA 8

Operating cash flows before
movement in working capital
Increase in inventories
Increase in trade receivables
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments and

other financial assets at amortised cost

Decrease in trade and notes payable
Increase in accruals and other payables

(Decrease)/increase in deferred revenue and

contract liabilities

EELSHBANKERTR

TR

PR E 555 I

TR FRIE RIA AR A B
WEMSREERD,/
(381m)

ENE SR RENEERD

IR E R KA A A FRIE 0

BERARERABECRD)
/2

2022
—E-C—F
RMB'000
ARET T

(97,117)

1,251
55,525
3,230
(2,374)
(35,202)

37,641

10,694

2,000
88,617

43
(1,780)
675

63,203
(16,622)
(22,485)

109,471
(31,006)
10,115

(20,171)

2021
—E-—F
RMB’'000

ARETT

57,873

865
57,926
13,165
(2,374)

(56,154)
35,655

(8)

24

(9,189)

9,517
54,236

612

162,148
(30,937)
(49,879)

(386,844)
(33,703)
238,910

150,730

100 TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2022



‘

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-"F+_A=t+—HIL%E

Note 2022 2021
Bt —EC-CE —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR® TR ARETT

Cash generated from operations RETHEENES 92,505 50,425
Interest received B U A S 11,996 56,154
Interest paid EEREAISS (15,093) (14,792)
Income taxes paid ERATEH (2,853) (9,626)
Net cash flows generated from RETBHEENRENEFE

operating activities 86,555 82,161
Cash flows from investing activities RETHHRER
Purchases of PP&E BEVE  WENRE (5,500) (6,068)
Loans granted to third parties BFE=HFIE (222,759) —
Repayments received from loans BRE=FER

to third parties 5,000 17,085
Cash received from deregistration of — B & 1 RIS S 1R

an associate BUE S 1,040 —
Dividend income received B S WA 13,647 —
Net cash flows (used in)/generated RETBH(FA) EEN

from investing activities HEeERTBE (208,572) 11,017
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-—F+-A=+-BL%E

(3
Note 2022 2021
PisE —B-CF —EC-—F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARBTT
Cash flows from financing activities MEETHRER
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITERATERIE 41 100,000 400,000
Repayments of bank borrowings BERITER 41 (133,000) (525,000)
Loans from third parties BEE=FER 41 14,842 6,391
Repayment of loans to third parties BREE=FEX 41 (21,083) (303,072)
Payments of lease liabilities HEABMNHK 41 (557) (150)
Proceeds from issuance of BT RRESFEHIA
the Convertible Bonds = 317,702
Proceeds from issue of new shares BB M ELE BT RM
pursuant to share placing FTiSRA 168,367 —
Transaction cost attributable to BITHRMD BIE R 5K
issue of new shares (1,361) —
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) BEFBHE,(FFAK
financing activities ReRFE 127,208 (104,129)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and BeRBLEEY
cash equivalents #i,/ R ) BE 5,191 (10,951)
Cash and cash equivalents FRELEEEFEY
at beginning of year 53,818 64,752
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [EXREE)F &5 (862) 17
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year &RBERBEEZEY 28 58,147 53,818
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in LR B R &R 2 5 FE BLREE R 5 — BF B
conjunction with the accompanying notes. & e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Law as an exempted company with limited liability on 8
November 2010. The address of its registered office is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
engaged in production and sales of water products and beer products
in PRC and provision of lending services to third parties in Hong Kong
with relevant license.

The Company's shares have been listed on the Stock Exchange since
30 June 2011.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB, which is
different from the Company’s functional currency HKD. The Directors
adopted RMB as presentation currency as the operational entities are
located in the PRC.

e MBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BECR-CFT-A-t-HLERR

—RER
ARNARZZE—EF+—AN\BRE
RAVERRAESHESTMA L RER
SERDA - FMPEEA MU R
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands ©

ARAR—HRERKRIR - XEE
ERENEEEREEKERLEH
Em THEEEHAHEBRRRS=
TR A E MR -

ARRMBROHBE-SE——&FX A=T
FEFER A £ o

BEMBREAAREZS  BRIR
ARBNNEEEET  HREEE
BURDE EFRBARBERZE
WEH o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-"H+-A=1+-HLEE

104

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO IFRSs

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current

year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments

to IFRSs issued by the IASB for the first time, which are mandatorily

effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2022

for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to IFRS 3

Amendment to IFRS 16

Amendments to IAS 16

Amendments to IAS 37

Amendments to IFRSs

Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use

Onerous Contracts -
Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
Annual Improvements to IFRSs
2018-2020

The application of the amendments to IFRSs in the current year

has had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and

performance for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures

set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO IFRSs (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

IFRS 17 (including the June 2020
and December 2021
Amendments to IFRS 17)

Amendments to IFRS 10

and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS 16

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS

Practice Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 12

Insurance Contracts'

Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or
Joint Venture?

Lease Liability in a Sale
and Leaseback?

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current?

Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants?

Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Definition of
Accounting Estimates’

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction’

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE-Z-—F+-A=+-BL%E

2 APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO IFRSs (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

The Directors anticipate that the application of all new and
amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs (which include all International Financial
Reporting Standards, IASs and Interpretations) issued by IASB. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary users. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for the financial assets at FVTPL and the
financial assets at FVTOCI, as explained in the accounting policies
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements (continued)
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share
based payment transactions that are within the scope of IFRSs 2
Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are within the scope
of IFRS 16 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2
Inventories or value in use in IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its
entirety, which are described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

* level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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108

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

*  has the power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

*  has the ability to use its power to affects its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control
of the subsidiary. Specifically, the results of subsidiaries acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in profit or loss from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the Company
ceases to control the subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of the subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with the
Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between the members of the Group are

eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately
from the Group's equity therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets
of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment.
Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Separate financial statements (continued)

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon
receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend exceeds
the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the
dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in
the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in
the consolidated financial statements of the investee's net assets
including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker.
The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments,
has been identified as the steering committee that makes strategic
decisions.

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which includes
an input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs. The acquired processes are
considered substantive if they are critical to the ability to continue
producing outputs, including an organised workforce with the
necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to perform the related
processes or they significantly contribute to the ability to continue
producing outputs and are considered unique or scarce or cannot
be replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability to
continue producing outputs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquire
and the equity interest issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.

For business combinations in which the acquisition date is on or
after 1 January 2022, the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed must meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued by International
Accounting Standards Board in March 2018 except for transactions
and events within the scope of IAS 37 or IFRIC 21, in which
the Group applies IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 instead of the Conceptual
Framework to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business
combination. Contingent assets are not recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the

liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition

date, except that:

deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or liabilities related
to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured
in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based payment at the acquisition
date (see the accounting policy below);

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discounted Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard; and

lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in IFRS
16 Leases) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which (a) the lease
term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b)
the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets are
recognised and measured at the same amount as the relevant
lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable
terms of the lease when compared with market terms.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity's net
assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction
basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are measured at their
fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement, the
contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value
and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwill.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from
additional information obtained during the 'measurement period’
(which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration
is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Other contingent
consideration is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting
dates with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
and measured under IFRS 9 would be accounted for on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had disposed directly of the
previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about
facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as
established at the date of acquisition of the business less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group's cash-generating units (or group of cash
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level at which the goodwill
is monitored for internal management purposes and not larger than
an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may be impaired.
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that
reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of cash-generating units).

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2022

GEVBBERNERELERTES
ATBCR(E)

i
BBRBELNBHENRBELEA
BUMKARRFREBR(NE)S
e o

RRENENE  BEENEERY
ARAHNBRRET RSN A EE
SEReELBU(IReELENA
Bl) MRAGELENIREELEN
ARERAMEEM S EEREAD
FREAEE D B SR IKF o

ESmEsknReELEU(RRE
ELEMARN)SFETRENARE
BRI REUR % E L] B R RUE R
ERBREHETRENR - RRE—
HERRBBELNREMNS @ BR
BENEMNRSELBU(IRTEL
BAAR) R Z & BEERAETH
EAH - WREELBU(REESL
BUAp) TR EERERT
{8 - BIE 550 BR (B 85 18 DURLIEAE 7]
AENEREE  ARRZELATE
BEMKREEMAELIDEEZEN
(FREELEVARN)NEMEE



‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Goodwill (continued)

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of the cash-
generating unit within the group of cash-generating units, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of
the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of
an operation within the cash-generating unit (or a cash- generating
unit within a group of cash-generating units), the amount of goodwill
disposed of is measured on the basis of the relative values of the
operation (or the cash-generating unit) disposed of and the portion
of the cash generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units)
retained.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and a joint venture is described below.

Investments in associates and joint ventures
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint
venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures are
incorporated in these financial statements using the equity method
of accounting, except when the investment is classified as held for
sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discounted Operations. Any retained
portion of an investment in an associate or a joint venture that has
not been classified as held for sale continues to be accounted for
using the equity method. The financial statements of associates and
joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity
method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or
joint venture. Changes in net assets of the associate/joint venture
other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership
interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of
an associate or joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that
associate or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost
of the investment over the Group's share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the
investment in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired. When
any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance
with 1AS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount
of the investment subsequently increases.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate
or joint control over or joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest
in the former associate or joint venture and the retained interest is
a financial asset within the scope of IFRS 9 Financial instrument, the
Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and
the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint
venture and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds
from disposing of a part interest in the associate or joint venture is
included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the
associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would
be required if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate or joint
venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss
from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon
disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate or joint venture.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of
the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate or joint venture are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint
venture that are not related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Changes in the Group's interests in associates and joint ventures

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment
in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or an
investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate.
There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in
ownership interests.

When the Group increases its ownership interest in an associate or
a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method,
goodwill is recognised at acquisition date if there is excess of the
consideration paid over the share of carrying amount of net assets
attributable to the additional interests in associates or joint ventures
acquired. Any excess of share of carrying amount of net assets
attributable to the additional interests in associates or joint ventures
acquired over the consideration paid are recognised in the profit or
loss in the period in which the additional interest are acquired.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a
joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method, the
Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss
that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Changes in the Group's interests in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of
the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group's consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or
joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers and other income

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying
the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. FEVBBRNGEREERTIES
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES TR (&)
(CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers and other income (continued) BEFENRBRHEMKA(E)
Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time e a TR —IERAE - EFIEE
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the —BERAEY  mMlaBRgk—
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is BREBNETKEEBENEETNER
met: #IT
the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits i RAREBRAREFREKER R
provided by the Group's performance as the Group performs; R B ANE BB QAT R E F
=
ii.  the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset that i. AEEBRABRREAREEE
the customer controls as the Group performs; or BRRSHEFPEHNNEE %
ii. the Group's performance does not create an asset with an i. AEEROVTEELUASEER
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable BRAZWEE BAKEN=E
right to payment for performance completed to date. ARt  UXNESER

KIEB D HOFRIR o

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the BRI WaEREPEGHBERN MR
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service. T e 1 RS B AR o

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer EREEEASERNEPEERSE
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received BEUEBEFREB(RRERHERN)H
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the EmREHEE ©

customer.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers and other income (continued)
(a) Sales of goods — wholesale

The Group manufactures and sells a range of water products and
beer products in the wholesale market. The Group also sells raw
materials and consumables to associates and third parties. Sales
are recognised at a point in time when control of the products has
transferred, being when the products are delivered to the customers,
the customers have full discretion over the channel and price to sell
the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect
the customers’ acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when the
products have been shipped to the specified location; the risks of
obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the customers.

(b)  Sales of goods — water cards

Sales of water products to certain distributors or end customers
are made in form of water cards. Under the Water Cards Sales
Arrangement with the distributors, the distributors sell the water
cards to the end customers and use the logistics network, which
is designed by the Group with the Group’s long-term cooperative
logistics suppliers, to deliver water products to the designated
locations at the request of the end customers when the water cards
are redeemed before the expiry dates; and relevant logistics expenses
are charged to the Group. Sales of goods under the Water Cards
Sales Arrangement are deferred as the Group has ultimate obligations
towards the card holders. Sales of goods under the Water Cards
Sales Arrangement are recognised at a point in time when the water
cards are redeemed by the end customers and the water products are
delivered, or when the water cards are expired, whichever is earlier.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers and other income (continued)
(c) Interest income

The Group provides money lending services to third parties in Hong
Kong with relevant license and earns interest as revenue. Related
interest income is recognised in a time proportion basis using
effective interest method.

(d) Rental income

Rental income from leasing of production lines is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the lease.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application of IFRS 16 or arising from business combinations, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under IFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition
date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the
terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease
components from lease component, and instead account for the lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a single
lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of premises and office equipments that have a lease term of
12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease
of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis
or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

* any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,

less any lease incentives received,

* any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

*  an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities other than adjustments to lease
liabilities resulting from Covid-19-related rent concessions in which
the Group applied the practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease
term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the
useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on straight-
line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease
term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under IFRS 9 and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable;

* variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

* amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
value guarantees;

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

*  payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. FEVBBRNGEREERTIES

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES TR (&)

(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued) HE (&)

The Group as a lessee (continued) FEEEREABA(E)

Lease liabilities (continued) HERE(E)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by N BEE  HEGEREMNSE

interest accretion and lease payments. REEENTETRAE

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding RUATER AEEgEHFERE

adjustment to the related right-of- use assets) whenever: BR(THAECRAEEEELERESR

)

e the lease term has changed or there is a change in the o TAHMBMEHNITREERERE
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the M hEES L EZBRATE
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised BHERBERULEITHENR
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of EREFTE ARSI R
reassessment. KETHIRMEBEINTE °

e the lease payments change due to changes in market rental s HMENFRETMEHEATR
rates following a market rent review/expected payment under mEHEeR BERFSEET
a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the related lease BHNREHMLIRZS - Tkt
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments BAT HHEHEEGBEERNR
using the initial discount rate. BRI RETHENRME

HEtE o

Lease liabilities HEERE

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the AEEEGAMBRARPHEIEES

consolidated statement of financial position. BEEREBHNIEBIR
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the Group
applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts for a lease
modification as a separate lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the
right to use one or more underlying assets; and

* the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand- alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand- alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities and
lease incentives from lessor by making corresponding adjustments to
the relevant right-of-use asset.

When the modified contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease component
on the basis of the relative standalone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Changes in the basis for determining the future lease payments as a
result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the future lease payments
as a result of interest rate benchmark reform, the Group applies the
practical expedient to remeasure the lease liabilities by discounting
the revised lease payments using the unchanged discount rate, unless
the change in lease payments results from a change in floating
interest rates. In that case, the Group uses the revised discount rate
that reflects change in the interest rate and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets. A lease modification is
required by interest rate benchmark reform if, and only if, both of
these conditions are met:

e the modification is necessary as a direct consequence of interest
rate benchmark reform; and

e the new basis for determining the lease payments is
economically equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. the basis
immediately preceding the modification).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct consequence
of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has elected to apply the
practical expedient not to assess whether the change is a lease
modification if all of the following conditions are met:

e the change in lease payments results in revised consideration
for the lease that is substantially the same as, or less than, the
consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change;

e any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally
due on or before 30 June 2021; and

e there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of
the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes in
lease payments resulting from rent concessions the same way it
would account for the changes applying IFRS 16 if the changes are
not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments
are accounted for as variable lease payments. The related lease
liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with
a corresponding adjustment recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which the event occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance
lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under IFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part
of the original terms and conditions are accounted for as lease
modifications, including lease incentives provided through forgiveness
or reduction of rentals.

RERBERME
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_H+-B=1+-HI#E

GEVBBERNERELERTES
ATBCR(E)

HE&E)

FEEES LB

HERERHE
AEEESEEAZEEE Y ERE
BREL2HE - NHEZ GRS
BERBREN® 2BAMD AR NE
REBEARAE  ZHENDIER
BMEHRE - AEMEEN I BERK
2HE -

REHEZHS WA RBBHESF
HMUABEGRENBRAER - BER K
ZHEEREREL NP ERKA
DMABREBEZREE - M&FK
AR HEHFRERERARAZ
EREBEANEERUFEZRENE
RIBRAN o

TREMERE

BRI REHREREREBDRH K
RELNFIRABRRNTRLAE
B E - RSERIBHRABELE
8 B A B AR AR A FE
HERRK -

BEET

13k B R R — B0 2 BE A
OREZD  DAREAREET
DEEAEEALARR RN IEE
g

BREAKERARAA | £ 2022 133



—

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE-Z-—F+-A=+-BL%E

134

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor (continued)

Lease modification (continued)

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a
new lease from the effective date of the modification, considering
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease
as part of the lease payments for the new lease.

For rent concession under which the Group legally releases the lessee
from its obligation to make specifically identified lease payment, of
which some of these lease payments are contractually due but not
paid and some of them are not yet contractually due, the Group
accounts for the portions which have been recognised as operating
lease receivables (i.e. the lease payments which are contractually due
but not paid) by applying the ECL and derecognition requirements
under IFRS 9 and applies lease modification requirements for the
forgiven lease payments that the Group has not recognised (i.e.
the lease payments which are not yet contractually due) as at the
effective date of modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entities,
transactions in currencies other than functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a
foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely
to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign
operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive
income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or
partial disposal of the Group's interests in associates.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (continuead)

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the
assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Income and expense
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in a currency translation
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group's
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation or a partial
disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that
includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes
a financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in a
currency translation reserve in respect of that operation attributable
to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation that does not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests
and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals
(i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do
not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control),
the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss. Settlements of monetary items which
formed part of net investment in foreign operations without changes
in Group's ownership interests is not considered as partial disposals.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (continuead)

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the Group’s net
assets in HKD to the Group's presentation currency (i.e. RMB) are
recognised directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in currency translation reserve. Such exchange differences
accumulated in the currency translation reserve are not reclassified to
profit or loss subsequently.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets
and liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the general
borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on general
borrowings. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current
assets (including property, plant and equipment) are recognised as
deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial position
and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis
over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants relate to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are presented under
“other gains, net” line item.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Termination benefit

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of
when the Group entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the
termination benefit and when it recognises any related restructuring
costs.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another IFRS requires or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any
amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee benefits
are measured at the present value of the estimated future cash
outflows expected to be made by the Group in respect of services
provided by employees up to the reporting date. Any changes in the
liabilities" carrying amounts resulting from service cost, interest and
remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent
that another IFRS requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of an
asset.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Employee benefits

The employee benefit expenses mainly include salary, bonus,
allowances and other expenditures incurred in exchange for the
employee services. All employee benefit obligations are recognised
during the period when the services are provided, and charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss or included in the cost of the
related assets.

(a)  Pension obligations - defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group
pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Group has no
legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the
fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits
relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.

The Group pays contributions to publicly or privately administered
pension insurance plans on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary
basis. The Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as
employee benefit expenses when they are due. Prepaid contributions
are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a
reduction in the future payments is available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Employee benefits (continued)
(b)  Housing funds, medical insurances and other social insurances

Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled to participate in
various government-supervised housing funds, medical insurance
and other employee social insurance plan. The Group contributes on
a monthly basis to these funds based on certain percentages of the
salaries of the employees, subject to certain ceilings. The Group's
liability in respect of these funds is limited to the contributions
payable in each period.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and other
providing similar services are measured at fair value of the equity
instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined
at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is
expensed to profit or loss on a straight line basis over the vesting
period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that
will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share
held for share award scheme). At the end of the reporting period,
the Group revises its estimates of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-market
vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to the shares held for share award
scheme.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Share-based payments (continued)

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised
in the shares held for share award scheme will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in the shares held for share award scheme will
be transferred to retained earnings.

When shares granted are vested, the amount previously recognised in
share-based payments reserve will be transferred to other reserve.

Taxation
The income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in profit or loss
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2022

GEVBBERNERELERTES
ATBCR(E)

ERROOSRE)
RITEBIRE R - EAR Rk %
B ESANRNBERZ 2 BERER
ERMEE - EBRENFE B KK
R & W B B R ETTEE - SEA
R AR BRE A 8155 A M B in FE R
RERERERERF

EERONBNEER  ZARER
BONTREEERNSESERE
Hibff o

B
PRGBS He 3R B R B IR S T 7Y
TRH AR o

BB HE

IR S B B IE 0 R F N B ER B AT
B ERTURFHEBREANEMAFF
EAR DRRETBEEGBEEE
A AT M AR AL FZIEE koK
NERMETAINBMER T - &
SENRBEHREETXIEREE
TZBEAEBRRIELEE



‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each
reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right- of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax (continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies IAS 12 Income Taxes
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and over the
lease terms due to application of the initial recognition exemption.
Temporary differences arising from subsequent revision to the
carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, resulting
from remeasurement of lease liabilities and lease modifications, that
are not subject to initial recognition exemption are recognised on the
date of remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current tax and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred
tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. FEVBBRNGEREERTIES
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES TR (&)
(CONTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment N - BEREE
Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held ME - - BERRERFEEEEIM
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for EEMIRBEXTHEAENELE
administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment are stated EoWE BERSERKAEER
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less RAWMEREEZRRESE(WE)
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated REEMBERRAKRIEE - BLEARE
impairment losses, if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is EWEZSHE EREENRS

directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or BERAECRIEAAEETRA
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is I8 B AR KRR ERN & M %E B
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item RAREF ERt BN - T ABEDN
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured FHESBRRAR—BHEBAEE(NHE
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. )  EERIBOHREERILER -
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated FIAEEMBEENGEEERERELN
statement of profit or loss during the financial period in which they MBHRRGEBRERP X -

are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate FTENERZFE  BEEEENK
their cost less accumulated impairment losses of each asset to their AR B REBEE TG EASF
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows: MO EERBEE :

Buildings 12-40 years BF 12E 405
Machinery 5 to 15 years Hes 5Z 154
Vehicles 3 to 8 years B 3ZE8F
Furniture and equipment 3 to 5 years REREE 3ESF
Others 10 to 20 years Hit 10E20F
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within “Other
gains, net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

CIP represents buildings, plant and machinery under construction or
pending installation and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Cost includes the costs of construction and acquisition
and capitalised borrowing costs. No provision for depreciation is
made on CIP until such time as the relevant assets are completed and
ready for intended use. When the assets concerned are available for
use, the costs are transferred to property, plant and equipment and
depreciated in accordance with the policy as stated above.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses, if any.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of investment
properties over their estimated useful lives and after taking into
account of their estimated residual values using the straight-line
method.

Investment property is transferred to owner-occupied property
when there is a change in use as evidenced by the commencement
of owner occupation. Owner-occupied property is transferred to
investment property when there is a change in use as evidenced by
end of owner-occupation.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use or no future
economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the item is
derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised
separately from goodwill are recognise initially at their fair value at
the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the
same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

Trade name

Trade name acquired in a business combination is recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date. Trade name has a finite useful life
and is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of trade
name over their estimated useful lives of 18.2 years.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination (continued)
Distribution network

Distribution network acquired in a business combination is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. The distribution network has a
finite useful life of 8 years and is carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method over the expected life of the distribution network.

Information system

Information system acquired in a business combination is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. The information system has a
finite useful life of 5 years and is carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method over the expected life of the information system.

Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses
arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset
is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets excluding goodwill

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of
its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).
Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent
from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets
are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets excluding goodwill (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted average
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include
incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental
costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with IFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities
at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the Group's ordinary course
of business are presented as revenue.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at FVTOCI:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows
and selling; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except
that at the date of initial application/initial recognition of a financial
asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive income
if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which IFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

154 TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2022

GEVBBERNERELERTES
ATBCR(E)

$MIAE)

ETHEE

LHEEDHR E B S
HEATHRENEREELRRER
FRAGHE

° REMNABKIRENREREZE
BRAANBEZSHEE &

s ANBREENETERHELC
RenBAEREINAERA
EEREEME -

AT R ZEREERRUAR
BEFEREZHTARLEZE RS

e
v REHARMETANRERE

FHEZEBRANREZEE
BE: R

|-H> fa i%*r*

S
=3
A

BT

BYNBERBELZ
MEREINAERA
B E

& o)
BE K> 2%

il

o

%ﬁﬁ@%@ﬁ? LERARSEER

BEEFHFABRFAE  ERBEAR
?xé“ﬂfﬁ#?ﬂ’ﬁm * TR IEEIRR 3 5 R
HERAFIREBAGHIERZER
AHKBITERZEANRRE  RER
R/ MNSBEALMEEER K&
s AN B R R AR E 2
HROANBEEFINEMEZABAZ
e



‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the
near term; or

* on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and has
a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

e it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.

() Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below).
For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the determination that the asset is
no longer credit-impaired.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Classification _and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(continued)

(i) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes
in fair value recognised on other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve; and are not
subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss
will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investments, and will be transferred to retained earnings.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right to receive the
dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are included
in the "other gains, net” line item in profit or loss.

(iii) ~ Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are measured at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised
in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is
included in the “other gains, net” line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on
financial assets which are subject to impairment assessment under
IFRS 9 (including trade receivables, other financial asset at amortised
cost, restricted bank deposits and cash at bank). The amount of ECL
is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
is expected to result from default events that are possible within
12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on
the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
without significant financing component. The ECL on trade
receivables with significant balances or credit impaired are assessed
individually and the remaining trade receivables are assessed
collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate age groupings.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(1)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when

assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor's
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial

recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past

due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information

that demonstrates otherwise.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes
a party to the irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date
of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing the financial
instrument for impairment. In assessing whether there has been a
significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of a
financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers the changes in the
risk that the specified debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

(i) Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default
for internal credit risk management purposes as historical experience
indicates that financial assets that meet either of the following
criteria are generally not recoverable:

e when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor; or

e information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collateral held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 180 days past
due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RERBERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. HEAMBBRNGEREERTES

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES TR (&)

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued) CRMIAE)

Financial assets (continued) THEEE)

Impairment of financial assets (continued) EHEEZHEE)

(iii)  Credit-impaired financial assets (i) EERELHEE

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that RN ZEHSREEMTRKE

have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that EMEBERTINEEZ EMHEER

financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit- IRZXeMEECHREERE - &

impaired includes observable data about the following events: REELREERECEREBEIR
UATEHZIBREE

*  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower; o  BITAUERAHRERMBIKE :

e abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event (see (ii) o BERAKN MEHNLBASEMH(2E L

above); (i) ;

e the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual s REBEFRAELERZERALRER
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having PAVBRBEERAIEEXRENE
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) B RTERAEEMBERTIEGHE
would not otherwise consider; ﬁzgg// ;

e it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy o MERABAEBRENETHMIKE
or other financial reorganisation; or 4

o the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset s SMEEZERMSRMBEEEMHE
because of financial difficulties. %o
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings,
or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over 180
days past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The Group uses
a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade receivables using
a provision matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to make
payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in accordance
with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly,
the expected losses is the present value of the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts
that the Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or any
other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the effective
interest rate cannot be determined, the Group will apply a discount
rate that reflects the current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risks that are specific to the cash flows but only if,
and to the extent that, the risks are taken into account by adjusting
the discount rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being
discounted.

(v)
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases where
evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet be available,
the financial instruments are grouped on the below basis:

e Nature of financial instruments;

o Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
e External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based on the amortised cost
of the financial asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances are recognised
at the higher of the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with IFRS 9; and the amount initially recognised less,
where appropriate, cumulative amount of income recognised over the
guarantee period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables and other financial assets at amortised cost where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability
for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is
transferred to retained earnings.
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166

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company's own equity instruments is recognised
and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s
own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and notes payables, accruals and
other payables, bank borrowings and lease liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Financial quarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to
make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their
fair values and measured subsequently at the higher of:

o the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance
with IFRS 9; and

* the amount recognised initially less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee period.

Convertible loan notes

The component parts of the convertible loan notes are classified
separately as financial liability and equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument. A conversion option that
will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another
financial asset for a fixed number of the Company's own equity
instruments is an equity instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Convertible loan notes (continued)

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component
(including any embedded non-equity derivatives features) is estimated
by measuring the fair value of similar liability that does not have an
associated equity component.

A conversion option classified as equity is determined by deducting
the amount of the liability component from the fair value of the
compound instrument as a whole. This is recognised and included in
equity, net of income tax effects, and is not subsequently remeasured.
In addition, the conversion option classified as equity will remain in
equity until the conversion option is exercised, in which case, the
balance recognised in equity will be transferred to share premium.
Where the conversion option remains unexercised at the maturity
date of the convertible note, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to share premium. No gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss upon conversion or expiration of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible loan notes
are allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion
to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating
to the equity component are charged directly to equity. Transaction
costs relating to the liability component are included in the carrying
amount of the liability portion and amortised over the period of the
convertible loan notes using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

When the Group exchanges with the existing lender one debt
instrument into another one with the substantially different terms,
such exchange is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original
financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability.
Similarly, the Group accounts for substantial modification of terms of
an existing liability or part of it as an extinguishment of the original
financial liability and the recognition of a new liability. It is assumed
that the terms are substantially different if the discounted present
value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid
net of any fees received and discounted using the original effective
rate is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present
value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. If
the modification is not substantial, the difference between: (1) the
carrying amount of the liability before the modification; and (2) the
present value of the cash flows after modification is recognised in
profit or loss as the modification gain or loss within other gains and
losses.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made by the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of
the time value of money is material).

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not
probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or the
amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably. A contingent
liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements. When a change in the probability
of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, they will then be
recognised as a provision.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated statement

of financial position include:

(a)

cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits,
excluding bank balances that are subject to regulatory
restrictions that result in such balances no longer meeting the
definition of cash; and

cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally
with original maturity of three months or less), highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting
short-term cash commitments rather than for investment or

other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined

above.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Share capital and shares held for share award scheme

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares or options are shown
in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where the Company’s shares are acquired from the market by the
Bank of Communications Trust Limited for share option scheme, the
total consideration of shares acquired from the market (including
directly attributable incremental costs) is presented as shares held for
share award scheme.

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group if:

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to
the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of key management personnel of the Group
or the Company's parent.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2022

GEVBBRNEREERTIES
SRR (E)

&$&%Eﬁﬁ@*JﬁﬁWﬁﬁ
LaRR D BSHED ERFBRET
e @h%%%mﬁﬁﬁ$ﬁﬁéi
DR SRR D (EINRTR)

i 2 BIRITIEFER R D A FLAE AT
EmEBEALRAIRD - BIETS
BENBRDNERE(BRERREN
SRS ) 251 R SRR IS A 6
Bty o

BEAL
WBATER  MBEALRELRE
EEREZEALERE

@ MHEBATAL  BIZALHZA
P ik QL) h

() RIS RE
(i) HAFEEEATE X

(i) RAEEXRARFENEA
RIZEREEAR -



‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RERBERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. HENBBRNGEREERIES
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES TR (&)

(CONTINUED)

Related parties (continued) BEAL(E)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following (b) fm”\Tﬁlﬁ_jcﬁﬂ - BlZERE

conditions applies: HEAREE S

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group iy ZEBEAEEAR-
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow BRI ERRI(IE Bilktﬁ’lﬁ
subsidiary is related to the others). NE - MWEBABMREZRM

BARIEBEE) -

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other (i) —RERLRZ TEMNK
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a ERAIHAERE(HRS
group of which the other entity is a member). —ERMBEEBETKE

NEMBERAREE D
R

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party. (i) MREERA—F=ZAHK
BEDE-

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other vy —REBRE=-FTHEE
entity is an associate of the third entity. ¥ ME-—EBRLE

=HHEERE] .

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the (v ZEBAASEYHEAL
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity EEHENER EER
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, BEREFEE - WAEE
the sponsoring employers are also related to the Group. AEBEEZ:TE  RHE
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Related parties (continued)
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (continued)

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group
or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when
there is a transfer of resources or obligations between related parties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of
accounting estimates, which, by definition, will seldom equal the
actual results. Management also needs to exercise judgement in
applying the Group's accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom
equal the actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.

(a) Depreciation

The Group's management determines the residual value, useful
lives and related depreciation charges for its property, plant and
equipment and investment properties. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual residual value and useful lives of
property, plant and equipment as well as investment properties of
similar nature and functions. It could change significantly as a result
of technical innovations and competitor actions in response to severe
industry cycles. Management will increase the depreciation charge
where residual value or useful lives are less than previous estimates,
or it will write-off technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that
have been abandoned or sold. The current estimated useful lives are
stated in Note 3.

4.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the current and deferred tax
assets and liabilities in the period in which such determination is
made.

Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact on the recognition of deferred tax assets and
taxation in the periods in which such estimates are changed.

Dividends derived from the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC earned
after 1 January 2008 are subject to withholding tax at the rate of
5%-10%. The Group reassessed its needs to make distributions out
of its subsidiaries in the PRC. As a result, withholding income tax has
been provided for the undistributed profits to the extent they are
expected to be distributed in future.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences are
recognised as management considers it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(¢) Impairment review
(i) Gooawill arising from acquisition of a subsidiary —-Tiandi Green
(Note 19)

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of CGUs to which goodwill has been
allocated, which is the higher of the value in use or fair value less
costs of disposal. The value in use calculation requires the Group
to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating unit (or a group of cash-generating units) and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where the
actual future cash flows are less than expected, or change in facts
and circumstances which results in downward revision of future cash
flows or upward revision of discount rate, a material impairment loss
or further impairment loss may arise.

The goodwill of approximately RMB721,139,000 was generated
from acquisition of a controlling stake in Tiandi Green in 2014.
Tiandi Green was viewed as one CGUs within the beer segment. The
recoverable amount of the CGUs is determined based on value-in-use
calculations, which is based on discounted cash flow sourced from
the financial budgets approved by the management covering a 5-year
period, and the pre-tax discount rate of approximately 15.79% (2021:
14.5%) that reflects current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the CGUs. Cash flows beyond 5-year
period have been extrapolated using 3% (2021: 3%) growth rate
per annum. Other assumptions included budgeted income estimated
based on the past performance and management’s expectations of
market developments, etc.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(c) Impairment review (continued)
(i) Gooawill arising from acquisition of a subsidiary —-Tiandi Green
(Note 19) (continued)

The recoverable amount is significantly above the carrying amount of
goodwill. Management believes that any reasonably possible change
in any of these assumptions would not result in impairment. As such,
no impairment loss had been recognised for the goodwill arising from
acquisition of Tiandi Green for the year ended 31 December 2022.

(i) Investment in an associate — Highland Natural Water

As at 31 December 2022, in view of the operating performance of
the associate — High Natural Water, the Group performed impairment
assessment on the associate — High Natural Water. Determining
whether impairment loss should be recognised requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of the relevant associate which is the
higher of value-in-use and fair value less costs of disposal.

This valuation uses cash flow projections based on financial
estimates covering a five-year period, and a pre-tax discount rate of
approximately 14.73% (2021: approximately 12.6%). The cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a steady 3.0%
(2021: 3.0%) growth rate. In cases where the actual cash flows are
less or more than expected, or change in facts and circumstances
which result in revision of future cash flows estimation or discount
rate, a material reversal or further recognition of impairment may
arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in
which such a reversal or further recognition takes place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(c) Impairment review (continued)
(i) Investment in an associate — Highland Natural Water (continued)

The recoverable amount is significantly above the carrying amount
of investment in Highland Natural Water. Management believes that
any reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions would
not result in impairment. As such, no impairment loss had been
recognised for the investment in Highland Natural Water for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

(iii) Investment in an associate — Shannan Yalaxiangbu

As at 31 December 2022, in view of the operating performance of the
associate — Shannan Yalaxiangbu, the Group performed impairment
assessment on the associate — Shannan Yalaxiangbu. Determining
whether impairment loss should be recognised requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of the relevant associate which is the
higher of value-in-use and fair value less costs of disposal.

This valuation uses cash flow projections based on financial
estimates covering a five-year period, and a pre-tax discount rate of
approximately 14.28% (2021:12.4%). The cash flows beyond the
five-year period are extrapolated using a steady 3.0% (2021:3.0%)
growth rate. In cases where the actual cash flows are less or more
than expected, or change in facts and circumstances which result in
revision of future cash flows estimation or discount rate, a material
reversal or further recognition of impairment may arise, which would
be recognised in profit or loss for the period in which such a reversal
or further recognition takes place.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(c) Impairment review (continued)
(ifi)  Investment in an associate — Shannan Yalaxiangbu (continued)

The recoverable amount is significantly above the carrying amount
of investment in Shannan Yalaxiangbu. Management believes that
any reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions would
not result in impairment. As such, no impairment loss had been
recognised for the investment in Shannan Yalaxiangbu for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

(iv)  Trade receivables and other financial assets at amortised cost

Allowance for ECL on trade receivables and other financial assets
at amortised cost are based on assumptions about risk of default
and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well
as forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.

Allowance of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. Due to greater
financial uncertainty triggered by the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group
has increased the expected loss rates in the current year as there is
higher risk that a prolonged pandemic could led to increased credit
default rates. Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are
disclosed in the tables in Note 5.1(b).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(d) Fair value measurement of financial instruments

As at 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s unquoted equity
investment was nil (2021: RMB2,000,000) are measured at fair
value with fair value being determined based on unobserved inputs
using valuation techniques. Judgment and estimation are required in
establishing the relevant valuation techniques and the relevant inputs
thereof. Changes in assumptions relating to these factors could
affect the reported fair values of these instruments. Details of the key
assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in the tables in Note 5.3.

(e) Provision for financial guarantee contracts

The Group makes estimate on costs required to fulfil the relevant
obligation of guarantee contracts when the guaranteed amount
is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Such estimation
is based on the available information as at reporting date and is
determined by the Group’s practical experience, the default history,
the collateral held and financial position of relevant customers
assessed on an individual basis in the industry and taking into
consideration of industry information and market data. Where the
actual obligation the Group requires to fulfill is more than expected,
a material provision may arise. Amount of corporate guarantee
provided by the Group is disclosed in Note 44(b).

RERBERME
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_H+-B=1+-HI#E

BEstERNEE)

(d SBMIANAAEENE

R-_E-__F+-A=+—H" £&§
BETHELETREREAT(ZSZ—
£ AR#2,000,0007T) IR A RME
B2 AABEDEKABERER
BAABRGAEET - EELHME
BERMN AR ASE LT EED
HIET R b5t - WEZEREABA IR
REREE HAgE2zSTIAZE
WMANEBE - IABERBEIBAE
KRB H BRI S 3MKRIE ©

(e) HMBERENEMEERE
AEBEERZFHUTFRELERER
B BEITRERAOBEREERBAFN
AR A ET - ZbERNRE R
WRBER  BAKRBNAKREZE
BER - HERPZERCE - i
BERBREBRR  L2ETEER
Emig8E - KITERRENZE%E
AR EL - EAKERTELMS
BITNERZBE LR - aE
FEXBE AREREMNDAER
SRBBERM T 44(b) -

AREAKERARAA | F# 2022 181



—

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE-Z-"H+-A=1+-HLEE

182

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(f)  Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible asset

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment,
if any. In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has
to exercise judgment and make estimation, particularly in assessing:
(1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect
the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of value in use,
the net present value of future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in estimating the recoverable amounts
including cash flow projections and an appropriate discount rate.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the assets belong.
Changing the assumptions and estimates, including the discount
rates or the growth rate in the cash flow projections, could materially
affect the recoverable amounts.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amounts of property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
are approximately RMB372,543,000, RMB27,126,000 and
RMB27,890,000 respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market
risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise and monitor potential adverse effects on the
Group'’s financial performance in a timely and effective manner.

5.1 Financial risk factors

(a) Market risk

(i) Currency risk

The functional currency of a majority of the entities within the Group
is RMB and most of the transactions are settled in RMB. However, the
Group is exposed to foreign currency risk arising from its transactions,
which are primarily denominated in HKD.

The Group currently does not have a foreign exchange hedging
policy. However, the management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and may consider hedging significant foreign
exchange exposure should the need arises.

As at 31 December 2022, if RMB had weakened/strengthened by
5% against HKD with all other variables held constant, the total net
assets of the Group would have been approximately RMB18,442,000
(2021:
result of foreign exchange translation of the consolidated financial

RMB14,917,000) lower/higher respectively, mainly as a

statements for the Company and its Hong Kong subsidiary whose
functional currency is HK; the post-tax profit for the year would have
been approximately RMB2,697,000 (2021: RMB2,029,000) lower/
higher.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(ir)  Interest rate risk

The Group currently does not have interest rate hedging policy.
However, management monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need
arise.

The Group's borrowings obtained at variable rates expose the Group
to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to bank and cash balances
and borrowings which is partially offset by cash held at variable rates.
During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
borrowings at variable rates were mainly denominated in RMB. At

the Group's

31 December 2022, if interest rates on floating-rate borrowings had
been 5% higher/lower with all other variables held constant, post
tax profit for the year would have been approximately RMB316,000
(2021: RMB296,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result of higher/lower
interest expense on floating-rate borrowings.

At 31 December 2022, the Group has bank borrowings amounting
to approximately RMB200,000,000 (2021: RMB285,000,000)
and borrowings from third parties amounting to approximately
RMB4,857,000 (2021: RMB5,175,000) at fixed interest rates
and these expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. As at
31 December 2022, the carrying amounts of bank borrowings,
borrowings from third parties with fixed interest rates approximated
their fair value due to their short tenures and the influence of fair

value interest rate risk is marginal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Credit risk arises from cash
at bank, restricted bank deposits, trade receivables and other financial
assets at amortised cost. The carrying amounts represent the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to those financial assets.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
to cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets.

(i) cash at bank and restricted bank deposits

Substantially all of the Group's cash at bank and restricted bank
deposits are held in major financial institutions located in the PRC
and Hong Kong, which management believes are of high credit
quality. There was no recent history of default of cash at bank and
restricted bank deposits from such financial institutions/authorities.
The management considers the credit risk is insignificant and no loss
allowance was recognised.

(ii)  Trade receivables

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an internal
credit scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit quality
and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attributed
to customers are reviewed twice a year. Other monitoring procedures
are in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In this regard, the management considers that the
Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 20.9% (2021:
and 63.4% (2021:
from the Group's largest customer and the five largest customers,

14.0%)
55.7%) of the total trade receivables was due

respectively. In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits and credit approvals.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i) Trade receivables (continued)

The Group has trade receivables arising from sales of water and beer
products. For the trade receivables arising from sales of water and
beer products, the Group perform impairment assessment under ECL
model which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance. And the Group
uses two categories which reflect their credit risk, and how the
receivables loss allowance is determined for each of those categories.
For customers suffered financial difficulties, the Group recognised as
Category 1,
Category 2.

and for the other customers, the Group recognised as

The summary of the assumptions underpinning the Group's ECL
model for loans receivables from third parties is the same as the ECL
model used for other receivables, which are set out below.

For trade receivables arising from sales of water and beer products,
the expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales
over the past years and the corresponding historical credit losses
experienced within this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted
to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.
The Group has identified the GDP and the unemployment rate to be
the most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss
rates based on expected changes in these factors.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. MERREEE)
5.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 5.1 BB¥EABEZEE)
(b)  Credit risk (continued) (b) EEREEE)
(i) Trade receivables (continued) (i) EREZ(E)
On that basis, the loss allowance for trade receivables due from third EHEREF R_E-__FK_-F
parties as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 was determined as follows: ——F+ZR=+—H BRE=H
NERE SR EBRRBEETNT
( 4
Category 2
k.

More than
Within 1year ~ 1-2 years 2 years
31 December 2022 ZECCETCAST-R Category 1 Current  pastdue  pastdue  past due Total
-8 HE  BE-Fh BH-ZRE RAMEERE it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTR  ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARMTR ARETx

Expected loss rate TEHEIEA R 100% 1.37% 16.32% 31.14% 62.78%
Gross carrying amount REAE = 53,606 95,776 32,753 102,463 284,598
Loss allowance EEEE - 3,953 15,626 10,198 64,322 94,099
(2
Category 2
5F
More than

Within 1 year 1-2 years 2 years
31 December 2021 ZEC-EtZA=t-H Category 1 Current past due past due past due Total
E | P8 BE-f£R BH-EZRE AARERT h
RIMB'000 RIB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR

Expected loss rate BRI AR 100% 4.34% 9.35% 25.28% 41.35%
Gross carrying amount FEAE 28,672 94,249 37329 137,408 4770 345,380
Loss allowance EERE 28,672 4,093 3491 34,736 19,731 90,723
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b)  Credit risk (continued)

5. BMERREEE)

5.1 MERBRERE)
(b) EEREEE)

(i) Trade receivables (continued) (i) JEREZH(E)
The movement of loss allowances for trade receivables is as follows: BUWEZRMEERESZHOT :
( 3
RMB'000
ARETR
Balance at 1 January 2021 RZE-—F—A—BHER 59,235
Provision of impairment loss during the year FRBEFERE 31,488
Balance at 31 December 2021 and RZE-_—%+-A=+—HxK
1 January 2022 - —F—R—HmEH 90,723
Provision of impairment loss during the year FRREEBREE 86,643
Written-off s (83,267)
Balance at 31 December 2022 RIBZZE+ZA=1+—-HN&EH 94,099

Trade receivables are written off where there is

expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a
debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a failure
to make contractual payments for a period of greater than 180 days

past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(iif)  Other financial assets at amortised cost

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
recognition of an asset and whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting
period. To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit
risk, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset
as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition by considering available reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information and the following indicators:

— actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause
a significant change to the borrower’s ability to meet its
obligations;

— actual or expected significant changes in the operating results
of the borrower; and

— significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour
of the borrower, including changes in the payment status of
borrowers in the group and changes in the operating results of
the borrower.

Other financial assets at amortised cost are written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a borrower failing to
engage in a repayment plan with the Group. The Group categorises a
loan receivable for write off when a debtor fails to make contractual
payments more than 180 days past due. Where loans receivables have
been written off, the Group continues to engage in enforcement
activity to attempt to recover the receivable due. Where recoveries
are made, these are recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

190

(b) Credit risk (continued)
(iii)  Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued)

The Group uses three categories for those receivables which reflect

their credit risk and how the loss allowance is determined for each

of those categories. A summary of the assumptions underpinning the

Group’s ECL model is as follows:

5. HMBEBRERE)

5.1 MERBRERE)

(b) FEREEE)

(i) NBHEALAENEMTHEE(E)
AERBER %SRBSR ER = ER 5
[ B A= L B DA T g ) B E 9B = 1
BRIMEBRER -  XBARERHE
EERRENRRGEAMT :

(2
Category Company definition of category Basis for recognition of loss allowance
5l BRINADTRE BRBABENEE
Performing Receivables whose credit risk is in line with 12 month expected losses. Where the
original expectations expected lifetime of an asset is less than
12 months, expected losses are measured
at its lifetime ECL (stage 1)
E% FERMRERIEY 2 EU R NEARHEX -  HREHFESRE 128

Underperforming

BE

Non-performing
(credit impaired)

TREERE)

Write-off

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

Receivables for which a significant
increase has occurred compared to original
expectations; a significant increase in credit
risk is presumed if interest and/or principal
repayments are 30 days past due

B [ 78 HA AR Lk 15 B A B B 2 4 10 ) JE KRR
WA R,/ HASEFGHIOB  AIRTEE
ER A=l

Interest and/or principal repayments are
90 days past due or it becomes probable a
customer will enter bankruptcy

FIB R/ SAEEXGHIOAXE A
ANBRERFF

Interest and/or principal repayments are 180
days past due and there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery
FIBR/SA&EHaH180R - AAEEHE
JENE
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BB 1EBR)FE

Lifetime ECL (stage 2)

2HRBEEBR(E2HER)

Lifetime ECL (stage 3)

2HRBEEBR(E3EER)

Amount is written off
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)  Credit risk (continued)

(i) Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued)

Over the term of the other financial assets at amortised cost, the
Group accounts for its credit risk by appropriately providing for ECL
on a timely basis. In calculating the ECL rates, the Group considers
historical loss rates for each category of customers. No significant
changes to estimation techniques or assumptions were made during
the reporting period.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, all the other financial assets
at amortised cost were within their contractual credit period. The
loss allowance for other financial assets at amortised cost as at 31

December 2022 and 2021 was determined as follows:

( 4

5.

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HEZZ__S+"A=1t-HIFE

MHEERERZ)

5.1 MERBRERE)

(b) FEMEEE)

(i) NBHEALAENEMTHEE(E)
HENBSRRAGTENAGEREEDN

HRA - AREEBLEREREE
BREALEERBREAGERRA

o AAEBEHGEEBERE £

BeERZHAEFNELELRER
¥R S IR A0 1 E BT AR R R
WEEAEE

RZEZZFRZFT=Z—F+=A
=+—B FENESRRAGTENE
eREENENEGNEERR -
N-E-_—FR-_T-_—F+_-A
=+—H - RESRKAGFENHEMSE
REENEBREETOT

31 December 2022 —E__H+ZA=+—H Performing Total
E% st
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR T AR T

Expected loss rate FEHEAE 2.91%
Gross carrying amount R4 E 1,009,620 1,009,620
Loss allowance EiERE 29,392 29,392
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z_—F+-A=1t-HLFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b)  Credit risk (continued)
(iii)  Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued)

MEERERZ)

5.1 BHEREZE)

(b) fEmEE)

(i)  LEBHRAGTFENEMEBEEE)

(3 -

31 December 2021 —E-—Ff+ZA=1+—H Performing Total
e Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFIT AREFIT

Expected loss rate FEHBEAE 2.70%
Gross carrying amount RHE4E 1,014,305 1,014,305
Loss allowance BB 27,418 27,418

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, no other financial assets at
amortised cost with a contractual amount written off during the
period. The gross carrying amount of other financial assets at
amortised cost, and thus the maximum exposure to loss, is as follows:

RZEZZFRZFT=Z—F+=ZA
=+—H - BRSNS AR AN
ENEMERMEE - WEBRKATE
MEteREENREELAEREH
BRMSEKREBRAENT

(4

2022 2021
—E--F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFIT
Performing s 1,009,620 1,014,305

Total gross other financial PABEBRPK ARGt E B Hoh
assets at amortised cost THEELT 1,009,620 1,014,305
Less: Loss allowance o EiEE s (29,392) (27,418)
980,228 986,887
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i) Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued)

The movement of loss allowance for other financial assets at
amortised cost is as follows:

RERBERME
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_H+-B=1+-HI#E

B RBERE)

5.1 MERBRERE)

(b) FEREEE)

(i) NBHEALAENEMTHEE(E)
NESRRAGFENEMEREENE
BREEZHMT

( 4

RMB’000
AR®T
Balance at 1 January 2021 RZT-—F—-HA—-BaEH 4,670
Impairment loss recognised during the year FARERNRMEEE 22,748

Balance at 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 N\—_E-—F+-A=+t—Hk
—E_F-A—-B0EH 27,418
Impairment loss recognised during the year FARARNREESE 1,974
Balance at 31 December 2022 R-BZZH+ZA=+- A& 29,392

There was no other financial asset carrying a significant exposure to
credit risk.

(c) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient
cash, the availability of funding through an adequate amount
of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market
positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses,
the Group's treasury function allows flexibility in funding by
maintaining adequate cash and cash equivalents.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity
position based on the expected cash flows.

HemEEYERRERNEERR
HHE o

(c) mErmsE
ZEMNRYERREERFEHETR
MRe e THANEREERE N
#EAHFAES  KRMETEN
BN - ARAEERBEBN IR
- AEENEEDERBRERRRE
MR LReEFBMARHESNE
AN o

EEERBESREREEEAEE
REBE SR RARETEA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z- S+ A=t+-HILEE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. MBEBRERE)
5.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 5.1 BB¥EABEZEE)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) (c) FEMEEE)
(i) Financing arrangements () BEZH
The Group has the following undrawn bank borrowing facilities: AEEEBATHARRERORITER
BE -
( 4

As at 31 December

R+=-A=+—H
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETTT

Fixed rate: B E %
— expiring within one year —R—FNEM 38,890 —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE-Z-"F+_A=t+—HIL%E

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. MBEBRERE)
5.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 5.1 BB¥EABEZEE)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) (c) WmEMEEE)
(i) Maturities of financial liabilities () =MEEIHA
The table below analyses the Group's financial liabilities in relevant TROMERERRZE DI HBH
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the end of HREAR 2D AR B B B AR B R &
the reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The amounts EmemaE RPARBENEEDS
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. RENHNTENRTREBRERE ©
At 31 December 2022 R-B-ZH¥+=-A=t—-H

( 4

Undiscounted cash flows

KFBRER
Weighted
average Total
effective Within ~ Between 1 carrying
interest rate 1year and 5 years Total amount
MEFH
BRAI= —FHR -EIf% ax  REEAE

%  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
Bak  AR®TR  ARMTn  ARMTR  ARETR

Non-derivative financial liabilities fi£¢REE

Bank borrowings RITER 2.37 462,720 — 462,720 452,000
Trade and notes payables ERESFRENRE — 246,918 — 246,918 246,918
Convertible Bonds mHRES 7.69 — 338,649 338,649 308,696
Lease liabilities MERRE 5.18 697 116 813 788
Other financial liabilities EtheRAR - 161,628 - 161,628 161,628

871,963 338,765 1,210,728 1,170,030
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z- S+ A=t+-HILEE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(c)  Liquidity risk (continued)

(i)~ Maturities of financial liabilities (continued)
At 31 December 2021

MEERERZ)

5.1 MERBRERE)

(c) mEHmEE)

(i) ZHEEFHHE)
RZF-_—F+-HA=1—H

® O

Undiscounted cash flows

AFRRER

Weighted
average Total
effective Within Between 1 carrying
interest rate Tyear  and 5 years Total amount

¥
ik —ENUR —ERf gt RAERE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Bt ARBTR  ARETR  AR%TT  AR%TR

Non-derivative financial liabilities FfT4¢BEE

Bank borrowings RITER 2.41 419,901 76,811 496,712 485,000
Trade and notes payables EREFHRENRE — 277,923 — 277,923 277,923
Convertible Bonds AR ES 7.69 - 324,698 324,698 275,684
Other financial liabilities HteRAaR - 144,244 - 144,244 144,244
842,068 401,509 1,243,577 1,182,851

The Group provided a financial guarantee amounting to
approximately RMB265,000,000 (2021: RMB280,000,000) to one
of its associate for obtaining bank borrowings as at 31 December
2022. Given the financial position and earning ability of the associate
company, management believe that the risk of default for the

associate for the loan repayment is very low and thus management

believes that there is no material liquidity risk arising from the

financial guarantee provided by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.2 Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends to be paid to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group's capital is mainly from equity funding and borrowings for
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on
the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as borrowings
divided by total capital. Total capital is calculated as “equity” as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position plus

borrowings.

The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

5.

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_H+-B=1+-HI#E

B RBERE)

52 EBEFXERER
AEEERBANBERRRELAEE

BEKZENREN KM ARREHED
o REAMAEEREE R SR

REREENRBURHEESKA -

RESHNAEEARE  ARETH
BHXHTFRERORE  MEREER
BAR  BTHBIHEEENRE -

HE-E-_—_Fr-_FT-—F+-A
Z+—RIEFE AEEMNELREE
KABRAE S RIER -

HEXAEMAR B AKENEE
EFtt?%&%’; AR o AL KRR
fERRAE R BREAE - ERBRRR
%?\/\ﬁﬁr%ﬂkﬁi‘%ﬁﬁmﬁ?i I InE RE

sty
B o
Ean

RZBE-—FR-_ZF-_—F+=-A
—t-—HHNEEERBLENT :

As at 31 December

R+=-—BA=+—H

2022 2021

—E-C—F —E-—F

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARET T AREFT

Bank borrowings (Note 33) RITER(HIFE33) 452,000 485,000

Borrowings from third parties (Note 32) BE=FEF(HIE32) 4,857 5,175

Convertible Bonds (Note 34) AR ES (HE34) 308,696 275,684

Total borrowings EREE 765,553 765,859

Total equity B 2,859,460 2,831,432

Total capital BABEE 3,625,013 3,597,291

Gearing ratio BEABHLX 21.12% 21.29%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z_—F+-A=1t-HLFE

198

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.3  Fair value measurements of financial instruments

This section explains the judgements and estimates made in
determining the fair values of the financial instruments that are
recognised and measured at fair value in the consolidated financial
statements.

(a)  Fair value hierarchy

To provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs used in
determining fair value, the Group classifies its financial instruments
into the three levels prescribed under the accounting standards. An
explanation of each level follows underneath the table.

The following table presents the Group's financial assets measured
and recognised at fair value at 31 December 2022 and 2021 on a
recurring basis:

( 4

MERBRERE)

53 SMIANAAEMENE
ARELETHEANBERNTANE
BEABRETENSRIANAA
{B AR AT R HIB R fEE -

(a) AAEEER
RELETAREBEMBHAZEN

AERERS AEEREEER
REREERIADRZE - BER
ZBRESIRITE -

TREJNAGER-ZF_ZFR=F
TF T AT HEEREEN
AREEFERERNEREE :

2022 2021

—E--F —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB'000

Recurring fair value measurements REMAAREETE AR¥TR ARETT

Financial assets cREE
FVTPL WAREBEFTEARS
FFABE
— Investment in GT Express —RERBRER — 2,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.3  Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

(a)  Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The table above analyses the Group's financial instruments carried at
fair value as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 by level of the inputs
to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Such inputs are
categorised into three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and equity securities) is
based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period.
The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group

is the current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded
in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is
determined using valuation techniques which maximise the use of
observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-specific
estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument
are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3. This is

the case for unlisted equity securities.

5.

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_H+-B=1+-HI#E

MERBRERE)

53 $RMIANAAEENEE)
(a) AREEERE)
FREZHEDABEZHERMAA
BABBNES  PMAKERZ
TZERZF--F+ZA=1+—H
BARBEIEZSHMIA - 5@EH
ABBEDETXRdmo>EREAAR
EBERBAN=EAESR

F1E: NERTHEENERTAE
(MARBEZTETARERES)
MARBERREORAMBMEE
o ARBMBEREERMBAZTS
REAEREAEB -ZEIAGIIA
F1E-

BB N EBRTMZEEN SR
TABIWSIMIETR)NAAE
ﬁﬂﬁ%%%ﬂ%T@%ﬁ%%%&
BEVEBEENEEMNBER
MET - MatE-—EHIANOAERE
IENMEERBASERATHEH
% RIZITAIAE2E -

FIE: M—BERFTBEAGAZE
WIRBEABETEZHEEMNTE - A
THIAFIE - LTEREFN
BUtiER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-—F+-A=t-HILFE

200

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. HMBEBRERE)
5.3 Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued) 53 SRMIANAAEETESE)
(a)  Fair value hierarchy (continued) (a) AREBEERE)
( 4
Financial Fair value Valuation Significant
assets Fair value as at hierarchy technique unobservable input
THEE RUATRENAREE NMEEER fhIE i EXTUBERARE
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
—B-_CF —E-—
+ZB=1-H +ZA=+-H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET R ARBTT
- GT Express = 2,000 2022: Level 3 2022: Discounted cash 2022: Discount rate
(2021 Level 2) flow method per annum
(2021: Quoted price) ~ (2021: N/A)
-EREH - 2,000 —E--F:$3E —T--F: “EoF:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HEZZ__S+"A=1t-HIFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. MBREREERE)
5.3 Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued) 5.3 @MIANDAEETEE)
(b) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements (b) ZEIBRALEBHEITEZHEK
(3
Financial Financial
assets assets
at FVTOCI at FVTPL Total
UAAEESE
BH#®HFA UAAEETE
Htr2mkz  BHSBHFA
HEeMmEE BENEREE #ct
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AR®T R ARBT R
At 1 January 2021 A—E-—F—H—H 174,482 192,328 366,810
Net gains recognised & B R A% I s (M5 8)
upon disposal (Note 8) — 9,189 9,189
Fair value changes (Note 8) ARBEZE(HES) 16,216 (9,517) 6,699
Transfer to investments BREZERERE
accounted for using the AERRE
equity method (190,698) — (190,698)
Disposal & — (190,000) (190,000
Transfer out of Level 3 BHE3 — (2,000) (2,000)
At 31 December 2021 and R-ZE-_—&F+-A=+—-HARK
1 January 2022 T -F—-H—H — — —
Transfer into level 3 ﬁ)\%’l% — 2,000 2,000
Fair value changes (Note 8) NRBEZEH(HES) — (2,000) (2,000)

As at 31 December 2022

R-E-=%+=-A=+-A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE-Z-"H+-A=1+-HLEE

202

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.3  Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

(c)  Group’s valuation processes

The Group's finance department performs the valuation of the
financial assets during the financial reporting process, including
level 3 fair value. Management engages external valuation experts
to facilitate the fair value evaluation as and when necessary. During
the valuation, management considers the business performance of
the investee in comparison with competitors in the same industry, as
well as the external valuation report if any. Risk adjustments specific
to the counterparties (including assumptions about credit default
rates) are derived from credit risk ratings determined by the Group's
internal credit risk management group. Discussion of valuation
process and results are held between chief financial officer, the
finance team and qualified external valuers that are responsible for
the valuation.

(d)  Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The management considers that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost recognised in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments based on the
reports regularly reviewed by the executive Directors, being the
CODM, that are used to make strategic decisions.

(@) Description of segments and principal activities

(i)  Water business segment

The principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and selling
a range of water products through wholesales in the PRC, selling
raw materials and consumables to associates and third parties, and
leasing production lines to associates.

(i) Beer business segment
The Group manufactures and sells a range of beer products mainly in
the PRC through wholesales.

(b) Segment information disclosures

Sales between segments are based on the agreed terms between both
segments. The revenue from external parties reported to the CODM
is measured in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

The amounts provided to the CODM with respect of total assets and
total liabilities are measured in a manner consistent with that of the
consolidated financial statements.

RERBERME
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_H+-B=1+-HI#E

B
%
i

BEERBEHTES(AMIBLERR
PR L BB R SR T E B B 0 4R
BEZZEDH -

ofF o mR

>

(a) FHRIEXRBHL

() KEBEDZH
AEBENTEXEBANDBERERY
BRHEBARAMKRIER M
DRME=ZTHERM B REN - R
FEE DR HHEER -

(i) EBEBEG
AEETERPHEERPEHER
EREm

(b) 2WERKE

73 BRI 3R & T E 1 1 {E 20 5P 1 7 A9 ik
TET 2ERMTEIBRERRENK
BINEEPHRARBRESBER
2IE BT AGE

RETIZREARENBRAEE
FERGENERRANGAMBERR
ENE-ROTAGE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z_—F+-A=1t-HLFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. 2WERE)
(b) Segment information disclosures (continued) (b) oBEMEEE)
The segment information provided to the CODM for the reportable BE-_E-__F+-_A=+—HItHF
segments for the year ended 31 December 2022 is as follows: B IR F T BEELARENTZH
DEHDBERLT -
(3
Water Beer
business business  Corporate
segment segment and others Total
K3 EEAH SERHM Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBTRT AR®TR AR%T:R
Total segment revenue DERUA 58 65,505 246,442 — 311,947
Cost of sales HEMAR (58,186)  (162,877) — (221,063)
Gross profit E7 7,319 83,565 — 90,884
Share of result on investments PG AR e A ARRE
accounted for using the KREBE
equity method (10,194) = (500) (10,694)
Allowance for of allowance CREEEBEE
for ECL on financial assets iR (87,173) (1,260) (184) (88,617)
Adjusted EBITDA* AREEBINER
K A0 A 8 (102,947) 93,037 (24,762) (34,672)
Finance income I 21,925 12,942 335 35,202
Finance costs BER (6,071) (3,171) (28,399) (37,641)
Depreciation and amortisation EREH (24,221) (35,112) (673) (60,006)
(Loss)/profit before tax BRiAT(E18), /I (111,314) 67,696 (53,499) (97,117)
Income tax (expense)/credit T (BR) #HE (430) (6,105) 1,186 (5,349)
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(FR) FB (111,744) 61,591 (52,313)  (102,466)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6.
(b) Segment information disclosures (continued)
(3
Water
Business
segment
KXo E
RMB'000
ARET T
Segment total assets DHBEE 4,178,048
— Investments accounted for —EAEREANENRE
using the equity method 1,443,916
Unallocated KO
Deferred tax assets REFTEE =
Assets of corporate and others ~ (M¥REMEE
Inter-segment elimination o BRI
Total assets MEE
Segment total liabilities PHBEERE 1,516,615
Unallocated KO
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEAE
Liabilities of corporate rERAMABE
and others
Inter-segment elimination 7> B e EH
Total liabilities HMefE

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HEZZ__S+"A=1t-HIFE

TEER(E)

(b) ZEHERKEE)

Beer
Business
segment
W8 3 4P
RMB'000

AR% T

2,428,238

351,649

Total

EC
RMB'000
AR® TR

6,606,286

1,443,916

4,570
28,982
(2,499,705)

4,140,133

1,868,264

6,929

369,637
(964,157)

1,280,673
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_#+-R=+-HI%E

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Segment information disclosures (continued)
The segment information provided to the CODM for the reportable
segments for the year ended 31 December 2021 is as follows:

TEER(E)

(b) ZEHERKEE)
BE_ZT-_—Ht-_A=t—HL*F
B RUETIELEARARENTER
DERDEERMT

N

(3
Water Beer
business business Corporate
segment segment and others Total
NS
KEBDE nE PEREM st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT AREFT ARETT
Total segment revenue DER U A EEE 147,571 308,557 — 456,128
Cost of sales HERA (86,280) (178,895) — (265,175)
Gross profit E ] 61,291 129,662 — 190,953
Share of result on investments LR ER AR
accounted for using the ®E/(B#E)
equity method 473 — (465) 8
(Allowance for)/reversal of SREERDEEER
allowance for ECL (BB)/ BEED
on financial assets (44,454) (9,790) 8 (54,236)
Adjusted EBITDA* PRASHTEREHEANNE (12,883) 142,420 (20,207) 109,330
Finance income WA 33,662 22,396 9% 56,154
Finance costs MBER (409) (13,661) (21,585) (35,655)
Depreciation and amortisation EREH (26,483) (45,310) (163) (71,956)
Profit/(loss) before tax BB RIS/ (B8) (6,113) 105,845 (41,859) 57,873
Income tax (expense)/credit FisH(BR)/B4% (1,497) (10,241) 819 (10,919)
Profit/(loss) for the year EERNR/(BE) (7,610) 95,604 (41,040) 46,954

* Adjusted EBITDA is a key financial measure regularly monitored by CODM
in managing the Group's performance. Adjusted EBITDA is calculated by
excluding the following effects from the profit/(loss) for the year: (i) finance
(cost)/income, net; (i) depreciation and amortisation; and (iii) income tax
(expense)/credit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Segment information disclosures (continued)

Adjusted EBITDA is not an accounting measure under IFRSs and should not be
considered as an alternative to the profit/(loss) for the year as a measure of
operational performance. Adjusted EBITDA does not have a standard calculation
method and the Group's definition of adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to
that of other companies.

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_H+-B=1+-HI#E

TEER(E)

(b) 2WERKEE)
BB B AR R BB
RERUETHRHEEBIE - BTERE
ETREERFE, (BR)HBEEEE -
B B BITE B AR B R R 2T
CUERE: B DELTA LS T
B 97 2 1 A SR B 4 2 R O 7T 1
# -

( 4
Water Beer
Business Business
segment segment Total
KD Ly Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFTT AREFTT ARBETFT
Segment total assets DHBEE 4,260,928 2,415,426 6,676,354
— Investments accounted —EAEREANENRE
for using the equity method 1,416,403 — 1,416,403
Unallocated KO
Financial assets at FVTPL BARBENEEES
FABRNEREE 2,000
Deferred tax assets RREFIAEE 5,000
Assets of corporate and others ¥R EHMbEE 6,446
Inter-segment elimination 73 BB R (2,540,854)
Total assets MEE 4,148,946
Segment total liabilities SHBEE 1,593,782 399,806 1,993,588
Unallocated KO
Deferred tax liabilities RIERTEEE 8,539
Liabilities of corporate andothers ¥R EMEE 305,827
Inter-segment elimination o> B R (990,440)
Total liabilities HmeE 1,317,514
EEaEEr

Entity-Wide information

Breakdown of total revenue by category is shown in Note 7.

RIRRIE D E U AR BT

Revenue from external customers of the Group were all derived in the HE—-_ZT—-—
PRC for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

— =

—E-—%+=-A

ZT-BUEFE RAEEHNFEPH

WAL KA FE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE_Z_—F+-A=1t-HLFE

208

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Segment information disclosures (continued)

Entity-Wide information (continued)

Non-current assets are all located in the PRC as at 31 December 2022
and 2021.

() Information about major customers
Revenue from customers over 10% of the Group's total revenue is as
follows:

( 4

DEER(E)

(b) PBENWEE)
ERHEELHE)
HE_Z-_—_FR-F-_—F+=-A
=+—HB  ERBEEHUNPE -

() FTEEFHER
KAGREBEBABBI0%NES
WAL ¢

Year ended 31 December

BET-A=t—-HLEE

EFEA*
EFB*

Customer A*
Customer B*

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR T ARBFT
83,843 143,117
75,903 71,097

* Revenue from beer business segment

During the year ended 31 December 2022, sales of approximately
RMB18,230,000 (2021: RMB34,269,000) and RMB1,315,000 (2021:
nil) are derived from associates in the water business segment and
beer business segment respectively.
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REVENUE

‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Revenue from external customers is mainly derived from the sales of

water products and beer products. The Group also sells raw materials

and consumables to associates and third parties and leases production

lines to associates. Breakdown of the revenue is as follows:

( 4

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HEZZ__S+"A=1t-HIFE

L'ON

SNEREPHIRATBRERHEKE
m N EEEm - AEBETRHE R
EFEMTHERFTRE=T7AREE
HRERTEENR - WARAMT :

Year ended 31 December

BET-RA=t—-HLEE

2022
—E-CF
RMB'000
AR®T T
Revenue from contracts with customers: ZBE&SEWA :
Recognised at a point in time REAGR R R
Sales of water products IKEmIHE 58,761
Sales of beer products MR P E 245,982
Sales of raw materials and consumables FEME R FEMHE 460
305,203
Revenue from other source: HaRREHWBA :
Rental income HeWA 6,744
Total et 311,947

2021
—E-—F
RMB'000

ARETT

140,821
307,949

609

449,379

6,749

456,128
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-—F+-A=t-HILFE

8.  OTHER GAINS, NET
>

Year ended 31 December

BET-A=t—-HLEE

2022
—E-—F
RMB’000
AR¥TR

Other gains/(losses)
Government grants
— Tax refund (note (a))

— Amortisation of deferred income
— Other government grant (note (b))
Gain on disposal of financial assets

at FVTPL (note (c))

Fair value changes on financial assets

at FVTPL (note (d))

Write-down of inventories

Gain on disposal of investments
accounted for using the equity methods

Loss on deregistration of investments
accounted for using the equity method

Others

Hitlis/ (B1])

B8

—RB (M (a)

BN i

— H A BT B (&£ (b))

BRENRREBEFEAEZSHFA
BamEmEEN R (M)
URRBEFEREZEH ABR
MEREENALEEED
(MEE(d))

FEMA

B REAAROBE Wk

wt $H{E A DA ARRRY
REEENER
Hity

2,374
16,951

(2,000)
(675)

1,780

(43)
74

18,461

2021
—E-—F
RMB'000

ARETTT

3,357
2,374
21,592

9,189

(9,517)

(612)

108

26,491
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OTHER GAINS, NET (CONTINUED)

notes:

(a)

The Group is eligible to receive subsidy income from the local government
in relation to the domestic subsidiaries’ fiscal contribution to the local
economic development as a major tax payer and employer in Tibet. No
tax refund was recognised for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021:
RMB3,357,000).

Other government grant represents various form of subsidies granted to
the Group by the local government authorities in the PRC for compensation
of expenses incurred by the Group. These grants are generally made for
business support and awarded to enterprises on a discretionary basis. There

are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

The Group purchased financial products issued by a financial institution in
the PRC. These financial products will mature within one year with variable
return rates indexed to the performance of the underlying assets. As at 31
December 2021, the Group disposed of these investments amounting to
approximately RMB180,811,000, which resulted in a gain amounting to
approximately RMB9,189,000.

As at 31 December 2022, the unlisted equity investment held by the
Group was nil (2021: RMB2,000,000, which were measured financial
assets at FVTPL). The unrealised fair value losses of RMB2,000,000 (2021:
RMB9,517,000) were recognised for the year.

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_H+-B=1+-HI#E

Hiplzs - FE(E)

Bf5E -

(a)

BRKERERAT | F§ 2022

AEBEAAREZAREREE
BERNEMBFESEBRNNIEA
AHEMCERENM R EREEN
BHEA -BE-_T=-—F+=A
S+-RALEFEERERRB(ZT
——%: AR®3,357,0007T) °

HRGHEDETRLTRTEBR
ARERKNEEYAFEY  BRE
EBARERY - ZEMP—RB/E
B IRBRTLE - ZEWHYL
EEMARTANETLELREE -

AEBEBEAFE-FISREERTH
CRER ZES2RERBR—FA
- HufEEREEEAEEENR
@ e R_TE-_—F+_A=+—
B AEEEEZSREDARE
180,811,0007T ' BHE M =N ARE
9,189,000 7T

RZZE-ZF+=ZA=+—R8 ' &%
ERAENFELTREREART(ZE
——fF: AER#2,000,0007T 0 A
AABEENERESEHH ABEME
MEMEE) AFERRAREROA
BEFBEAARE2000000T(=ZF
——%: AR¥%9,517,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z_—F+-A=1t-HLFE

9.  FINANCE (COST)/INCOME, NET 9. HBIK(ER) WA FE
( 3
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+—HLEE
2022 2021
—E--F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETFT
Foreign exchange loss net P& 5 B8 %58 — (1,066)
Interest costs on bank borrowings RITERMNEER (9,618) (13,661)
Interest costs on convertible bonds (Note 34) AJ#p%EEF 25 B (Mi3T34) (22,504) (16,591)
Interest costs on borrowings from E=FEFOFEER
third parties (5,475) (4,270)
Interest costs on lease liabilities HEBENEER (44) (3)
Other finance costs H B %5 E F = (64)
Finance cost HMKER (37,641) (35,655)
Finance income — interest income BFRS U A — F B A 35,202 56,154
Finance (cost)/income, net B (ER), WA B (2,439) 20,499
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10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The amount of income tax expense charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss represents:

( 4

‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10.

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_H+-B=1+-HI#E

FrEHER
AT REGEBERIAANAERE
Be%

Year ended 31 December

BET-RA=t—-HLEE

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTR ARETTT

PRC Enterprise Income Tax: B (R PTIEH

- Current tax —BNEARIA 6,729 14,624

— Over-provision in prior year - L —FEBEREE — (645)
6,729 13,979

Deferred tax BRLEKIE (1,380) (3,060)

Income tax expense S ER 5,349 10,919
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z_—F+-A=1t-HLFE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

The taxation on the Group's (loss)/profit before income tax differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the statutory tax
rate as follows:

10. FAEBER#)
AEEOBRMAERAER) /MEH
BROBBEBRNERAEERRAFES
HEEREEE - AW

( 4 -
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=t—-HLEE
2022 2021
—E__F R
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETISBLAT (E518), /) (97,117) 57,873
Tax calculated at statutory tax rate of 15% AT K 15% ;HEHFIAE (14,568) 8,681
Preferential tax rates on income of ETEEEROBAMZERE
certain group entities (note) BERE (M) (4,355) (7,609)
Loss not subject to tax BARBIER 9,756 5,845
Tax effect of unused tax losses APAARERREEENVIELE
not recognised 6,028 1,731
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes TR A 14,797 11,359
Incomes not taxable for tax purposes BARBHA (6,309) (8,443)
Over-provision in respect of prior years BEFEBERE — (645)
Income tax expense FriSHER 5,349 10,919
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10.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

note: The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Under current laws

of the Cayman Islands, there is no income, estate, corporation, capital gains
or other taxes payable by the Company. The group entities established
under the International Business Companies Acts of the British Virgin Islands
are exempted from British Virgin Islands income taxes.

The group entities incorporated in the PRC are subject to PRC enterprise
income tax. Major operational entities of the Group are located in Tibet
and were entitled to preferential income tax rate. Based on the tax ruling
announced by the PRC central tax authorities, the corporate income tax
rate of Lhasa is 9% for the years from 2015 to 2025. From 2026 onwards,
the corporate income tax rate in Tibet will resume to 15% if no further
announcement from the PRC central tax authorities is made. The remaining
entities incorporated in the PRC were taxed based on the income tax rate of
25% for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: 25%) as determined in
accordance with the relevant PRC income tax rules and regulations.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong Profits Tax, the
first HKD2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at
8.25%, and profits above HKD2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits
of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong
Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25% on
the first HKD2 million of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on
the estimated assessable profits above HKD2 million.

The relevant deferred tax balances had been measured based on the
expected tax rates applicable in the future.

Bf5E -

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_H+-B=1+-HI#E

10. FAEBER#)

ARBRFAEHEEMKL - RIEF
ERBRITER ARAHEEME
WSk BEM ARK - BAE
ERHEMRIE REXBEZHS
MEREBAREKNINEEERE
BRBNRBRLEBHOMIGH

EREFMAOEREEERMT
BEEEMEH AEENTELEER
BURARITZZAMERERRE
BIERE R R E QAR
Bl - NEMCERMSHHEER-Z
—hFEE_E-_HFAI% - B_Z
TRFR mRERRBEEELE
BN AEBEOCEMESHH
REREE15% o £ #7 B M
KUK EREREZE S __F+_HA
=+ -BLEEREBEABEOTEMSE
BB AR B BIZE25% K FT SR &R (=
T4 25%)HF -

BEEBHEHROFSHMAE - &
E I EEEFEE 2,000,000 75 7T )% Fl
Bt % £8.25% + 1M #8 82,000,000
TTRRE AR E A A16.5% ° A& F
BERARGNEEEEBAOENEEE
E16.5% WE —BEMT - At - &
BREETEE 2,000,000 M EA
EBTH M1 8.25% M Bl Rt B & B
FEF - #8182,000,000 8 LAY fHETIE
FREFIZ16.5% B RFEEET
BH -

HERREEREEHRCRERMNAR
ERNRETIUHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z- S+ A=t+-HILEE

1. (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 1. FEER)FHE
Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging/(crediting): EENBEENRGEIA) THEE :
°

Year ended 31 December

BET-A=t—-HLEE

Auditor’s remuneration ZEE B £
- Audit services — &R
- Non-audit services —IEE IR
Raw materials and consumables used FTFR IR R R
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEHSH
Depreciation of PP&E ME - BERRERE
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE
Short-term lease expenses MEHEER
Employee benefit expenses EERINER
Advertising and marketing expenditure EERTSHEER
City construction tax and education surcharge ¥ 2 &% R E K N &
Electricity and other utility expenses BAREMERER
Legal and other consulting services fee ERREMBAREER
Transportation costs BRI
Allowance for ECL on financial assets: TREETRHEERERE
— Trade receivables —EREZH
- Other financial assets at amortised cost —RERKAGTENEMEREE
Loss on disposal of PP&E ME  BEREBENRESE

2022
—E-C—F
RMB'000
AR¥T T

1,973
172
140,585
3,230
55,525
1,251
1,710
63,505
2,520
1,090
9,368
11,127
29,721

86,643
1,974

2021
—E-—F
RMB'000

ARETTT

1,707
166
192,833
13,165
57,926
865
2,367
63,682
4,784
1,964
7,422
9,866
42,988

31,488
22,748
24
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

( 4

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HEZZ__S+"A=1t-HIFE

12. BERANEHA

Year ended 31 December

BET-A=t—-HLEE

Wages and salaries
Provision for medical and other

TERFE
ERERAMEREMNERE

employee benefits

Contributions to defined

contribution pension scheme (note (a))

Contributions to the housing

EzREEAGEIO)

scheme (note (b))

REHFEAR S EGR (MR )

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBTR AREFIT
52,347 51,592
2,861 2,208
5,642 7,469
2,655 2,413
63,505 63,682

notes:

Pension scheme

The Group pays contributions to publicly administered pension insurance
plans on a mandatory, contractual basis. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not
hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee
service in the current and prior periods. The contributions are recognised
as employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in
the future payments is available.

The Group also operates a defined contribution MPF Scheme in Hong
Kong under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

@  BAEFE

AKEREH ANEEALEEE
RABRRESUELHER - WEZES
TEEHEEXNMARERANH
FREHEAERERRBGAGNRE
Mo AEETEE-FHEROEER
HEEME - HARAERIRES
BAER - ANHERETRGRER
SRARNFBROMBERTHERRE
Eo

AKERBREERIELEEE
G ERERZSABR2HERE
EFBZEERY —AERMATRE
2EtE - HFXEEBELRHFEZX
—BOLEE URRIEREDE B
RARNBERSRNK - 8BS
HELEABUERASRE  BA
SEEENHARA - AEEH®RED
AFEMEHZ BT HFEBREBRES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z_—F+-A=1t-HLFE

12.

218

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (CONTINUED)

notes: (continued)

(a)

(continued)

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in PRC are
required to participate in the Central Pension Scheme. These subsidiaries
are required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the
Central Pension Scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the Central Pension
Scheme. The employer contributions vest fully once made.

As the Group's employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed to the Defined Contributions Scheme, there were no forfeited
contributions under the Defined Contributions Scheme which may be used
to reduce the existing level of contributions.

Housing scheme

In accordance with the PRC housing reform regulations, the Group is
required to make contributions to the Chinese state-sponsored housing
fund at 5-12% of the salaries of the PRC employees. At the same time,
the employees are also required to make a contribution at 5-12% of their
salaries out of their payroll. The employees are entitled to claim the entire
sum of the fund under certain specified withdrawal circumstances.
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12.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (CONTINUED)

()

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for
the year include five (2021: four) Directors and chief executive, details
of whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in Note 45
(c). The emoluments paid and payable to the remaining one highest paid
employee who was neither a Director nor chief executive in 2021 were as

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_H+-B=1+-HI#E

12. BREBNERE)

© hERSFMAL

AEEASEREERTMALTRE
RE(ZTEZ—F: UR)EZRTK
AB - BEAMESHBT R 450
FENNAIMRE - RZZE=Z—F8
HREMTHESB—EBWIFEEFNIET

follows: BAEMGEERHMES ZHEMT:
>
Year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=t—-HLEE
2022 2021
—E-C-F —EF—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T R AREFIT
Basic salaries and allowances HA % ¢ K2 — 1,147
Contribution to pension scheme RIS B — 15
Bonuses TE4 — 92
— 1,254

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the Directors
nor chief executive of the Company whose remuneration fell within the

d) UFEEARAEZFFETRAEZ
= B R B A BN B [

following band is as follows: e
°>
Year ended 31 December
BE+-HA=+—-HLEE
2022 2021
—E-CF —ET-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARBEFT
HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 1,000,001 £ 1,500,000 87T = 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-—F+-A=t-HILFE

13.  (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

(@) Basic (loss)/earnings per share

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, basic (loss)/earnings per

share is based on the following data:

13. BR(ER) B8R

(a) BREX(BR)BF

RZB-—FR-_F-—F+=

A=t—0 sREX(BER)/
BRTERATEEAE -

(3

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=1t—-HLEFE
2022 2021
—E-—F T
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T ARETFT

(Loss)/profit attributable to owners KAREE AEE(ER),/ 7B

of the Company (102,466) 46,954

( 4

Year ended 31 December

BET-A=t—-HLEE

2022
—EC-CF
RMB’000
AR®T T
Weighted average number of ordinary BRETEBARNE TS (FAR)
shares in issue (thousands) 2,774,762

2021
2o —fF
RMB'000
ARETT
(restated)
(&=E5)

2,546,798
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13.  (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONTINUED)

(@) Basic (loss)/earnings per share (continued)
Note:

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of
calculating basic (loss)/earning per share for the year ended 31 December
2022 has been adjusted retrospectively for the effects of the placing of
shares and rights issue of shares completed on 21 July 2022 and 30 January
2023 respectively. The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of calculating basic (loss)/earnings per share for the year ended
31 December 2021 has been adjusted retrospectively for the effects of the
rights issue of shares completed on 30 January 2023.

(b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share for years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021 were the same as basic (loss)/earnings per share
as the outstanding convertible bonds had anti-dilutive effect on
the basic earnings per share.

14. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022, nor has any
dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting period (2021:
nil).

13. B8R
(a)

(b)

14. BRE

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_H+-B=1+-HI#E

(E1R) BRI(#&)

SREX(BE)BAE)
P aE -

HEHE-ZT-_—F#+-A=+—H
EFEESRERNERVBRANMNE R
BRMEFHEERI IR T ==
+A-+—-BR-E-=f—A=+
HEROROES RROHEROTE
HITEBPRE - FEHE-T=—F
+tZ A=+ HLEENERELR(E
B)/ BROLBRNETIHER =
T-=F A=+ BAERORBER
MFBRTEPAE -

SREBE(FER) BF
HRREENITRREFEER
ERBNBRESER BE=
TZZFRZF=—F+=H
S+—HEFENEREE(E
B)/BNAGREAR(ESE),/
BFER -

HE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HItHF
B ARENERMARR L ARRR
RNKEZRAEMRE - BRED
EREDTERZRNEMRE(ZE
ZF )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-—F+-A=t-HILFE

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE LIABILITIES

15. EAEEE HESE

(3
Land Rental
use right premises Total
L i fE I AE Higs @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T ARET T
(note (a)) (note (b))
(Mi&E (a)) (MtE (b))
Cost B
As at 1 January 2021, RZEZ—F—H—H
31 December 2021 and —E-—H+-F=1+—H
1 January 2022 M—_EBE-—_F—F—H 33,435 289 33,724
Additions NG — 1,270 1,270
Exchange alignment BEE 5, 8 B — 52 52
As at 31 December 2022 RZBE-_ZF+Z-H=+—H 33,435 1,611 35,046
Accumulated depreciation ZEiE
As at 1 January 2021 WZE-_—%—F—H 5,638 144 5,782
Depreciation for the year FAHE 720 145 865
As at 31 December 2021 RZE-—F+-A=+—H
and 1 January 2022 —E--_F—H—H 6,358 289 6,647
Depreciation for the year FAME 722 529 1,251
Exchange alignment B XA — 22 22
As at 31 December 2022 R-B-Z_§+=-A=+—H 7,080 840 7,920
Carrying value BREE
As at 31 December 2022 RZBE-ZZ&+ZA=+—H 26,355 771 27,126
As at 31 December 2021 RZE-Z—F+-A=+—H 27,077 — 27,077
notes: i

(@) All of the Group's land use rights are located in the PRC and each has a
lease period of 50 years.

As at 31 December 2022, land use rights with carrying value of
approximately RMB26,355,000 (2021: RMB27,077,000) were secured for
bank borrowings with carrying amounts of approximately RMB72,000,000
(2021: RMB75,000,000) (Note 33).
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15.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(b)  Amount includes right-of-use assets resulting from new leases entered. At (b)
31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had lease liabilities as follows:

‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE-Z-"F+_A=t+—HIL%E

15. FRAEEE HE8®#)

SHEEARMAFHEENEENE
AgEE RZT__FR-F=—
F+ZA=+—H AEENHEES

BOTAR
At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had lease liabilities as R_EBE-_—FER-_FT-_—%+_-H
follows: =t+—B AEEMNHEESGRWTAH
NG
(3
Present value of
the minimum lease
payments Total minimum lease
EEEENRNAE RIEHESRAE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E--F T ZB-&E —T-—fF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETRT ARETRT ARETT
Within 1 year 1R 673 — 697 —
After 1 year but within 2 years 1TFAE2FUR 115 — 116 —
788 813
Less: total future interest expenses Ji : RKF|E & P12 (25)
Present value of lease liabilities HEBENRE 788 —
Analysed by: BTIEBETH
Rental premises HEMZE 788 —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-—F+-A=t-HILFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. V¥ BEKRRKE
( 3

Construction

Buildings Machinery Vehicles Others in progress Total
#7 HE L] Efh fRIR a5t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Cost BRA

As at 1 January 2021 RZE=—F—H—H 195,376 780,450 4728 25,883 46,552 1,052,989
Additions NE 362 2,246 — 37 3,423 6,068
Disposal HE — (622) (185) — - (807)
Transfer from investment property HEABRANFE 4,854 - - - - 4,854
Exchange alignment fE 5 R — — (18) (84) — (102)

As at 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 R =T ——%F

+ZA=+—8k

—E-—%—/F—H 200,592 782,074 4,525 25,836 49,975 1,063,002
Additions NE — 80 1,409 118 3,893 5,500
Transfer upon completion SEAK B — 5,454 — - (5,454) -
Exchange alignment BEE 34, 38 22 - - 81 269 - 350
As at 31 December 2022 R-E-_—&

+=ZB=+-H 200,592 787,608 6,015 26,223 48,414 1,068,852

Accumulated depreciation and impairment R & 378 & R{E

As at 1 January 2021 RZZE-—F—H—H 67,365 493,386 3,499 18,755 — 583,005
Depreciation for the year FRFTE 7,682 49,554 331 359 - 57,926
Disposal HE — (604) (179) — - (783)
Transfer from investment property HEABRAUFEE 409 - - - - 409
Exchange alignment fE A — — (16) (83) — (99)

As at 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 AT =—%F

+TZA=+—Hk

—E--_F#—Hf—H 75,456 542,336 3,635 19,031 — 640,458
Depreciation for the year FRITE 7,543 47,307 350 325 - 55,525
Exchange alignment fE R — — 61 265 — 326
As at 31 December 2022 R-E-—&

+=ZB=+-H 82,999 589,643 4,046 19,621 = 696,309
Carrying value IREE
As at 31 December 2022 R-B-—F

+=ZA=+—-8H 117,593 197,965 1,969 6,602 48,414 372,543
As at 31 December 2021 RZT=Z—F

+=-A=+—H 125,136 239,738 890 6,805 49,975 422,544
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment has been charged to

the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

(3

RERBERME
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_T--F+-A=+-ALFE

16. ¥ - BERREE)
E BERRBFECREAER
R - HEBOT

Year ended 31 December

BEET-A=t-HLEE

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Cost of sales
Selling and distribution costs
Administrative expenses

iHE AR
HERDHER
THER

48,455 54,669
127 61
6,943 3,196
55,525 57,926

As at 31 December 2022, the Group was in the process of applying
for registration of the ownership certificates for certain of its building
with an aggregate carrying value of approximately RMB245,000
(2021: RMB264,000). The executive Directors are of the opinion
that the Group is entitled to lawfully and validly occupy or use the

property.

RZE-_—_F+-A=+—H" K&
= IF st B R E E 49 A K % 245,000 7T
(ZZEZ—F: AR%264,0007T ) #)
ETEFRENBEMAREFER B
NEERAEAEEBREAZEZBRERA
SkFRZIE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE_Z_—F+-A=1t-HLFE

16.

226

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2022, factory plants with carrying value of
approximately RMB53,043,000 were secured for bank borrowings
with carrying amounts of approximately RMB72,000,000 (Notes
33(b)) (As at 31 December 2021, factory plants with carrying value
of approximately RMB57,465,000 were secured for bank borrowings
with carrying amounts of approximately RMB75,000,000).

The category of machinery includes production lines leased by the
Group to two related parties (2021: two) under operating leases with
the following net carrying amounts:

16. ¥ - BERREE)

R-EBE-—_F#+-A=+—R0" &
mE A% AR ¥53,043,0007T &
BEEHERTERBEANARYE
72,000,000 7o AR 1T fE 51 (M5 33(b))
(RZBEZ—F+ZA=+—8"
FEEMEALN ARST7,4650007T K
BEEHERTERBEANARYE
75,000,0007T) °

BENDBEERARBERELEHE
MmEEET(CE-—F WA
HEOEESR  REFEWT

( 3

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—HLEE
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARBETFT
Cost DN 97,559 97,559
Accumulated depreciation at 1 January R—A—BRHTE (73,245) (66,942)
Depreciation for the year FERTE (6,303) (6,303)
Carrying value REE 18,011 24,314
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‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE-Z-"F+_A=t+—HIL%E

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17. REMEHE
( 3
Building
BF
RMB'000
ARETR
Cost %
As at 1 January 2021 RnZZ-—4%—H—H 4,854
Transfers to property, plant and equipment BEENE  BEREH (4,854)
As at 31 December 2021, 1 January 2022 R-B-—-F+=-H=+—-H"
and 31 December 2022 “E_"H-A-HRE
=®-=%t=A=t-H —
Accumulated depreciation REiE 409
As at 1 January 2021 WZZE_—%—F—H (409)

Transfers to property, plant and equipment

BEENX - BENERE —

As at 31 December 2021, 1 January 2022
and 31 December 2022

RZB-_—-§+=ZA=+—-8"
—E2--HE-A-AK
—E-_-"f+-HA=+-H —

Carrying Value
As at 31 December 2022

As at 31 December 2021

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group's investment
properties had been transfer to property, plant and equipment.

HE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HItF
B AEEREERMECERZEY
¥ BB MH&E -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z_—F+-A=1t-HLFE

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. BEE
(3
Trade Distribution Information
Name Network System Total
L] DML EEAHZ st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETr ARETRT ARETR
Cost B
As at 1 January 2021, RZE-Z—F—H—H"
31 December 2021, —E-—4%+-A=+—H"
1 January 2022 and —ZZf-HA—Bk
31 December 2022 “E-"F+-A=+—H 58,200 151,100 173 209,473
Accumulated amortisation ESE: £
As at 1 January 2021 WZZE-—%—F—H 23,927 141,165 96 165,188
Charge for the year FAXH 3,198 9,935 32 13,165
As at 31 December 2021 and RZE-_—F+-A=+—HEF
1 January 2022 —E--F—A—H 27,125 151,100 128 178,353
Charge for the year FAZH 3,198 — 32 3,230
As at 31 December 2022 R-B--_f+-HA=+-H 30,323 151,100 160 181,583
Carrying amount REE
As at 31 December 2022 R-B-—f+=-A=+—H 27,877 — 13 27,890
As at 31 December 2021 RZE-_—%+-_F=+—H 31,075 — 45 31,120

Amortisation of approximately RMB3,230,000 (2021: RMB3,230,000)

£ A R #3,230,000 T 0y # $5(= T
is included in the “Administrative expenses” and nil (2021: ——%: AR#3,230,0007T) 5t AL
RMB9,935,000) is included in “Selling and distribution costs” in the BEGZERNITTHRER] MEHHE(Z
T —4F: AR#¥9,9350007T)5 A
RABERNEERIHER] -

consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE-R-__F1-A=t-RLFE

19. GOODWILL 19. EHE
(3 ...
As at 31 December
R+=-H=+-8

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
Tiandi Green pas:Fde) 721,139 721,139

The goodwill of approximately RMB721,139,000 was generated
from acquisition of a controlling stake in Tiandi Green in 2014.
Tiandi Green was viewed as one CGUs within the beer segment. The
recoverable amount of the CGUs is determined based on value-in-
use calculations, which is based on discounted cash flow sourced
from the financial budgets approved by the management covering a
5-year period, and the discount rate of approximately 15.79% (2021:
14.5%) that reflects current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the CGUs. Cash flows beyond 5-year
period have been extrapolated using 3% (2021: 3%) growth rate
per annum. Other assumptions included budgeted income estimated
based on the past performance and management’s expectations of
market developments, etc.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change in any
these assumptions would not cause the carrying amounts of the
CGUs to exceed their recoverable amounts.

As the recoverable amounts of the CGUs is higher than the carrying
amounts, the Directors are of the view that there was no impairment
of goodwill as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

RZZE-NFRBERBEFEHER
BEEHARKT721,139,000 T8 &
B XIFEHERATEEESBAK
—BReELEMN - BEELEMD
ARESENERNFERABENTE
BT ZAEAENREEEEME
ZERERFHRE M BHEENERER
SR UERBBEETHEYESERE
ERHHSELEMNHARR TR
HBRI R 1579% (— & = — 5
145%) - BBEFHEZESRER
ﬁ&¢9u777—¢ 3%)ER X

cHMBRREEREBERAK
Eﬁ%ﬂm%%%Zﬁ%%ﬁﬂmﬁ
WA -

EEEMGHZSREANIMNSER
REHITEEHREELEMNER
ERBEAKEEE

HRESELBAMARESES R
FEE EERAR Tk
E-—F+-A=1+-HBHEBER
=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-—F+-A=+-BL%E

20. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD

( 4

Balance at 1 January n—A—B&&
Additions (note (a)) ANE (M3 ()
Share of results e
Declaration of dividend (note (b)) TR B (FF3E (b))

Deregistration of investment accounted for

using the equity method

Disposal of investment accounted for

using the equity method

Balance at 31 December

RtT-RA=1t—-RH&H

A RREEARNRE

REfAREEARNRE

20. ERAEREARNKRE

2022 2021
—E-F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT
1,416,403 650,697
54,000 765,698
(10,694) 8
(490) —
(1,083) —
(14,220) —
1,443,916 1,416,403

notes:

230

In April 2021, the Group acquired 31% equity interests in Shannan
Yalaxiangbu, a company incorporated in the PRC with other limited liability,
at a consideration of RMB465,000,000. Prior to the acquisition, the Group
already held 9% equity interests in Shannan Yalaxiangbu, which were
accounted for as “financial assets at FVTOCI” in the consolidated statement
of financial position for financial reporting purposes. Upon completion
of the acquisition, the Group held 40% equity interests in Shannan
Yalaxiangbu, and transferred the aggregate fair value of approximately
RMB190,698,000 to “Investments accounted for using the equity method”
in the consolidated statement of financial position in applying equity
method to account for the Group's investment in Shannan Yalaxiangbu.
Taking into consideration of the acquisition, a goodwill of approximately
RMB595,820,000 has been identified in the investment in Shannan
Yalaxiangbu.

In December 2021, the Group acquired 49% equity interests in Green
Tiandi Marketing, a company incorporated in the PRC with other limited
liability, at a consideration of RMB50,000,000. Taking into consideration
of the acquisition, a goodwill of approximately RMB48,856,000 has been
identified in the investment in Green Tiandi Marketing.
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BN 9% ORIE - ZERENGA IS
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AARMEERENSBEE AR
WERERE  AEEHELERLE
M 40% RHE - ERRREARASE
BHELERENEANRER  §AR
EBEEBHENH A AR 190,6980007T
BARETBRREQMERAESE
ARBEE] st RZENE B
WM ERARENARE
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20.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

notes: (continued)

(a)

(continued)

In December 2021, the Group's acquired 20% equity interests in Tibet Life
Water Marketing, a company incorporated in the PRC with other limited
liability, at a consideration of RMB60,000,000. Taking into consideration
of the acquisition, a goodwill of approximately RMB51,017,000 has been
identified in the investment in Tibet Life Water Marketing.

In December 2022, the Group's acquired 18% equity interests in Tibet Life
Water Marketing, a company incorporated in the PRC with other limited
liability, at a consideration of RMB54,000,000. Taking into consideration
of the acquisition, a goodwill of approximately RMB45,342,000 has been
identified in the investment in Tibet Life Water Marketing.

In 2022, Green Tiandi Marketing, an associate, declared dividends. The
Group recognised RMB490,000 dividends according to the percentage of
the equity interests held by the Group.

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HEZZ__S+"A=1t-HIFE

20. EREREARNRE®)

M5t « (%

(a)

(&)

R-E-—F+-f AEBKRER
B A2 KEHM20%M#E - AR
EmzkEEh—MEREFMAL
MEMERETAR REAARE
60,000,000t ° 5 RZIEWE - 25
AR ER O KEHRERBFIELHA
R#51,017,000 7

R-IBE-—F+=-F AEEKER
FAEMZKEHEN18%KE AR
HmzkEHEE—BEPBEEMAL
MEMEREEAR  REBAARE
54,000,000t ° 5 RZIEWE - 25
FERAERZKEHREERFTENA
R ¥ 45,342,000 7

RIZTZZF  BERRAZERME
HERRE - AEBZEFARRE
AN LERARE 490,000 T2 E -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-—F+-A=t-HILFE

20. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 20. ERAEDEANRNREE)

(CONTINUED)
Set out below are the associates of the Group as at 31 December TXEHIN B _FRZFT_—F
2022 and 2021. T A=t—BAREEZBERF -
(2
% of
ownership
Place of interest and voting
business/country rights held by Principal
Name of entity of incorporation the Group activities
EEHE rEEfERERES
BEREEE SRR L B R RRAEBDL TEXR
2022 2021
—Eo_F —E-—%F
Tibet Highland Natural The PRC 43.981 43,981 Manufacturing and distribution
Water Limited of water products
s RRAKER AR HE BUE R D #HKEm
Tibet Fudi Natural Beverage The PRC 25 25 Manufacturing and distribution of
Packaging Ltd. bottle preforms, caps and other
raw materials and consumables
ARRMAARmBE i BUE K 5 IR E & H A R E K
BREERAT FEM
Great Wall 5100 Technology The PRC = 40 Distribution of water products
Co., Ltd.
RAUA—ZZRRARAA i B 7 $HKE d
Guangzhou Mingzhu 5100 The PRC = 34 Distribution of water products
Drinking Water Co., Ltd
BMAAKL—ZZ i 7 HKE m
RAKEBRAR
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20.

‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE_Z_—F+-A=1-HIFE

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 20. ERAEDEANRNREE)
(CONTINUED)

Set out below are the associates of the Group as at 31 December TXEHIN B _FRZFT_—F
2022 and 2021. (continued) TZA=t-HAKBEZBERF -
(&
(2
% of
ownership
Place of interest and voting
business/country rights held by Principal
Name of entity of incorporation the Group activities
EEMY rEBEfiERAERES
BRER 3T RERREBDL TEEB
2022 2021
—EBooF —T_—F
Tibet Shannan Yalaxiangbu The PRC 40 40 Manufacturing and distribution
Industrial Ltd. of water products
AELERELETEXRRLR $E BUE R HHKE m
Green Tiandi Food Marketing ~ The PRC 49 49 Distribution of beverage products
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
FeXmRmEHORI) i 7 tHER M
BRAR
Tibet Life Water Marketing The PRC 38 20 Distribution of beverage products
Co., Ltd.
PR KEHER AR E 7 tHER M
* Guangzhou Mingzhu 5100 Drinking Water Co., Ltd was deregistered in * BEMNTHEEA—TZRAEKERAA
2022. RIZZ_FHHEERL -
# 40% of ownership interest in Great Wall 5100 Technology Co., Ltd. was # RUL—ZZREEBRDA140% H P
disposed of in 2022. EREZNR-_T-_—_FHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z_—F+-A=1t-HLFE

20. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)
Summarised financial information for a material associate - Highland
Natural Water
The tables below provide the summarised financial information of the
Highland Natural Water shown in its financial statements prepared in
accordance with IFRSs.

Summarised statement of financial position

( 4

20. EREREARNRE®)

BEABENTDNBERBME-BRX
Rk
TERIVNBRRAKZAHKERH
ZDREBEZAREREEVBRE
EARBH N EREFR o

B HRR KRB E

As at 31 December

R+t=B=+-R

2022 2021

—E-CfF BT

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T R AREF T

Current assets REEE 310,440 171,226

Non-current assets FERBEE 490,370 541,834

Current liabilities RBEE (335,621) (311,182)

Non-current liabilities FRBEE (101,502) (18,409)
Equity attributable to owners ARAEA NEEER

of the Company 363,687 383,469
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20.

‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate - Highland

RERBERME
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_T--F+-A=+-ALFE

20. EREREARNRE®)

EXBEQARAMBENBE-BRX

Natural Water (continued) RK(E)
Summarised statement of profit or loss BRRUE
( 4
Year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=+t—-HLEE
2022 2021
—E-CfF B
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR% TR ARBFT
Revenue WA 213,420 348,744
Gross profit EM 44,554 156,727
Adjusted EBITDA* HEESNITE REHATAE* 16,394 59,678
Loss before income tax BRPTEHIAIE B (21,578) (10,378)
Income tax credit TSR 2 1,795 1,038
Loss for the year FHEE (19,783) (9,340)
Total comprehensive loss FEERER (19,783) (9,340)

* Adjusted EBITDA is calculated by excluding the following effects from
the loss for the year: (i) finance (cost)/income, net; (ii) depreciation and
amortisation; and income tax credit.

The information above reflects the amounts presented in the financial
statements of Highland Natural Water adjusted for differences in
accounting policies between the Group and Highland Natural Water.

HREEMTERBEFABENTE
TEEATREFABENTE ()
BEMAR)/ W38 ()ITE RS
W RASRER -

N EBERRBEERRRAKE B R
RTPEJ0FE  ERAREES

RRAKZE G HRNERENLTH

o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
Bz-Z2-—F+-A=+-HILFE

20. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate - Highland
Natural Water (continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented
to the carrying amount of the Group's interest in Highland Natural
Water recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

20. EREREARNRE®)

EXBEQARAMBENBE-BRX
RK(E)

HHENBENE R
REFIFHEEMM R BER M BEREK
AR AEBNERRAKE R
REEASE

(3
As at 31 December
R+=B=+-8

2022 2021
—E-F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFIT
Opening net assets as at 1 January R—A—BHFNEESFE 383,469 392,809
Loss for the year FERNER (19,783) (9,340)
Closing net assets FREETE 363,686 383,469
Interest in the associate REEE N RIHER 148,325 157,026
Goodwill [EES 280,256 280,256
Carrying value REE 428,581 437,282

Management performed impairment analysis for the investment in
Highland Natural Water. The recoverable amount of the investment is
determined based on value-in-use calculations, which is higher than
fair value less disposal costs. Management assessed the recoverable
amount and recognised no impairment loss during the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021.
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20.

‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate - Highland
Natural Water (continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information (continued)

These calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management covering the five-year
period when optimum market share is expected to be reached.
Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the
estimated growth rate.

This valuation uses cash flow projections based on financial
estimates covering a five-year period, and a pre-tax discount rate of
approximately 14.73% (2021: approximately 12.6%). The cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a steady 3.0%
(2021: 3.0%) growth rate. In cases where the actual cash flows are
less or more than expected, or change in facts and circumstances
which result in revision of future cash flows estimation or discount
rate, a material reversal or further recognition of impairment may
arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in
which such a reversal or further recognition takes place.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change in any
these assumptions would not cause the carrying amounts of the
CGUs to exceed their recoverable amounts.

As the recoverable amounts of the CGUs is higher than the carrying
amounts, no impairment loss on investments accounted for using
the equity method of these CGUs are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

20.

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_H+-B=1+-HI#E

EREREARNRE®)
EXBEQARAMBENBE-BRX
RK(E)

MHENBENER(EZ)

HEHEEATERAE B AR
BTEHAELEHRETHAE
REMRONBREZ AR E
B BBFHEORERENDE
MRS -

ZEERAERREREHRE Y
B b A 15 H & 3R &7 188 LA R B Al
BRI R N1473% (ZBE - —F: &
126%)5 8 - BBRFHRAZRER
ERE3.0%(ZE=—F :3.0%)1
STHRXHEE - MEERREAE
PRFARTES  EBAREFEMNE
A ERRKR 2 REM T
BERMOER Mg EE R ER
- SERRE  FEEEZRE
i~ AR PENBRE TR

EEEBREHZSREANTMSER
REHIEEYHRSELEUNEE
BB E A e 5 -

ARREELBEUNAREESESR
BREE RYERZEREELEN
HEREREARNKREN GBS
FEMEEWR R EZRERSE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z_—F+-A=1t-HLFE

20.

238

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate - Shannan
Yalaxiangbu

The tables below provide the summarised financial information of the
Shannan Yalaxiangbu shown in its financial statements prepared in
accordance with IFRSs.

20. EREREARNRE®)

ERBENRAMKERBE - LEH
AEMH
TREINUERNED 2 HERR
2 DIREZ LA ZRERABRE
R RAOTHRERIIR -

N

Summarised statement of financial position MBERRRBE
( 4
As at 31 December
R+=A=+-H
2022 2021
—E-CfF BT
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R AREF T
Current assets RBEE 34,360 39,310
Non-current assets FERBEE 459,885 471,477
Current liabilities RBEE (19,876) (108,151)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (329,638) (254,924)
Equity attributable to owners ARAEA NEEER
of the Company 144,731 147,712
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20.

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD

(CONTINUED)

‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summarised financial information for a material associate — Shannan

RERBERME
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_T--F+-A=+-ALFE

20. EREREARNRE®)

ERBENRAMKERBE - LEH

Yalaxiangbu (continued) NEHRE)
Summarised statement of profit or loss BRRUE

( 4 -
Period

ended from

Year ended 1 April 2021 to

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

—E-—F

#Z @©mA—AR=®

—E--F —E-—F

+=A=+-B +=-A=+—H

HEE 1 HARE

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®T R ARBTT

Revenue LN 65,444 86,382

Gross profit EF 32,463 33,771

Adjusted EBITDA* TR SRATE KRR AR * 9,033 9,031
Loss before income tax BrPT1S R AT E 18 (3,308) (2,227)

Income tax credit FiCyiin) 327 245
Loss for the year/period F/HNERE (2,981) (1,982)
Total comprehensive loss for year/period F/PNEEEREE (2,981) (1,982)

* Adjusted EBITDA is calculated by excluding the following effects from

the loss for the year: (i) finance (cost)/income, net; (ii) depreciation and

amortisation; and income tax credit.

The information above reflects the amounts presented in the financial

statements of Shannan Yalaxiangbu adjusted for differences in

accounting policies between the Group and Shannan Yalaxiangbu.

* AEREHTERBHATBOGE
TEEATREFABENTE ()
BEMA) /W38 ()TERE
o RAEHRER -

A £ R E L B TR A B
BRDRH2FNNE  BRAEER
LA T E T E R TR % R
i -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
Bz-Z2-—F+-A=+-HILFE

20.

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate - Shannan
Yalaxiangbu (continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to
the carrying amount of the Group's interest in Shannan Yalaxiangbu
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

( 4

20. EREREARNRE®)

ERBENRAMKERBE - LEH
NEm(E)

HHENBENE R
REFIFHEEMM R BER M BEREK
AR AEBR LB ERE D E S
F B T B A S4B

As at 31 December

R+=B=+-8
2022 2021
—E-F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFIT
Opening net assets as at 1 January R—A—BHFNEESFE 147,712 —
Addition (a) NE (a) — 149,694
Loss for the year FERNEE (2,981) (1,982)
Closing net assets FREEFE 144,731 147,712
Interest in the associate REEE R BIHER 57,892 59,085
Goodwill BES 595,820 595,820
Carrying value REE 653,712 654,905

240

Management performed impairment analysis for the investment in
Shannan Yalaxiangbu. The recoverable amount of the investment is
determined based on value-in-use calculations, which is higher than
fair value less disposal costs. Management assessed the recoverable
amount and recognised no impairment loss during the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021.
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20.

‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate - Shannan
Yalaxiangbu (continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information (continued)

These calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management covering the five-year
period when optimum market share is expected to be reached.
Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the
estimated growth rate.

This valuation uses cash flow projections based on financial
estimates covering a five-year period, and a pre-tax discount rate of
approximately 14.28% (2021: approximately 12.4%). The cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a steady 3.0%
(2021: 3.0%) growth rate. In cases where the actual cash flows are
less or more than expected, or change in facts and circumstances
which result in revision of future cash flows estimation or discount
rate, a material reversal or further recognition of impairment may
arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in
which such a reversal or further recognition takes place.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change in any
these assumptions would not cause the carrying amounts of the
CGUs to exceed their recoverable amounts.

As the recoverable amounts of the CGUs is higher than the carrying
amounts, no impairment loss on investments accounted for using
the equity method of these CGUs are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

20.

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_H+-B=1+-HI#E

EREREARNRE®)

ERBENRAMKERBE - LEH
NEm(E)

MHENBENER(EZ)
ZEHEERTERAEREEH AR
ETHERABEEIREMGNEN
IFRRMMEREZHARERE
R - BEAFHENASRENE
FfbEtEREEE -

ZEERAERREREHRE Y
B b A 15 H & 3R &7 188 LA R B Al
BEIR R N14.28% (B = —F: 4
124%)5 8 - BBRFHRAZRER
ERE3.0%(ZE=—F :3.0%)1
STHRXHEE - MEERREAE
PRFARTES  EBAREFEMNE
A ERRKR 2 REM T
BERMOER Mg EE R ER
- SERRE  FEEEZRE
i~ AR PENBRE TR

EEEBREHZSREANTMSER
REHIEEYHRSELEUNEE
BB E A e 5 -

ARREELBEUNAREESESR
BREE RYERZEREELEN
HEREREARNKREN GBS
FEMEEWR R EZRERSE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-—F+-A=t-HILFE

20. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 20. ERAEDEANRNREE)

(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate — Shannan

ERBENRAMKERBE - LEH

Yalaxiangbu (continued) NEHRE)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information (continued) MEERBENEHER(E)

(@) The following additional investments in associates were made (a) AEBEEBERFELMTEN
by the Group: RE :

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill arising from the
acquisition of Shannan Yalaxiangbu are as follows:

( 4

WL R E AR S E T
BREENHEHENT

As at 1
April 2021
(date of
acquisition)
R-B-—-F
MA—H
(hERH)
RMB'000
ARBT R

Purchase considerations:
- Consideration

— Original shareholding transfer from

financial assets at FVTOCI

Less: share of fair value of net assets (see below)

Goodwill

WEEHR(E :
—RE 465,000
—#ANAAEBEFEAEEZHFA
Hivz2EREEREER

[R5 H K 190,698
B EREEFEAABERT (59,878)
P 595,820

The goodwill is attributable to Shannan Yalaxiangbu's strong
market position and profitability in the sales of water products
in the market, which cannot be separately recognised as an

intangible asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RERBERME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HEZZ__S+"A=1t-HIFE

20. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 20. ERAEDEANRNREE)

(CONTINUED)
Summarised financial information for a material associate — Shannan EEBENAMBEENBE - LER
Yalaxiangbu (continued) NEHRE)
Reconciliation of summarised financial information (continued) MEERMENERE)
(@) The following additional investments in associates were made (a) AEBEEBERFELMTEN
by the Group: (continued) KE: (&
(3 -
As at 1
April 2021
(date of
acquisition)
R-ZB=-—%
MA—H
(kEBEH)
RMB’000
AR®T R
Fair value of net assets acquired: FrEEEFENAREE -
Cash and cash equivalent BeMBReEED 6,150
Prepayment BRHIE 525
Trade receivables and other receivables FEUCE 5 3% I E i B W 5 TE 16,763
Inventories & 10,492
Property, plant and equipment ER Y& 387,950
Right-of-use assets EREEE 13,355
Intangible assets B EE 79,776
Trade payables and other payables FERTE 5 5% H A AT R (24,202)
Contract liabilities SREE (31,435)
Bank loans RITEK (302,500)
Deferred tax liabilities EEREEE (7,180)
Net assets acquired TR E ESE 149,694
Ownership interest acquired U B B R 2 40%
Share of fair value of net assets acquired I BEEFENRABE 59,878
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z_—F+-A=1t-HLFE

20. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 20. ERAEDEANRNREE)

(CONTINUED)
Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material BRIFERKENTANGEER
( 4
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=t+—-HLEE
2022 2021
—E-CfF —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBFT
The Group's share of (loss)/profit AEBEEE(ER) 57 (801) 4,909
The Group's share of total comprehensive  AEBEEEZ2E(EIE),/ WL HE
(loss)/income (801) 4,909
Dividend received for the year FRE B E 490 —
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's ~ AEBRZFH 2N AN
interests in these associates REA&E 361,623 324,216
21. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES 21. BEBEEE &6
The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as BEENEEEEEHEARN DN
follows: LU
( 4
As at 31 December
R+=A=t-8
2022 2021
—E-CfF —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETFT
Deferred tax assets ELREEE 4,570 5,000
Deferred tax liabilities EEBiEAaE (6,929) (8,539)
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‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HEZZ__S+"A=1t-HIFE

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 21. EEREBELE BB (£)
The balances of deferred tax assets and liabilities as at 31 December RZE-_ZF+-A=+—H" ' EE
2022 were not offset because the deferred tax assets and liabilities MEBEEERBBEALAREE A
related to income taxes were levied by different taxation authorities. REZEELCHBEEREBERAN
The movement of deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year is PSR B TRRBEBARK - FRE
as follows: EHBEERBENESHNT
( 4
Net Other
impairment Deferred ~ Convertible  temporary
losses income bonds  differences Total
HE Hitr
BAFE ELhE AakEx IREEE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AR®TR AR%Trt AR%®Tn AR%Tn
Deferred tax assets EEHEEE
As at 1 January 2021 W-E-—%-F-A 2,190 667 — 420 4,277
Credited/(charged) to profitor & A/ (KR E)ER
loss (Note 10) (ME10) 862 (63) - (76) 723
As at 31 December 2021 RZEZ—-F+ZR=1+—H
and 1 January 2022 k=E-—_%—-F—H 3,052 1,604 — 344 5,000
Charged to profit or loss BBk (FfE10)
(Note 10) (295) (63) — (72) (430)
As at 31 December 2022 R-F-Z#+-A=1-H 2,757 1,541 — 21 4,570
Deferred tax liabilities BERESE
As at 1 January 2021 R-E-—-F%—H—H — — — (7,371) (7,371)
Deferred tax arising from HRREFEENELHE
Convertible Bonds — — (3,770) — (3,770)
Credited to profit or loss (Note 10) st A8z (FizE10) — — 819 1,518 2,337
Conversion of Convertible Bonds ~ E# o[ E# — — 194 — 194
Exchange alignment & 5 R — — 71 — 71
As at 31 December 2021 RZTZ—-$+ZA=1—-H
and 1 January 2022 k=F--%—-7—-H — — (2,686) (5,853) (8,539)
Credited to profit or loss (Note 10) s Az (FizE10) - - 1,186 624 1,810
Exchange alignment 5% — — (200) — (200)
As at 31 December 2022 “RIZE+ZA=t-H — — (1,700) (5.229) (6,929)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z_—F+-A=1t-HLFE

21.

246

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2022, certain subsidiaries’ future taxable income
would not be available against which their temporary losses could be
utilised and also the losses of those subsidiaries would not be offset
by the taxable income of other subsidiaries within the Group, as there
is no legally enforceable right to do so. As such, the Group did not
recognise deferred tax assets of approximately RMB26,563,000 (2021:
RMB20,816,000) in respect of losses amounting to approximately
RMB110,990,000 (2021: RMB86,446,000) that can be carried forward
against future taxable income. As at 31 December 2022, tax losses of
approximately RMB110,990,000 (2021: RMB86,446,000) will expire
after five year of assessment on the following dates to offset the
future taxable income:

21.

ELERBEE BE#)
RZZE-—ZF+=-A=+—H ' &F
BT /8 2 B B R R R B U A S A TR
HERUEE MZEWNBRTANE
B RASBEEMKE QR ER
BAKSE - RAYTABEEMN
BEAEEIMITER - HMAREL &
RAUEBERRERTBANBENHA
E‘ﬁf"ﬁ110,990,0007_t(:§:—¢ N
R #86,446,000 T ) ERELEHIBE
EH AR 26,563,000T( == —
£ ANR#20,816,0007T) c R =&
ZZEFZ AT —BHEBEARER
UL A4 AR 110,990,000 L(=F
——%: AR#86,446,0007T ) Fi
EEBERABETIHEERNH T A
HAfEm

(3

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=1T—-HLEFE
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB’'000
ARBTR AREFIT

Expiring in RATNEE &M

-2022 ——ZT-— — 15,644
-2023 —-—E-=F 7,544 7,544
- 2024 —ZTZF 6,142 6,142
- 2025 ~-—ZT"hF 45,576 45,576
-2026 - XF 11,540 11,540
-2027 —ZZ+F 40,188 —
110,990 86,446
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22.

‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE-Z-"F+_A=t+—HIL%E

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 21. EERBEE &GEB(#E)

Deferred tax liabilities of approximately RMB136,899,000 (2021: ARRN LR BB AR E A 9k
RMB134,126,000) had not been recognised for the withholding tax REBEF AR E2,050,766,000 7T
that would be payable on the distributable retained profits amounting (ZZF=—%: AR%1,978,461,000
to approximately RMB2,050,766,000 (2021: RMB1,978,461,000) TO)ENBNRERETCHRERENA
of the Company’s PRC subsidiaries. The Group has no intention to % 136,899,000 C(ZE=_—%: A
distribute these retained earnings out from the PRC subsidiaries in F£%134,126,0007T) © REEIL T

the foreseeable future.

BRI BRRETFEHBRF RIS

KZERE B

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER 22. UAARBEFEEHSBHTAHM
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME PEHKENERMEE
( 3
Year ended
31 December 2021
BE_T_—F
TZA=T—HLEFE
RMB'000
ARETT
Balance at 1 January R—B—BM&e 174,482
Transfer to investments accounted BRSFAEREARNIRE
for using the equity method (note (a)) (Fi3E (@) (190,698)
Net loss recognised upon disposal HERERNFEE —
Fair value changes RABEE 16,216

Balance at 31 December (note (b))

Rt=HA=+—-B w0 b) —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z_—F+-A=1t-HLFE

22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER 22.
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED)

notes:

(@  In April 2021, the Group acquired 31% equity interests in Shannan
Yalaxiangbu, a company incorporated in the PRC with other limited liability,
at a consideration of RMB465,000,000. Prior to the acquisition, the Group
already held 9% equity interests in Shannan Yalaxiangbu, which were
accounted for as “financial assets at FVTOCI" in the consolidated statement
of financial position for financial reporting purposes. Upon completion
of the acquisition, the Group held 40% equity interests in Shannan
Yalaxiangbu, and transferred the aggregate fair value of approximately
RMB190,698,000 to “Investments accounted for using the equity method”
in the consolidated statement of financial position in applying equity
method to account for the Group's investment in Shannan Yalaxiangbu.
Goodwill arose on the acquisition of the shares in Shannan Yalaxiangbu.

(b)  The above unlisted equity investments represent the Group's equity interest
in a private entity established in the PRC. The directors have elected to
designate these investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI as they
believe that the investment is held for long-term.

UAREBEFEEESHT AHM
PHRENERMEE(E)

Bt

(@ RIZEZ—FNA FAEEUARE
465,000,000 ST EUE LR TERL &
m(—BRPEEMR AL ERE
ERE)3N%EMRE - RIKER - &
SEEFEILBELEM 9% B RE -
REAIBIRARFATARAEE
FEAHEBHAELMZARENS
BEEINEMBREZEN - R
EREfE  ARERELBEHELER
40% 5 HE - YHBARBEOARE
190,698,000 JL 8 & £ 474 B kR &
[fEREREARNRE] ERER
EHAEERILERELEMKRES
REE - WELRBENERROEAL
R

(b) LHiZEERBRARERKRAEBRS
BIRUALAERNBRAED EF
BESELRERER/URABEET
EHHEHFALBEIERGENER
I8 EARtMRAZRERRES

ey e
23. TRADE RECEIVABLES 23. EWESZN
( 3
As at 31 December
R+=-B=+-8

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBETFT
Trade receivables due from third parties RURE=FE SR 284,598 345,380
Less: allowance for ECL B REHEEEERE (94,099) (90,723)
190,499 254,657
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group's trade receivables due
from third parties were all denominated in RMB. The credit period
is generally 90 to 180 days. The aging analysis of trade receivables
based on invoice dates is as follows:

23.

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HEZZ__S+"A=1t-HIFE

EWESZRE)
RZEZZFRZT=Z—F+=ZA
=t+—B AEERKE=ZFNES
FHUARESE - EEH KA
Z180K - EREZHHMNE HENK
FHBRERDITOT

As at 31 December

W+=—A=+—H
2022 2021
—E-F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Within 6 months 6MEAM 53,607 97,392
Over 6 months but within 1 year FRE6 E AENEEF 15,498 20,578
Over 1 year but within 2 years BB1FEETBBE2F 94,717 78,878
Over 2 years FRiE 2 F 120,776 148,532
284,598 345,380

For the trade receivables arising from sales of water and beer
products, the Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to
measure the ECL which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance. This
resulted in the recognition of loss allowance for trade receivables
amounting to approximately RMB86,643,000 (2021: RMB31,488,000)
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Information about the impairment assessment of trade receivables
and the Group's exposure to credit risk can be found in Note 5.1(b).

AEBERBRM RS ERE IR
ZEERENSFERFERANBRE
BREETEANEBEREEEEN
EHEZRNEHREESE BEZ
E--_F+-A=+—-HIFE A
ERRANEREIRNEERENA
AR #86,643,0007C(—F = —4:
AR #31,488,0007T) °

BREKEZFRENERAEEE
B AR E BB HIR5.1(b) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-_#+-B=+-HI%E

24. PREPAYMENTS
>

24,

BARE

As at 31 December

W+=B=+-H
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AREFT
Prepayments for purchase of raw materials, & RME « BREARDE -
services and properties, BB &R AR TR IR
plant and equipment 207,537 137,710
Less: Non-current portion - prepayment A ERBEHS —BEWE
for purchase of properties, plant EEE L)
and equipment (note) T FRIE (P E) (8,057) (8,130)
Current portion TEH D 199,480 129,580

note: These balances represent prepayments made for the purchase of properties,
plant and equipment, the ownership of which has not been obtained at

year end.

The carrying amounts of current and non-current prepayments are

i 2SHEBERBENE  BERRAE
(ELPA A I 5 R n R RS ) T TR A A9

HA -

MEBRIFRBD AN FAORIEAT

denominated in the following currencies: FIEHEHE
(3
As at 31 December
R+=B=+-H

2022 2021
—E--F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFIT
- RMB - AR 203,947 132,625
— HKD — BT 1,536 3,205
- Usb —ET 2,054 1,880
207,537 137,710
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25.

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST 25.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE-Z-"F+_A=t+—HIL%E

DBSREATENEMEREE

®

As at 31 December

®+=ZA=+—H
2022 2021
—E-—F 2 —F
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETFT
Amounts due from third parties (note(a)) FEW S =77 5/ 38 (Pt (a)) 941,548 749,019
Amounts due from associates f”ﬂlﬂ‘é‘ﬁ‘é@ HIA
(note(b)) (P EE (b)) — 2,502
Deposits g 270 270
Others (note(c)) o (3 () 67,802 262,514
1,009,620 1,014,305
Less: allowance for ECL B TRHEEEERE (29,392) (27,418)
980,228 986,887
notes: B e
(@) As at 31 December 2022, the loans to third party companies with (@ RIZE_ZF+-A=+—H &#
outstanding principal amounting to approximately RMB941,485,000 (2021: FTEZFRAKREERE2BARA
RMB748,955,000), which bore an annual interest rate of 2.8 to 5% (2021: R#941,485,000L(ZF=—%F : A
5%). Based on the contractual terms, the loans will be repaid before 31 R #748,955,00070 ) 2 E &+ F F
December 2023. The Group does not hold any collateral over the loans. RE285%(ZT-—F :5%)c iR
BANEGR  ZERBR-Z==F
TZR=+—HAER  AEEL K
RZEFERFEEMERR -
(b)  As at 31 December 2021, included in the balance was a loan to Fudi b)) RZEZ—F+ZA=+—H 1

Packaging, with principal amount of approximately RMB2,502,000, which
bore an annual interest rate of 10% and was unsecured. During the year
ended 31 December 2022, the amount was fully settled.

HIREBEDEAESBELHAARE
2,502,000 T2 ERGT AL - FFIE
B10% EAEEA HE-T-—F
+ZA=+—BLEERN ZRED

ZEEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z_—F+-A=1t-HLFE

25.

252

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST (CONTINUED)

notes: (continued)

() As at 31 December 2022, the balance mainly included the dividend
receivables from Highland Natural Water of approximately RMB 34,805,000
(2021: RMB48,452,000); other receivable from disposal in structured
financial products was nil (2021: RMB190,000,000), which has been fully
settled as at the reporting date; other tax recoverable of approximately
RMB189,000 (2021: RMB189,000) and advance to staffs of approximately
RMB1,313,400 (2021: RMB1,825,000).

Information about the impairment assessment of other financial
assets at amortised cost and the Group’s exposure to credit risk can
be found in Note 5.1(b).

The carrying amounts of other financial assets at amortised cost are

25.

DBSREATENEMEREE

(&)
P

(@

(%)

RZE-_—E+-A=+—0  ##
TERRRRERAZRKBREHAR
#34,805000(ZFE - —F: AR
48,452,000 7) ; FEUH B 481
MERNEMFBAZ(ZE=—F:
AR #190,000,0007T) + sZARER R
LHHERYEE  EekERE
HMARM189,000L(ZT=—F: A
R #189,0007T) REFRNBEIT#FKLHA
R#1313400L(ZF=—F: AR
#1,825,0007T) °

BRNERKAENEMEREE
KR E R AR BE B R AR
BRI 1(b)

NEBRKAGENE LS REENR

denominated in the following currencies: EEATIEEE
. —
As at 31 December
R+t=B=+-R

2022 2021
—E-CfF BT
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%¥TR AREFT
- RMB — AR 965,881 986,295
— HKD —BTT 14,347 592
980,228 986,887
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26.

27.

‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVENTORIES
>

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_H+-B=1+-HI#E

26. FE

As at 31 December

R+=-B=+-8
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T R AREFIT
Raw materials EA R 90,680 76,067
Finished goods - at cost SUPK dn — R AR 10,705 10,165
Work in progress TR & 5,153 4,359
106,538 90,591

The cost of inventories which was recognised as an expense

and was included in “cost of sales” amounted to approximately
RMB140,585,000 (2021: RMB192,833,000) for the year ended 31
December 2022.

HEZT-—_F+-A=1+—HLF
B HMRAABERIAIHEERAKIH
FERAL A AR 140,585,000 7T
(ZZE=Z—%F: AR 192,833,000

JT)
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 27. UAREBEFEEESBARS
( 4
2022 2021
—E-CfF 2o —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARETFT
Balance at 1 January R—A—BH&EsR 2,000 192,328
Net gains recognised upon disposal (Note 8) HERERMHUEFE (M) = 9,189
Fair value changes (Note 8) RABEEE(HES) (2,000) (9,517)
Disposal in structured financial products IR E S (R
(note i) — (190,000)
Balance at 31 December RTZA=+—HBIHEH% — 2,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z_—F+-A=1t-HLFE

27.

28.

254

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)

note:

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group disposed of
the investment in structured financial products at a consideration of
approximately RMB190,000,000 and a gain of approximately RMB9,189,000
was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

All financial asset at FVTPL are denominated in RMB as at 31
December 2022 and 31 December 2021.

Information about the methods and assumptions used in determining

27.

UAREBEFEEESHT AER
VERMEE(E)
B5E -

(i) REE_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—H
LEE AEEUREHNARE
190,000,000 7T i1 & ¥ & 16 1 IR 01 E @
i E - WEHARE9,189,000LE

R_E-—FR-_FE-_—F+_Hf
=+-B WAREEHEAHEH
SARADSREE R BUARE
=8

FREELABEMANITERERR

fair value is provided in Note 5.3. B E R E R HIEES.3 o
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 28. BHekREEZEY
( 4
As at 31 December
R+=B=+—8H
2022 2021
—E--F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFIT
Cash on hand FHER® 424 337
Cash at bank BITFER 39,142 13,306
Restricted bank deposits SR HIRITIER 18,581 40,175
58,147 53,818
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_H+-B=1+-HI#E

28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED) 28. BERBEEEY#E)

®

As at 31 December

R+ZA=+—H
2022 2021
—EB-CF —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETFT

Denominated in: HEEE .

- RMB — AR 46,738 53,114
- UsD -7 988 28
- HKD —BT 10,413 668
- Others —Eft 8 8
58,147 53,818

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’ s cash and cash equivalents
amounting to approximately RMB47,623,000 (2021: RMB53,070,000)
were held in the financial institutions located in the mainland of PRC.
The remaining balances of approximately RMB10,524,000 (2021:
RMB748,000) were held in major financial institutions located in the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.

The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies
and the remittance of the foreign currencies out of the mainland of
PRC are subject to relevant rules and regulations of foreign exchange
control promulgated by the PRC government.

The Group earns interests on cash at bank at floating bank deposit
rates, which range from 0.001% to 1.35% per annum for the year
ended 31 December 2022 (2021: range from 0.001% to 1.35% per
annum).

As at 31 December 2022, bank deposits of approximately
RMB18,581,000 (2021: RMB40,175,000) are restricted mainly as
guarantee for payments of bank acceptances.

RZEZZF+ZA=+—H' K
SENReRAZTENNARE
47,623,000(ZE = —F: AR%
53,070,000 7T ) R £ Bl K BER) € Rl i
BEA - BHHAR 10,524,000 7T
(ZZ=Z—%F: AR™748,0007T)H
EAFITHEN T ZS KBRS -

UARBHENGHR LB AINE AR
BOMNEIERBIARREES - RE T
BRI A HO R B SN 6114 B e AR

AEBRFHRITERFERLIETE
ABEAE HE-_Z-—F+-A8
S+ —HLEFE - BAFRENT
0.001% £1.35% (ZF=—%F : FF
ENTF0.001% £ 1.35%) °

RZZEZZF+ZA=+—H ' ZR
il 88 17 77 ;K4 A K %18,581,0007T
(ZZ=—%F: AR¥40,175,0007T)
TEERRITALEZHMATIER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-—F+-A=t-HILFE

29. TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES
>

29. ENESRREAERE

As at 31 December

W+=B=+-H
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AREFT
Trade payables ENE S 68,338 77,923
Notes payables FANES 178,580 200,000
246,918 277,923
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the aging analysis of trade i —E-—F+=A
payables based on invoice dates is as follows: =t+—H EREFHHNENES

FHRERAMOT

As at 31 December

R+=—BA=+—8
2022 2021
—E--F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFIT
Within 3 months 3fEAA 41,407 45,211
Over 3 months but within 6 months B3 MEAETREEA 4,539 8,218
Over 6 months but within 1 year 86 18 A AR F 4,957 960
Over 1 year but within 2 years BB1FEETBGE2F 4,102 11,572
Over 2 years B2 F 13,333 11,962
68,338 77,923
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29.

‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group's trade payables were
all denominated in RMB and were not interest bearing.

The credit period on trade payables is generally within 90 days.

As at 31 December 2022, the bank acceptance notes amounting
to approximately RMB178,580,000 (2021: RMB200,000,000) were
guaranteed by bank deposits of approximately RMB18,581,000 (2021:
RMB40,000,000).

According to the agreement of bank acceptance notes, maturity
dates of notes payables are based on the following schedule:
RMB 100,000,000 on 25 February 2023, RMB11,110,000 on 10 March
2023, RMB800,000 on 21 June 2023 and RMB66,670,000 on 17
October 2023 (2021: RMB125,000,000 and RMB75,000,000 on 2
March 2022 and 24 November 2022), respectively. The amount of
approximately RMB111,110,000 (2021: RMB125,000,000) was repaid

subsequent to the end of the reporting period.

29.

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_H+-B=1+-HI#E

ENEZRREAREE)
RZEZZFRZT=Z—F+=ZA
=t+—B8  AEENEZFEMNTHU
ARBEHE  WATFTE -

BHRNFNEER -—RRIOKXZ
WO

RZEZZF+-A=+—H &8
WA AR 178,580,000 L(Z T = —
F: AR 200,000,000 ) #4817
EAEZHA /AR 18,581,000
(ZZ=—%: AR¥40,000,0007T)
B ERITIE RIELR ©

BRERTEALEZHZ  ENRED
HEBERATEHE : RZF_=F
ZAZTHBIHOREBEAARE
100,000,0007c: A Z-=4=A
THEHBHFRIERS AR 11,110,000
T RZEZZFANAZ+—HE
HH % 1E A AR %800,0007T b”\
ZEC=F+ATEHIBHT
A AR #66,670,0007T : (:%:f
F R_E-__F=ZA-AK=ZF
T Ft+-AZtTHmBEIHHR
B R A AR %125000,000T &
A R #75,000,0007T ) HJ AR
111,110,000 (== —%F : AR®
125,000,000 7T ) K] € B8 A o5 EA 45
‘BEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z_—F+-A=1t-HLFE

30. DEFERRED REVENUE 30. EZEWA
( 3
As at 31 December
R+=-B=+-8
2022 2021
—E--F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETFT
Non-current 7B
Government grant BUT B 11,394 13,768
Current RE
Government grant ESRETE)) 2,374 2,374

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group's deferred revenue
was all denominated in RMB.

Tibet Glacier Mineral Water and Tiandi Green, the indirectly wholly
subsidiaries of the Company were granted and received subsidies
from the local government to compensate its efforts to increase its
production capacity in the past years.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, amount of approximately
RMB2,374,000 was credited to consolidated statement of profit or
loss (2021: RMB2,374,000) (Note 8).

RZBE-_—FR-_Z-_—F+=A
=+—B AEEHBELEKRA R
AREEE -

ARARBE2EME DR FEREA)IE
SFOR RR 3 4% 8 39 1 e X R B E 3 IR
IREERBERFRNERER
AT HIREED o

HEZT-—_F+-A=1+—HLF
B HARM2374000T( =T =—
F: ANR¥2,374,0007T) B it A A
Bak(MEs) -

31. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 31. ARARE
(3
As at 31 December
R+=—HA=+—8

2022 2021
—E--F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT
Prepaid cards B+ 179 771
Advance from customers AW EF A 34,605 54,184
34,784 54,955
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31.

‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 31.

As at 1 January 2021, contract liabilities amounted to approximately
RMB16,854,000.

Contract liabilities arise from the prepaid cards and advance payments
made by customers while the goods are yet to be provided.

The prepaid cards and advance from customers of the Group are
non-refundable.

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised
relates to carried-forward contract liabilities and how much relates to
performance obligations that were satisfied in prior periods.

(3

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_H+-B=1+-HI#E

cEEaEE)
RZE-—F—A—H 2RBEYH
A AR 16,854,000 7T °

ARAEREBRNREREREHRE
mE R P EHNENTA

BN RRARERREFFKAH A

N

RE o

TRINFREERRATREENS
RAEEREMNEE URNETEHE
EETHEENETABOHE -

Advance

Prepaid from
cards customers
A+ HEWEFRE
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTR AR®T R

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-_F-_—_H+=-HA=+-H

LFE
Revenue recognised that was included FETAERAEEHRD
in the contract liability balance ERERMA

at the beginning of the year
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZ-_F-_-%+=-H=+-H

HFE
Revenue recognised that was included FETAERAERHRD
in the contract liability balance ERERUA

at the beginning of the year

771 54,184

964 15,890

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group's contract liabilities
were all denominated in RMB.

RZBE-_—FR-_ZF-_—F+=A
Z—t+—RB AEEMNEBREEHNUA
RIEEHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z_—F+-A=1t-HLFE

32.

260

ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES
>

32.

HREARHE RN

As at 31 December

W+=B=+-H
2022 2021
—EB__F —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T R AREF T
Salary and welfare payables B & R EF 24,150 17,517
Payables for value added tax and other taxes [ESUIEER & EMFiE 18,904 6,645
Accrued operating expenses BREEE R 948 8,889
Payables for purchase of equipment BERBENRIEA 9,030 9,495
Professional service fee payable BN EEREE 5,255 4,218
Amounts payable for equity FERTEE SRR RIRE 2 508
investment in associates — 16,000
Amounts received from a third party e =7 KB 85I 58,599 79,970
Amounts received from an associate fem & N AR F B
(note 45(b)) (BFzE45(b)) 14,500 —
Deposits from customers BEFPEe 328 377
Borrowings from third parties (note) F=AERHEE) 4,857 5,175
Others Hith 43,961 18,603
180,532 166,889
Less: Non-current portion — other payables & : JERENE D — E Al B —FH]
for equity investment in an associate BE N AR E 2B = (16,000)
Current portion TREEB D 180,532 150,889
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

note: The balances include the following items:

The borrowings from a third party company with outstanding principal
amounting to approximately RMB1,787,000 (2021: RMB1,635,000) and
accrued interest of RMB384,000 (2021: RMB254,000). The loan bore an
annual interest at 6% and is repayable on 2 December 2023.

The loans from a company which is ultimately held by Mr. Wang Peter
Jian's spouse, with outstanding principal amounting to approximately
RMB2,680,000 and accrued interest of approximately RMB7,000. The loans
bore an annual interest at 6% and are fully settled in February 2023.

As at 31 December 2021, the loans from Mr. Wang Peter Jian with
outstanding principal amounting to approximately RMB3,270,000 and
accrued interest of approximately RMB16,000. The loans bore an annual
interest 6% and are repayable on 27 April 2022. During the year ended 31
December 2022, the amount was fully settled.

The carrying amounts of the accruals and other payables are

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HEZZ__S+"A=1t-HIFE

BREARHEMEMNRE)

EHBIEATIER

KRE—MEZARARERZKEBER
CEHEHOARK1,787,0000(ZF
——F: AR#1,6350007T) & EAt
FBARK384,0007T(ZFT-—%:
AR 254,0007T) - ZERFHER
6% RER-_TE-_=F+-A-HE

i

RE-—HAIBEEHNEBREER
MRAERZAEEASEBHAR
12,680,000t K EET A B AR
7,0007C c ZEHXFFIER6% RER
T =F-REE-

RZZE=Z—F+=A=+—H" KB
ITBRELAERZAERBRASSBHA
R #3,270,000T R EFFIEHAR
#16,0007T « ZEREF L R6% K&
BR-_TZ_FNA=-++HEER-
BE-_T-__F+-A=+—HIL#F

B ZFIREB RS -

BREMAMAMENKOBREENLT

denominated in the following currencies: FIEHEHE
( 4
As at 31 December
R+t=B=+-R
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBETT
- RMB — AR 119,592 125,761
— HKD — BT 60,940 41,128
180,532 166,889
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-—F+-A=t-HILFE

33. BANK BORROWINGS 33. $RITER
( 3

As at 31 December

R+=ZB=+—H
2022 2021
—E--F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETTT

Non-current ¥RE
Long-term borrowing from RESRITER - BREREM
a bank - Guaranteed and pledged (note b)  (Fifstb) — 25,000
Long-term borrowing from RORTER - BER ()
a bank - pledged (note d) — 50,000
= 75,000
Current wRE
Short-term borrowing from RESRITIER - BRERER
a bank — Guaranteed and pledged (note a)  ([fzta) 100,000 100,000
Current portion of long-term borrowing from &HRTERERE LD
a bank - Guaranteed and secured (note b)  — B RE RIKIF(MizEb) 72,000 50,000
Short-term borrowing from RESRITIE R — BRE REH
a bank — Guaranteed and pledged (note ¢) (B3 c) 98,000 100,000
Current portion of long-term borrowing from 52 ERSR1T{E AV REN T H —
a bank - pledged (note d) BER(ME) 82,000 60,000
Short-term borrowing from RESRITIER - BRERER
a bank — Guaranteed and pledged (note e)  (FfzEe) 100,000 100,000
452,000 410,000
Total borrowings ER¢E 452,000 485,000
All bank borrowings were denominated in RMB as at 31 December RZE-ZZFR=-ZF-_—F+=H
2022 and 2021. =+—RB FERTEFEUARE

-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

notes:

(a)

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB100,000,000 was
newly obtained during the year ended 31 December 2022, and guaranteed
by the Company and was secured by the pledge of 35% of a subsidiary’s
and 7% of an associate’s equity interests. The interest rate was based on
the directive interest rate announced by the People’s Bank of China Lhasa
Central Subbranch, which was at fixed interest rate 3.65%. According to
the loan agreement, borrowing amount of RMB100,000,000 is required to
be repaid on 10 October 2023.

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB100,000,000 was
newly obtained during the year ended 31 December 2021, and guaranteed
by the Company and was secured by the pledge of 35% of a subsidiary’s
and 7% of an associate’s equity interests. The interest rate was based on
the directive interest rate announced by the People's Bank of China Lhasa
Central Subbranch, which was at fixed interest rate 3.85%. During the year
ended 31 December 2022, the borrowing was fully settled.

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB75,000,000 was
newly obtained during the year ended 31 December 2021, and guaranteed
by a subsidiary of the Group and secured by the Group's factory plant and
land use rights. The interest rate was adjusted based on LPR announced
by the People's Bank of China Lhasa Central Sub-branch by adding 0.4%,
of which 2.0% interest is charged in advance, which will be refunded
when the relevant authority in the Chinese Central government refund
the interest allowances to the lender. According to the loan agreement,
borrowing amount of approximately RMB25,000,000, RMB25,000,000
and RMB25,000,000 are required to be repaid on 21 January 2022, 21
July 2022 and 18 January 2023 respectively. Accordingly, borrowing
amount of RMB50,000,000 was recorded as current liability and amount of
approximately RMB25,000,000 was recorded as non-current liability as at
31 December 2021.

(a)

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_H+-B=1+-HI#E

33. RITERE)
Bf5E -

REESELH AR 100,000,0007T
WERARBE_E__F+_-A
S+—BLLEEHES RmAREIR
HRE - B — MW B A A35%H
iR —fHERNET7% MREED
B FIRERTPEARRITRES L
TORHEMERANE - AETHE
3.65% ° RIEERGE  ERXABHEA
R # 100,000,000 BR T == %
+HAtHREE-

REESEH AR 100,000,0007T
NiERARBEE-_T-_—+_-A
ST—HEFENES  BARAR
HRE WU — R ERE35%H
Bk —EEELBT%HREEEZ
e MEERPEARRITHESR
ODETRGHERAE - BEEF
K385% - HE-_T-_-_F+-A
=+—RIEFE  ZEREEWEE -

REESEHARIET50000007T
MEZRARNEE-_Z-_—4%1+_-A
=+—RILEEHES BEAEE—
BB ARRERE - TUREERN
BB R BREEER - IR KR
BREARBANEROIITAMBH
ERTSMEFEM0.4% ETHE -
HAFEENBR20%FE - AR
FRENEBABFHRERARENS
BENRE BREEIBZE EXE
B4 A R ¥25000,000 AR
25,000,0007C & A R # 25,000,000
TARER-ZZE-__F—-—A=+—
H ZZ-ZftA=-+—HRKZ=F
—=F—-AF+NAEE Al B=
E-—F+-A=+-H 2EAA
R ¥ 50,000,000 TH BRI A REE
&+ £ AR 25,000,000 7T 9 ZES
RIETBEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z_—F+-A=1t-HLFE

33. BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

264

notes: (continued)

(b)

(continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group repaid the borrowing
amount of approximately RMB3,000,000. The remaining amount of
approximately RMB72,000,000 matured and fell due for repayment. The
Group renegotiated with the bank and extended the maturity date of the
loan to 18 January 2023. The amount of approximately RMB72,000,000
was settled subsequent to the end of the reporting period.

The balances include the following borrowings from banks:

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB100,000,000 was
newly obtained during the year ended 31 December 2021, and guaranteed
by a subsidiary of the Group and was pledged by 15% of an associate’s
equity interests. The loan is at variable interest rate of 1.85% per annum.
According to the loan agreement, borrowing amount of RMB100,000,000 is
required to be repaid on 18 November 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group repaid the borrowing
amount of approximately RMB2,000,000. The remaining amount of
approximately RMB98,000,000 matured and fell due for repayment. The
Group renegotiated with the bank and extended the maturity date of the
loan to 10 May 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

notes: (continued)

(d)

As at 31 December 2021, the outstanding borrowing amount of
approximately RMB110,000,000 was guaranteed by the Company and
was secured by the land use right of a third party. The interest rate will
be adjusted according to the LPR for one-year loan every twelve months
throughout the repayment period. According to the loan agreement,
unpaid principal of RMB20,000,000, RMB40,000,000 and RMB50,000,000
are required to be repaid on 15 March 2022, 15 August 2022 and 4
March 2023 respectively. Accordingly, borrowing amount of approximately
RMB60,000,000 was recorded as current liability as at 31 December 2021
and amount of approximately RMB50,000,000 was recorded as non-current
liability as at 31 December 2021.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group repaid the borrowing
amount of approximately RMB28,000,000. The remaining amount of
approximately RMB82,000,000 matured and fell due for repayment. The
Group renegotiated with the bank and extended maturity dates of the
loan amount of approximately RMB8,000,000 and RMB74,000,000 to 15
January 2023 and 4 March 2023 respectively. The amount of approximately
RMB82,000,000 was settled subsequent to the end of the reporting period.

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB100,000,000
was newly obtained during the year ended 31 December 2022 and was
secured by the pledge of 20% Shannan Yalaxiangbu's equity interests.
The interest rate was determined based on LPR announced by the People’s
Bank of China Lhasa Central Sub-branch, of which 2.0% interest is charged
in advance, which will be refunded when the relevant authority in the
Chinese Central government refund the interest allowances to the lender.
According to the loan agreement, unpaid principal of RMB30,000,000,
RMB30,000,000 and RMB40,000,000 are required to be repaid on 23
February 2023, 24 May 2023, and 20 June 2023 respectively.

B aE

(d)

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_H+-B=1+-HI#E

33. RITERE)

(&)

m:%:—¢+—ﬂi+—av$#
B4 AR 110,000,000 7T # A&
NERHER YA—RE=HKt
HifE AR - REFMME —F
HEFMMEERBEERTIERETF
RENEARTAZE - REEXD
£ AEEARE AR20000000
T AR #40,000,0007T & A R
50,000,000 BN BIR =T = =
“A+RA - ZE-—F/N\A+AA
&_2:_¢fﬂmaaﬁolﬁv
# A R % 60,000,000 7T £ & 5 7
%f*¢+fﬁz+*aﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ
& 4 AR 50,000,000 7T A 7 E 7
-+ -A=+—-BHAFER
AL -

BE-_ZT-__F+-A=+—81It
FE AEBCEEEBERHDARE
28,000,0007C - Kl th & BHARE
82,000,0007C B 2 Hi B i - A% H
BERFETEFNHALBEABHARE
8,000,000t & A K # 74,000,000 7T
MERIBADHERE-_E ==
F-A+AAR-ZTE-_Z=ZF=ZAMN
He RBREHRABENOHDARE
82,000,000 LRI FIA ©

KEZESTLHAKE100,000,0007T
MEFRARBEZE-_ZE-_-F+=A4
=+—BIFENES  MLEEN
BEM0%REELER - FIRERSH
BARBITNEFLLTAGHER
MEREANRET  ERELEMR
20%F 8 SRPERREFEE

HAAMERAREMNEBERRE -
BEERGH REEXEARE

30,000,000 7T + A & # 30,000,000 7T
T2 A R ¥ 40,000,000 705 Bl = F
Z=fZRZ+=H ZTZ=F3
B-+mAR-—E=-=#x~xA=-+A
BiE

o

Mﬂ

BREKERBRAT | £ 2022 265



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE_Z_—F+-A=1t-HLFE

33. BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

notes: (continued)
(e) (continued)

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB100,000,000
was guaranteed by a subsidiary of the Group and was secured by the
pledge of 20% Shannan Yalaxiangbu's equity interests. The interest rate
was determined based on LPR announced by the People’s Bank of China
Lhasa Central Sub-branch, of which 2.0% interest is charged in advance,
which will be refunded when the relevant authority in the Chinese Central
government refund the interest allowances to the lender. During the year
ended 31 December 2022, the amount was fully settled.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group's bank borrowings
were repayable as follows:

33. |ITHEXRE)

P

(e)

(&)

ES BN A AR 100,000,000
ERHmAEEN— M BLQAR
L%% AL 7 L& T 20% AR 4
{EEH - FIZERPBARBITHE
FOZITRBHERTSRENEE
E o ERELEMB2.0% A8 0 BRE
l$%ﬁﬁﬁ@ﬂﬁﬁ§mALﬁﬂ
BRERERE - HE-_T-_—_F+=
A=+—HLEFE ZREL2HE

B °

RZE-_—FR-_FE-_—%+=-A
Z+—B KEBERTERNERS

s
(3
As at 31 December
R+=A=+-—H

2022 2021
—E-—F —E—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AREFIT
Within 1 year 1R 452,000 410,000
Between 1 year and 2 years 1825 = 75,000
452,000 485,000
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34.

‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONVERTIBLE BONDS - LIABILITY COMPONENT

The Company issued 5% convertible bonds with principal amount
of HKD379,620,000 (equivalent to RMB317,702,000) at a total
consideration of HKD379,620,000 (equivalent to RMB317,702,000) in
March 2021. The Convertible Bonds are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars, unsecured and with interest calculated semi-annually. The
bonds entitle the holders to convert them into ordinary shares of the
Company at any time between the date of issue of the bonds and the
maturity date in March 2024 at a conversion price of HKD0.74 per
share (subject to anti-dilutive adjustments). The bonds can be early
redeemed upon certain events at the option of the bondholders or
the issuer. If the bonds have not been converted or redeemed, they
will be redeemed in March 2024 at par value plus accrued interest.

At initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component was
estimated at the issuance date using an equivalent market interest
rate for a similar bond without a conversion option. The residual
amount is assigned as the equity component and is presented in
equity heading The early redemption option is
considered as closely related to the host debt. The effective interest

“other reserve”.

rate of the liability component is 7.69%.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Convertible Bonds
with the principle amount of HKD22,644,000 (equivalent to
RMB19,026,000) was converted into 30,600,000 new shares of the

Company at a conversion price of HKD0.74 per share.

The fair value of the liability component of the Convertible Bonds
at 31 December 2022 amounted to RMB342,379,000 (2021:
RMB341,213,000), which is calculated using cash flows discounted
at the rate of 10.51% (2021: 8.23%) and is within level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy.

34.

RERBERME
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_H+-B=1+-HI#E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-_#+-B=+-HI%E

34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS - LIABILITY COMPONENT (CONTINUED)

268

34, ARRESZ-BEHD(E)

The Convertible Bonds issued in 2021 have been split into the liability RIZZ-Z-FEANATRRESFEH
PREERERTD 1T

and equity components as follows:

( 4

Nominal value of the Convertible Bonds
issued in 2021

E-T--FERTUBRRESERE

Equity component ‘s

Liability component at the issuance date BITHNEESS
Interest expenses FEER

Interest paid/payable B R FE
Conversion of the Convertible Bonds AT E R R B
Exchange alignment BE 5, A B

Liability component at 31 December 2021
Interest expenses

Interest paid/payable

Exchange alignment

RZEZ_—F+-_A=+—HNAEDD
FEER

B/ BN

P 5 R

Liability component at 31 December 2022

R-B-ZZF+ZA=t-HAMNEEHD

RMB’000
AR®T

317,702
(22,848)

294,854
16,591

(11,530)

(17,621)
(6,610)

275,684
22,504

(15,313)
25,821

308,696
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35. SHARE CAPITAL
>

‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE-Z-"F+_A=t+—HIL%E

35. B&
Equivalent
Nominal nominal
Number of value of value of
ordinary ordinary ordinary
shares shares shares
ZEEBER
EERHE EREREE HfE
(thousands) RMB’000 RMB’000

(FR) AR®T R AR®T R

Ordinary shares of HKD0.01
each, issued and fully paid

Balance as at 1 January 2021

Share issued upon conversion

BROO1TBTHNEER -
ERITRAR
RZFZ_—F—H—HOER 2,568,893 25,689 21,363

B AR ERFRBEITORN

of Convertible Bonds 30,600 306 255
Balance as at 31 December 2021 R-E-—F+-A=+—HH
AEER 2,599,493 25,995 21,618
Share issued upon placing FR & F R0 1R BITRIMR M (PH3T)
of new shares (Note) 459,898 4,599 3,962
Balance as at 31 December 2022 R-Z-_—F+_-A=1+—HH
i 3,059,391 30,594 25,580
Note: BaE
On 21 July 2022, a total of 459,898,000 placing shares were successfully placed RZTE_Z—_FttRA=-+—-—H &#
to not less than six placees at the placing price of HKD0.425 per placing share. 459,898,000 RELERMEKMWEE TR
Further details were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 21 July 2022. NEEEA  BEEAERICER?0.425%8

T BEHBRHERAANRBMA-ST =
+tA-+—AMAE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RamMERRIE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
Bz-Z2-—F+-A=+-HILFE

36. SHARES HELD FOR SHARE AWARD SCHEME
>

36. RRGERBITESEORS

Number of
Ordinary shares

(thousands)
LEREE RMB'000
(F&) ARBFT
Balance as at 1 January 2021, R-B-_—-F—F—H Z8B=-—&
31 December 2021, 1 January 2022 +=-—B=+—RH - ZB=-=—%
and 31 December 2022 —A-BRZ=EZZ=F
TZA=+—BH&ER 65,626 173,037

On 18 August 2017, the Group adopted a share award scheme for
purposes of (i) encouraging or facilitating the holding of Shares
by the Selected Participants; (i) encouraging and retaining certain
individuals to work with the Group; and (iii) providing incentive for
the Selected Participants to achieve performance goals. Based on the
rules of the scheme, the Group may grant shares of the Company to
eligible participants in the future.

On 8 September 2017, the Group entered an agreement with the
Trustee to establish the Share Award Trust, where the Trustee may
purchase or subscribe ordinary shares of the Company on behalf
of the Group from the open market, based on the instructions of
the Group. The Share Award Trust is consolidated in the Group's
consolidated financial statements as a special purpose entity.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021,
the Group to any parties under the above mentioned share award

no share has been granted by

scheme.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE-Z-"F+_A=t+—HIL%E

37. OTHER RESERVES 37. HftiEE
>
Convertible
Statutory Currency Investment bonds-
Capital surplus translation revaluation equity
reserve reserve reserve reserve  component Total
EE TERES
ERGfE BRARE  NMEERE REERRE -EEHs @zt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
(note (i) (note (ii) (note (iii) (note (v)) (note (iv))
(ME() (BERE (i) (s (iii)) (MEW) (H=E(v)
Balance at 1 January 2021 RZB--5-A-HNEs 32,847 185,498 (56,850) 601 - 162,096
Exchange differences on translation from HEREERAZ
functional currency to presentation currency ERNERER - - 9,211 - — 9,211
Fair value change on financial assets at FVTOCI ~ MARBER 2 EEEHHA
E2ENRNEREEY
MEEEY - - - 16,216 - 16,216
Transfer of reserve upon disposal of RENAABEHEEAEY
financial assets at FVTOCI SAEMZERENSH
BERNEREED - - - (16,817) - (16,817)
Convertible bonds - equity component ThRES - EEHH - - - - 22,848 22,848
Deferred tax arising from Convertible Bonds THRESELHETHE - - - - (3,770) (3,770
Shares issued upon conversion of ERTRRESREINRN
Convertible Bonds — — — — (1,161) (1,161)
Balance at 31 December 2021 and RIZZ-FT-A=1-H
1 January 2022 RZEZZ§-B-AH
Fii 32,847 185,498 (47,639) — 17,917 188,623
Exchange differences on translation from M EBEnRgs|
functional currency to presentation curency  EEMELZE — — (36,512) — - (36,512)
Balance at 31 December 2022 RZBZZE+ZB=1-H
iife 32,847 185,498 (84,151) = 17,917 152,111
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE-Z-—F+-A=+-BL%E

37.

272

OTHER RESERVES (CONTINUED)

notes:

(@)

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

Capital reserve

Excess amounts contributed by shareholders on top of the share capital are
recorded as capital reserve. In addition, the reserve is used to record the
differences arisen as a result of transactions with non-controlling interests
that do not result in a loss of control, if any.

Statutory surplus reserve

According to the provisions of the articles of association of the PRC
subsidiaries, the PRC subsidiaries shall first set aside 10% of its profit
attributable to owners after tax as indicated in their statutory financial
statements for the statutory surplus reserve (except where the reserve
has reached 50% of the entity's registered share capital) each year. PRC
subsidiaries may also make appropriations from its profit attributable to
shareholders to a discretionary surplus reserve, provided it is approved by a
resolution passed in a shareholders’ general meeting. These reserves cannot
be used for purposes other than those for which they are created and are
not distributable as cash dividends without the prior approval obtained
from the shareholders in a shareholders’ general meeting under specific

circumstances.

When the statutory surplus reserve is not sufficient to make good for any
losses of the PRC subsidiaries from previous years, the current year profit
attributable to the owners shall be used to make good the losses before any
allocations are set aside for the statutory surplus reserve.

The statutory surplus reserve, the discretionary surplus reserve and the
capital reserve of the PRC subsidiaries may be converted into share capital
of the PRC subsidiaries provided it is approved by a resolution passed in
a shareholders’ general meeting and meets other regulatory requirements
with the provision that the ending balance of the statutory surplus reserve
does not fall below 25% of the registered share capital amount. As at 31
December 2022 and 2021, the reserve of the PRC subsidiaries has reached
50% of the entity's registered share capital.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. OTHER RESERVES (CONTINUED)

notes: (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Currency translation reserve

Exchange differences arising from the difference between functional and
presentation currency are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the reserve.

Convertible bond-equity component

This represents the equity portion of the Convertible Bonds. The entity shall
transfer the part initially included in other reserve to share premium upon

expiry.
Investment revaluation reserve

The FVTOCI reserve represents cumulative gains and losses arising on the
revaluation of equity instruments at FVTOCI that have been recognised
in other comprehensive income, net of amounts reclassified to retained
earnings when those equity instruments at FVTOCI are disposed of or are
determined to be impaired.

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z_—F+-A=1t-HLFE

38.

274

SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of significant principal subsidiaries of the Group
as at 31 December 2022 and 2021:

Company name

S
Indirectly held:
CESR

Place of incorporation and
business/date

of incorporation/

of legal entities

ERAIRER LS/

Tibet Zhongji Jiahua Industry
Co., ltd.
ERTREETXERERAD

Tibet Glacier Mineral Water
Co., Ltd.

BB KERAT

Beijing 5100 Management
Consulting Co., Ltd.
Ira-2EERAAGRAN

Tibet Glacier Mineral Water
Marketing Co., Ltd.

ERIKIIBRKEHERAA
Tibet Tiandi Green Beverage

Development Co., Ltd.

BRAMGERRERARLA

Issued/paid-in capital

AMALAE/ teBREY BB/ BERE

2022 2021

—ECCE —Z--

PRC/1 January 2004/ USD16,000,000 USD16,000,000
Limited liability company
t8/-%3MF-A-8/ 16,000,000%%  16,000,000%7
BRAH
PRC/31 October 2005/ RMB118,000,000  RMB118,000,000
Limited liability company
hE/-FTRETA=T-B/ ARH N
BRAH 118,000,000 70 118,000,000
PRC/13 July 2007/ RMB1,000,000 RMB1,000,000
Limited liability company
t8/-FEtELATZR/  AR1,000000% ARH1,0000007
ERAA
PRC/21 April 2010/ RMB3,000,000 RMB3,000,000
Limited liability company
t8/-F-FFNA-T-B/ AR%3,000000% ARH3,0000007
BRAH
PRC/28 April 2009/ RMB200,000,000  RMB200,000,000
Limited liability company
HE/ZEENERAZTNB/ AEH A%
BRAT 200,000,000 200,000,000
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Effective interest held

MEAR
RZEZZFRZT=Z—F+=ZA
=t+—B AEEEXRFEHBERA
MEEWT

Principal activities

ERfeER TERD
2022 2021
“B-CE C“E--F

100% 100%  Investment holding
RERK

100% 100%  Water products
manufacturing and
sales and leasing
2 HEREEKER

100% 100%  Water products market
operation and management
KEmTHEERER

100% 100%  Water products marketing,
promotion, distribution
and relating
S EE AHR
2EKER

100% 100%  Beer manufacturing
and sales
BEEERHE



Company name

AL
Indirectly held:
HEGE

38. SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
>

Place of incorporation and
business/date

of incorporation/

type of legal entities
AMRIRE$HE/
HMALAH/ tEEREL

Wealth Keeper Limited
Wealth Keeper Limited
Tibet 5100 Water Resources
(HK) Limited
B 5100k ER(ER)BRAT
Hong Kong Fairly Well
Capital Limited

BRTEERERLA

Center Faithful Limited

Tibet 5100 Water Resources Ltd.

AES100KERARAT

Hong Kong/30 October 2012/
Limited liability company
B%/-3-Z6+A=1R/
BRAA

Hong Kong/6 September 2013/
Limited liability company
A/ "E-=ENBAR/
BRAA

Hong Kong/23 May 2016/
Limited liability company
&%/-3-~ERAZT=B/
BRAA

Hong Kong/2 January 2019/
Limited liability company
B8/ -F-nF-Az8/
BRAA

British Virgin Islands/19
January 2006/Limited

liability company
ABRNEE/T55E
—RthB/ERAR

‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE-Z-"F+_A=t+—HIL%E

38. KMIEARE)

Issued/paid-in capital Effective interestheld  Principal activities

B&fT/ B4R ERfER IEED
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-CE “E-- “E-CE CE--F
HKD1 HKD1 100% 100%  Investment holding
187 18T 100% 100% RERK
HKD100 HKD100 100% 100%  Investment holding
100#7 100E7 RERK
HKD1 HKD1 100% 100%  Lending service
187 1% e
HKD1 HKD1 100% 100%  Investment holding
187 1% REER
UsD1,000 USD1,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
1,000%7% 1,000%7 RERK
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-—F+-A=t-HILFE

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The Group holds the following financial instruments:

( 4

39. REREIHERMTE
AEBZFENERIA

As at 31 December

Wt+=A=+-8H
2022 2021
—E__F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARBFT
Financial assets CREE
Financial assets at amortised cost NERK AT ENEREE
~ Trade receivables -~ KB ZHRK 190,499 254,657
— Other financial assets at —DESRKAGTENHEMEREE
amortised cost 980,228 986,887
- Cash and cash equivalents -HBeRREEEY 58,147 53,818
Financial assets at FVTPL UAREBESFEEEEEHTA
BRAEREE — 2,000
1,228,874 1,297,362
Financial liabilities cRBE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost NERKAGTENERAR
- Trade and notes payables —-ENEIRRENER 246,918 277,923
— Accruals and other payables —TaRERAREMENR 161,628 144,244
— Bank borrowings —RITER 452,000 485,000
- Lease liabilities -MHE&E 788 —
— Convertible bonds - —ARRES-AEDH
liability component 308,696 275,684
1,170,030 1,182,851
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE-Z-"F+_A=t+—HIL%E

40. SIGNIFICANT NON-CASH TRANSACTION 40. EXFRERS
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the consideration for BE_Z__F+_-_A=+—HL#F
investment accounted for using the equity method of total amount of B REASBEHEE=FHENEER
RMB54,000,000 were off-settled by amounts due from third parties 2 ORAERZARNKRERELE
based on the settlement agreement between the Group and the third AR 54,000,000 EHEEME =
party. FFIA .

41. NET DEBT RECONCILIATION 41. BERFEHEK
This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the movements in AEEFEHFEND T RE 25 H
net debt for each of the periods presented. BEKFENEE -
( 4

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—-RHLEE

2022 2021
—E--F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETTT

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 28) BeRRESEEBW(HE28) 58,147 53,818
Borrowings — repayable within fER— AR —FREE(ME33)

one year (Note 33) (452,000) (410,000)
Borrowings — repayable after fER— AR —FEREE(PHF33)

one year (Note 33) — (75,000)
Borrowings from third parties (Note 32) =& (M5 32) (4,857) (5,175)
Convertible bonds - liability component A ¥k {ES - BEZHH (308,696) (275,684)
Lease liabilities (Note 15) HEaE(HME15) (788) —
Net debt BHFE (708,194) (712,041)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z_—F+-A=1t-HLFE

41. NET DEBT RECONCILIATION (CONTINUED) 41. BERFEHERE)
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising TR AEEREFHELENEE
from financing activities. Liabilities arising from financing activities MEHFE RESHELENEED
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, EREREIARRERAEBESER
classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash EMERTOERRETHRESAH
flows from financing activities. RemEMALE -
( 4
Borrowings
Bank  from third Convertible Lease
borrowings parties Bonds liabilities Total
RITER  F=FER  TRRES HEaE et

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARMTRE AR%TR AR%TR AR%TR AR%Tx:

Balance at 1 January 2021 RZZE=Z—F—HA—H
B4 R (610,000) (301,825) — (147) (911,972)
Cash flows RenE 125,000 296,681 (317,702) 150 104,129
Conversion of the Convertible ERAnRES
Bonds — — 17,621 — 17,621
Foreign exchange adjustments IE 5 SR — 4,239 6,610 — 10,849
Other non-cash movements HIER SRS - (4,270) 17,787 (3) 13,514
Balance at 31 December 2021 W%
and 1 January 2022 +-A=+—H
it Sk S SR &l
ket (485,000) (5,175) (275,684) = (765,859)
New lease entered HETRA = = = (1,270) (1,270)
Cash flows REenE 33,000 6,241 — 557 39,798
Foreign exchange adjustments fE % — (448) (25,821) (31) (26,300)
Other non-cash movements HiIER &R E = (5,475) (7,191) (44) (12,710)

Balance at 31 December 2022 R-ZBZZF
TZA=+—-HHER (452,000) (4,857) (308,696) (788) (766,341)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE OF THE

COMPANY

(@) Statement of financial position

( 4

42.

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_H+-B=1+-HI#E

AR BMRR KRB

(a) BMBERRE

As at 31 December

R+t=-A=+-H
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRT ARBETT
Non-current asset FRBEE
Interest in subsidiaries RKTE R R AR 1,477,375 1,223,791
Current assets REEE
Cash and cash equivalents RBeKREEEY 8,705 286
Prepayment SEENE O 2,742 4,307
Total current assets REEEME 11,447 4,593
Current liabilities REaE
Other payables Hib 44,636 16,935
Total current liabilities REEEAE 44,636 16,935
Net current liabilities hRBEEFE (33,189) (12,342)
Total assets less current liabilities EEEAERREBARS 1,444,186 1,211,449
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Convertible bonds - liability component — A[# & &% — B & 308,696 275,684
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIBAE 1,700 2,686
Total non-current liabilities FRBEELE 310,396 278,370
Net assets EERE 1,133,790 933,079
Capital and reserves BEXREE
Share capital R 25,580 21,618
Reserves 15 1,108,210 911,461
Total equity AR 1,133,790 933,079
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z_—F+-A=1t-HLFE

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE OF THE 42. ARABBRRRREEE)
COMPANY (CONTINUED)
(@) Statement of financial position (continued) (a) HEMREKE)
note: Movement in the Company’s reserves izt . ADFRFEE
®>
Shares held
for share
Share award Other  Accumulated
premium scheme reserves losses Total
RGEE HEASENRG Hitfife 2iER by
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTR ARBT T ARBTR ARBTR

Balance at 1 January 2021 RZZZ-5-F—-ANEE 1,225,214 (173,037) 23,278 (146,889) 928,566
Loss for the year FhEE - - - (31,503) (31,503)
Exchange differences on translation AR EERER

from functional currency 2IERNERZE

to presentation currency — — (22,290) - (22,290)
Total comprehensive loss *HEFEEE — - (22,290) (31,503) (53,793)
Convertible bonds - equity component AR EH - Em 5 — — 22,848 — 22,848
Deferred tax arising from THRESEENETEHE

Convertible Bonds — — (3,770) . (3,770
Share issued upon conversion EnmRRERRRETNRN

of Convertible Bonds 18,771 - (1,161) — 17,610
Balance at 31 December 2021 and AZTZ-FFZA=1-H

1 January 2022 R=ZZ--f-A-AH

fe 1,243,985 (173,037) 18,905 (178,392) 911,461

Loss for the year FREE = = = (56,546) (56,546)
Exchange differences on translation By EEREE

from functional currency BIERMELZE

to presentation currency = = 90,251 = 90,251
Total comprehensive loss rHEFEEE = = 90,251 (56,546) 33,705
Placing of new shares REHRR 164,405 - — — 164,405
Transaction costs attributable to RERRHEEHIANAK

placing of new shares (1,361) — - - (1,361)
Balance at 31 December 2022 g et 2

TZA=+-RiES 1,407,029 (173,037) 109,156 (234,938) 1,108,210
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE-Z-"F+_A=t+—HIL%E

43. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 43. EEEARER
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’'s emoluments (a) EERTFETHAEMS
The remuneration of each Director and the chief executive for BEERTETHAEHE_Z
the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out below: T+ A=+—HILFERN
FHEF T
(3
Salary, Employer's
allowance, contribution

and benefits Discretionary  to benefit

Name "4 Fee in kind bonuses scheme Total
e EER
re ENEF MR STEIR @st

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AR%TR  ARMTR AR®TR AR ARWTZR

Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Yan Qingjiang BEL%E — 1,433 13 15 1,561
Mr. Chow Wai Kit (note vi) R A (FHEEvi) — 1,416 113 15 1,544
Mr. Cheng Sing Gwan (note vii) — EF$57R 4% A (P zE vii) - 1,035 83 10 1,128
Chief executive Officer THAR
Mr. Wang Dong TREE — 1,292 — 15 1,307
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Ms. Jiang Xiaohong ZBILL 854 — — — 854
Mr. Xie Kun (note viii) Ell et o) - = = = —
Mr. Wei Zheming (note ix) HEBLE (X = = — — -
Independent Non-executive BUFHTES

Directors
Mr. Tang Zeping (note v) BEETAE () 231 — — — 231
Mr. Lo Wai Hung (note iv) BEEEE(FEiv) 513 — — — 513
Mr. Dai Yang (note v) FIEEEMEY) 239 — - - 239
Mr. Lin Ting (note X) MEX L (FizEx) 62 — — — 62
Dr. Zhang Chunlong (note x) REEBEL(HEX) 1,186 — — 8 1,194

3,085 5,176 309 63 8,633
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z_—F+-A=1t-HLFE

43. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED) 43. EETEANRER(E)
(@) Directors’ and chief executive's emoluments (continued) (a) EBERTFETHAEMEE)
The remuneration of each Director and the chief executive for BEERTETHAEHE_Z
the year ended 31 December 2021 is set out below: ——F+ZA=t+—HILEEN
HMEF T
( 4
Salary, Employer’s
allowances, contribution

and benefits Discretionary  to benefit

Name i Fee in kind bonuses scheme Total
e 2R
we EiEF WETEL HE ki @t

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTL  ARBTT  ARETR ARETL ARETR

Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Yan Qingjiang BEL%E — 1,054 134 15 1,203
Mr. Yue Zhigiang (note i) BT () — 623 — — 623
Chief executive Officer THAR
Mr. Wang Dong THELE — 1,256 — 15 1,271
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Ms. Jiang Xiaohong FBIZL 827 — — — 827
Mr. Wei Cheng Kevin (note iii) Bk S A (B ki) — 498 — — 498
Independent Non-executive BUFHTES

Directors
Mr. Hung Ka Hai Clement (note i) EEE 54 (B ) 231 — — — 231
Mr. Tang Zeping (note v) ERT R (FFY) 496 — — — 496
Mr. Lo Wai Hung (note iv) EEELE () 117 — - — 117
Mr. Dai Yang (note v) ke (M) 455 — — — 455

2,126 3,431 134 30 5,721
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

43. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

(a)

Directors’ and chief executive's emoluments (continued)

notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Mr. YUE Zhigiang retired as executive Director on 30 June 2021.

Mr. Hung Ka Hai Clement retired as independent non-executive
Director on 30 June 2021.

Mr. Wei Cheng Kevin retired as non-executive Director on 30 June
2021.

Mr. Lo Wai Hung was appointed as independent non-executive
Director on 28 September 2021.

Mr. Tang Zeping and Mr. Dai Yang retired as independent non-
executive Directors on 30 June 2022.

Mr. Chow Wai Kit was appointed as executive Director with
effect with 1 January 2022. The emolument shown above was the
aggregate amount of RMB250,000 for his services as a Director and
RMB1,294,000 for his services as a Company Secretary.

Mr. Cheng Sing Gwan was appointed as executive Director on 25
May 2022.

Mr. Xie Kun was appointed as non-executive Director with effect
with 1 January 2022.

Mr. Wei Zheming was appointed as non-executive Director on 25
May 2022.

Ms. Lin Ting and Dr. Zhang Chunlong were appointed as independent
non-executive Director on 8 July 2022.

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HEZZ__S+"A=1t-HIFE

43. EEEANRERE)

(a) EERIETBAEME(E)
B

() EEBREER-_ZT-_—FXAH
ZTHEAIHTES -

(i) HEBEBEER-_ZT-_—F<A
=+HEABUIENITES -

(i) BREERZ-ZZE-_—F1~A
T REFENTES -

(ivy EERELTER-_ZT-_—FhA
—HN\BEZFEABMIERT
N

(v) BEERFEERBBEER-T
CTCERA=ZTHEREBELHE
HITES -

(vi) BRGELIEEZTBHTE
F RZTZZF—-A—B&%
Mo LilMie REEENRS
<A AREE250,0000 KA
ANENRBHEAARE
1,294,0007C K 4258 ©

(i) BHREENR-ZZT-__FHA
THRBEZEANITESE -

(vii) MELEEZTAFNTE
E - R-E-_-_F-F-—-B4%
e

(ix) BOPXTER-_T-__FHA
ZT+HBEZAERENTE
=

X HEZTRRERBLR-Z
CCFELANBEZERBY
FHITES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEUBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE-Z-"H+-A=1+-HLEE

43. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

284

(a)

(b)

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

Directors’ and chief executive's emoluments (continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the Directors
or the chief executive of the Group or the five highest paid
employees or senior managements as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
None of the non-director, highest paid employees and senior
management waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. There was no
arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration during the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2021.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest
paid individuals, including Directors, as an inducement to
join the Group or as compensation for loss of office other
than those disclosed above. In addition, during the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no directors waived any
emoluments.

Directors’ retirement benefits

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no retirement
benefits operated by the Group were paid or made, directly
or indirectly, to or receivable by a director in respect of his
services as a director or other services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company or its subsidiaries
(2021: nil).

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

43. EEEANRERE)

(a)

(b)

ESRFIETHAEME(E)

HE T _—_Fh_F=—

TZA=Z+—BILFE ' ~%H
TERAENESIAEEEET
BAESAAGESFME T xS
REBEZNEMNME - EARN
BAREESNBEASB RN RS
FIERBERFEE BE-_T=—
FR-_F_-F+-A=+—H
HEE SBEEEE T
BEIRRRERENEXRER
EEAME - BEZTZZFK
—Z-—F+-A=+—HIF
€ IMERT MR - P E
ENEXRERETMNIE -

BE_T__FR-_ZT_—%
TZA=T—RHLFE BEX
FIBEEIN ARESERRS
ERFMAT(BEES)IN
TRME  ERMBEREER R
SREREBEE - I BE
TR -E-_—F+-H
=t+—BLEFE WESBENE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

43. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

()

(d)

(e)

()

Directors’ termination benefits

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no payments or
benefits in respect of termination of director's services were
paid or made, directly or indirectly, to or receivable by a
director; nor are any payable (2021: nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making available
directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no consideration
was provided to or receivable by third parties for making
available director’s services (2021: nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities
(2021: nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or
contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year (2021: nil).

(c)

(d)

(e)

()

RERBERME
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_H+-B=1+-HI#E

43. EEEANRERE)

ESBBERN
BE-_ZT-_—_F+ZA=+—H
HEE  SBERESRBRLE
B R E SRR S AEL E A
FIBSLEN - EFMEENFR
SEMREMERR(ZEZ—
FoE)e

HEERBRE=FRHENKE
BE-ZT-_—_F+ZA=+—H
HEE YEAEERBRE=
FRERE  F=HAERKK
B(ZZ=—F:8&)-

ﬁﬁﬂﬁ?‘ﬁ?Zﬁﬁﬁiﬁ
FRAEERASRANEN
EXREMXENER
BMENES - é%Zx?ﬂ%.
LBAEERAXEANEN
ERFEMZZH(ZE ‘*ii
m)o

EENRE  THIEHANEKX
R
RERSNEREA R - HE
BFEAABWERTTH A BARAR
EENETHRBEAERZ(TH
ERGEE)NEEREKEHR
MEARS  THEREH(ZE
TF )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z_—F+-A=1t-HLFE

44. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(@) Capital commitments
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, capital expenditures
contracted for but not yet incurred were as follows:

44, FEFENBAREE

(a)

BARMRE
RZB-—FR-_F-—F+=
A=+—8 BiIHEHREL
ZERAZWT

Year ended 31 December

BET-RA=t—-HLEE

Property, plant and equipment ER TN E
Equity investment BERE

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBETT
4,959 45,327

— 16,000

4,959 61,327
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

44. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Contingent liabilities

The Group provided financial guarantee net amounting to
RMB265,000,000 to an associate as at 31 December 2022
(2021: RMB280,000,000). The guarantee was provided for
bank borrowings obtained by the associate in the amount of
RMB135,000,000 and for bank acceptance note in the net
amount of RMB130,000,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
RMB150,000,000 bank borrowings and RMB130,000,000
bank acceptance note). The period of the guarantee for net
amount RMB160,000,000 is from 13 October 2022 to 13
October 2023 (2021: RMB160,000,000 is from 26 October
2021 to 25 October 2022). The period of the remaining
guarantee amounting to RMB105,000,000 is from 15 July 2021
to 15 July 2024 (2021: remaining guarantee amounting to
RMB120,000,000 is from 15 July 2021 to 15 July 2024).

FEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_H+-B=1+-HI#E

44, FEENHAREE(E)

(b)

BERKERERART | £ 2022

BREE
RZB-—F+-A=+—8"
AEER—FEEE R AREN
BERFEE AR 265,000,000
TZZEZ—F: AR®
280,000,0007T ) ° ZERTI A
e e =
ERAIMEBHRITERARKE
135,000,000 7T % iR 174 A [E R
FE AR 130,000,000 Tig 4
(Z2=Z—F : BOBFARK
150,000,000 7T K R 17 2 5 [ 52
A R #130,000,0007T ) » /#%8
AR # 160,000,000 7T HY # (R £
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z- S+ A=t+-HILEE

45. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS 45,

Related parties are those parties that have the ability to control the
other party or exercise significant influence in making financial and
operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they
are subject to common control.

(@) Transactions with related parties

BELIRZ

BEES T RAEBE RS S — T R E B
BREERRBMEAZENAL -
HR2HI B B TR AR A e R

(a) EEBLINRS

( 4
Year ended 31 December
BEE+-A=1t—HLEE
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBETT
Revenue PYERNIESEL:0l N
— Rental income from associates —REBRERANHES WA 6,744 6,749
- Sales of raw materials and — e R EHEKER
consumables used of water FTR R B M FEM
products to associates 6,032 —
- Sales of water products to —HEKERT—HBE AT
an associate 12,198 34,269
— Sales of beer products to —HEREER T —HBELQA
an associate 1,315 —
Purchase of raw materials and EEASUNEI 3= 4R &)
consumables from associates 155,992 189,019
Financial guarantee for — B & 1 A A S FE IR (BT 3 44(b))
an associate (Note 44(b)) 265,000 280,000

Above were the transactions between the Group and associates
including Highland Natural Water, Fudi Packaging and Life
Water Marketing. The transactions were based on agreed terms
among the parties involved.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FARMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE-Z-"F+_A=t+—HIL%E

45. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 45. BMAERS (&)
(b) Balances with related parties: (b) EHEAEER MYAERR
The balances with related parties are as follows: ERAME T RS ERIO T ¢
( 4

Year ended 31 December

BET-RA=t—-HLEE

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR® TR ARETT

Prepayment A FIE

- Fudi Packaging — R AR 91,176 50,584

- Life Water Marketing — KW KEH 451 —
91,627 50,584

Trade receivables EUE F3R

- Life Water Marketing — K2 KEH 1,929 —

Other financial assets at amortised cost LB AtENHM S RMEE

Amounts due from associates: JE Ui i R B FOE

- Fudi Packaging — R AR — 2,502

— Highland Natural Water 1N AN 13,551 —

Dividend receivables from an associate: JEUE: & N AIALS.

— Highland Natural Water (Note 25) —BRERANK(HIFE25) 34,805 48,452
356 50954

Trade payable BB 5

— Fudi Packaging —fEek — 21,272

- Life Water Marketing — K2 KE 2,504 —

Other payable H At fE 1 318

- Life Water Marketing — K KE 14,500 —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z_—F+-A=1t-HLFE

45. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 45,

() Key management compensation
The compensation paid/payable to key management is shown

BEARZ (&)

(0 EREBARHM
BER/ENEEEE A B SR

below: 25T :
(3
Year ended 31 December
BE+-—A=t—-HLEE
2022 2021
—E-F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFIT
Salaries and other short-term HehEMRHESREN
employee benefits 8,633 6,975
46. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 46. WMEMBEIE

The Company’s rights issue of up to 1,019,797,000 rights shares (the
“Rights Share(s)"”) at the subscription price of HKD0.385 per Rights
Share on the basis of one (1) Rights Share for every three (3) existing
Shares held by the qualifying shareholders (the “Rights Issue”) was
completed on 30 January 2023, and an aggregate of 1,019,797,000
new shares had been allotted and issued by the Company. As at 30
March 2023, the Company's number of issued ordinary shares was
4,079,188,000.

47. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47.

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board
and authorised for issue on 30 March 2023.
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Glossary

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following

expressions shall have the following meanings:

“Allowance for "ECL

financial assets”

“Audit Committee”

"Board”

“Central Pension Scheme”

"CG Code”

“CGUs”

“China” or "PRC"

“Clp”

"CODM"

“Company Secretary’

“Company”

" on

4

Allowance for expected credit loss on
financial assets;

the audit committee of the Company;

the board of Directors;

a central pension scheme operated by the
local municipal governments;

the Corporate Governance Code set out in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules;

the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-
generating units);

the People’s Republic of China which,
for the purpose of this annual report,
excludes Hong Kong, the Macau Special
Administrative Region of the People’s
Republic of China and Taiwan;

Construction-in-progress;

the chief operating decision maker;

the company secretary of the Company;

Tibet Water Resources Ltd. (FEI/KERE
fRA7]), a company incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands on 8 November 2010 as an
exempted company and the issued Shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange;
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DEFINITIONS
AR

“Conceptual Framework”

“Convertible Bonds”

“Defined Contributions

Scheme”

“Director(s)”

“Financial assets at “FVPL

“Financial assets at “FVTOCI"”

“Fudi Packaging”

“Great Wall 5100

“Green Tiandi Marketing”

“Group”

“GT Express”

“Highland Natural Water”

292
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TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting issued by International
Accounting Standards Board in March
2018;

5% convertible bonds with principal

amount of HK$379,620,000 (equivalent to
RMB317,702,000);

the MPF Scheme and the Central Pension
Scheme;

the director(s) of the Company;

Financial assets at fair value through profit

or loss;

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income;

Tibet Fudi Natural Beverage Packaging Ltd.;

Great Wall 5100 Technology Co., Ltd.;

Green Tiandi Food Marketing (Shenzhen)

Co., Ltd.;

the Company and its subsidiaries;

GT Express (Beijing) Information Technology

Co., Ltd.;

Tibet Highland Natural Water Limited;
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"HKD"

“HKICPA"

“HKSAs”

"HLB"

“Hong Kong Stock Exchange”

or “Stock Exchange”

“Hong Kong” or “HKSAR"

“IASB”

"IASs"

“IFRSs”

“Latest Practicable Date”

“Listing Rules”

"LPR"

“Mingzhu 5100"

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of
Hong Kong;

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants;

Hong Kong Standards on Auditing;

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants;

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited;

the Hong Kong Special Administrative

Region of the People’s Republic of China;

International Accounting Standards Boards;

International Accounting Standards;

International Financial Reporting Standards;
24 April 2023, being the latest practicable
date prior to the printing of this circular

for ascertaining certain information in this
Annual Report;

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities

on the Stock Exchange;

Loan Prime Rate;

Guangzhou Mingzhu 5100 Drinking Water
Co., Ltd;
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DEFINITIONS

“MPF Scheme”

“Nomination Committee”

"PP&E"

"PRC subsidiaries”

“Remuneration Committee”

“Reporting Period”

"Risk Management

Committee”

“RMB”

"SEQ”

“Shannan Yalaxiangbu”

“Share Award Trust”

“Share(s)”

“Shareholder(s)"”

"Tibet Life Water
Marketing”

294
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TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

Mandatory Provident Fund retirement
benefit scheme;

the nomination committee of the Company;

Property, plant and equipment;

the Group's subsidiaries located in PRC;

the remuneration committee of the

Company;

the year ended 31 December 2022;

the risk management committee of the

Company;

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC;

the Securities and Futures Ordinance,

Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong;

Tibet Shannan Yalaxiangbu Industrial Ltd.;

share award scheme trust;

ordinary share(s) of HKDO0.01 each in the

capital of the Company;

holder(s) of Share(s);

Tibet Life Water Marketing Co., Ltd.;
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"Trustee”

"UsD”

“Water Cards Sales
Arrangement”

"o

"y

Bank of Communications Trustee Ltd.;
United Stated dollars, the lawful currency
of United Stated;

arrangement under which sales of water
products to certain distributors or end
customers are made in form of water cards

per cent; and

for identification purpose only.

References to time and dates in this Annual Report are to Hong Kong time

and dates.

* The English names of the PRC entities, PRC laws or regulations, and the PRC

governmental authorities referred to in this annual report are translations

from their Chinese names and are for identification purposes. If there is any

inconsistency, the Chinese names shall prevail.
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"Protect Shanghai” Specialized Activity of Anti-pandemic and Relief
[F#ELE REEREETH

During the pandemic, 5100 joined hands with the Shanghai Beauty Health Industry Association to join
the “Protect Shanghai” specialized activity of anti-pandemic and relief to provide much-needed supplies
to the frontline staff of the Fudan University Paediatric Hospital and delivered Tibet 5100 glacier mineral
water to the frontline staff working on the anti-pandemic.

EREHRE  S100BF LEMXBERFEXHEMA [TELE] ARERERTY  AESASHER
RBR—ENETEASRESENE - §ABS1000K) B RK KX TEME - SORE—HRIE
AB e

5100 joined hands with the Shanghai Military
Support Charity Foundation to launch military
support activities
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